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Foundation Housing’s Newcastle Street development, Northbridge 
Image courtesy of Foundation Housing and CODA Studios (project’s architect)2
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Overview
This section provides an overview of our role,  
highlights for the year, responsibilities,  
and organisational structure.

 The Lime Street Project, East Perth4
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The Housing Authority is focused on increasing  
the range and diversity of affordable housing 
options for people on low to moderate incomes – 
from social housing and private rental to affordable 
home ownership. This focus is supported by the 
Housing Act 1980 and the State Government’s 
Affordable Housing Strategy 2010 – 2020:  
Opening Doors to Affordable Housing  
(Affordable Housing Strategy).

We provide public housing for those most in need; 
land and affordable housing opportunities; low 
deposit home loans through Keystart; assistance to 
access the private rental market; and quality homes 
in regional areas for government employees and 
other key workers so that they can deliver necessary 
services to their communities. 

We play a pivotal role in connecting stakeholders 
and partners from the private and not-for-profit 
sectors; local government authorities and other 
State Government agencies. The aim is to work 
together and leverage each other’s strengths  
to make a difference for individuals, families  
and communities struggling with affordable 
housing challenges. 

Introducing ourselves

Employment Related Accommodation, Derby
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Employment Related Accommodation, Halls Creek

Our vision
Opening Doors.

Our mission
Working in partnership to build 
economic and social prosperity by 
enabling Western Australians to  
have a place to call home.

Our role
The Authority seeks to support 
the State’s economic and regional 
development and builds better 
communities through enabling 
Western Australians to have a  
place to call home.

Our values
Accountability 
We take responsibility for our actions 
and outcomes.

Continuous improvement  
We proactively incorporate innovation 
and best practice to change.

Teamwork 
We work together in a respectful, 
supportive and enjoyable 
environment.

Customer satisfaction  
We strive to meet the needs  
of customers based on respect  
and fairness.

Open communication  
We share knowledge honestly,  
clearly and constructively.

Respect 
We positively acknowledge  
everyone’s contributions.
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In support of the State Government’s Affordable Housing Strategy, the Authority delivers 
a range of services that create affordable housing options.

Key Activity Target Group

Assisted home purchase (through Keystart Home 
Loans) – including low deposit and shared equity loans 

Low to moderate income earners (mostly first 
homebuyers) who cannot meet the high entry costs 
for home ownership

Land development program via joint ventures and  
in-house developments

Development of lots for the Government’s social 
and affordable  housing programs and for sale to the 
general public

Remote Aboriginal housing and essential services  
(e.g. power and water supplies)

Residents of remote Aboriginal communities

Private rental programs such as bond assistance  
loans and housing via the National Rental  
Affordability Scheme (NRAS)

Low to moderate income earners living in the  
private rental market

Regional key worker housing via Government  
Regional Officers’ Housing (GROH) and new  
key worker initiatives

Regional government employees and key workers in 
targeted high cost locations

Social rental housing provided directly by the 
Authority (public housing) or via not-for-profit 
organisations (community housing)

Very low income earners and people with complex 
needs who are unable to secure housing in the  
private rental market

What we do

Table 1: Key activities of the Authority and the target group.
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Chief Executive Officer, Grahame Searle

I am pleased to present our Annual Report to the Parliament  
of Western Australia. The report highlights our challenges  
and achievements.

Affordable housing is essential to the State’s economic and social 
prosperity. It assists Western Australians to maintain employment 
and education, be healthy and participate in their community.  
At a State level, it supports the efficiency of our labour markets, 
while the land and housing sectors are important engines of 
economic activity. 

In recent years, renting or buying a home has become out of reach 
for many families and singles. The shortage of affordable housing 
disproportionately affects certain regions and the most vulnerable 
in our community. Western Australians on a minimum wage could 
pay up to 75 per cent of their income to rent an average home. 
Those on income support payments have limited options outside 
social housing. The causes of housing unaffordability are many 
and varied and include the State’s record population growth, the 
cost of labour, the availability of land and capital, the regulatory 
environment and the adequacy of the income support system. 

Chief Executive  
Officer’s overview
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Since the launch of the State Government’s Affordable Housing 
Strategy in 2010, we have changed our approach, widening our 
primary focus from public housing to affordable housing, and 
transforming ourselves to meet future challenges. We have the 
unique ability to leverage our commercial operations to provide 
social housing outcomes for the most vulnerable. Through 
partnerships and innovation, we have delivered affordable home 
ownership opportunities and a social housing safety net for 
thousands of Western Australians. We cannot address housing 
affordability on our own and will continue to encourage and 
work with the private sector, other government agencies and the 
community sector to improve the supply of land and housing, 
affordable home ownership opportunities and social housing.

I am proud of our many achievements during this year. We have 
provided 16,000 affordable housing opportunities for Western 
Australians since the Affordable Housing Strategy commenced. 
We developed with our joint venture partners more than 2,000 
residential lots. Thirty-two per cent were in the lower quartile 
price range and 83 per cent were at or below the median land 
price. Our subsidiary, Keystart Home Loans, assisted more than 
3,900 Western Australian to purchase a home with new loans 
valuing $1,428 million. All of this was achieved while continuing 
to provide more than 40,000 social housing places to those who 
are unable to secure a home in the private housing market.

The Authority continues to  transform the way it does business, 
including working with the private sector to deliver affordable 
housing. One example is our partnering with Diploma 
Properties to develop the inner-city complex, One on Aberdeen, 
without relying on Government capital funding. This unique 
development offers apartments specifically for households on 
low to moderate incomes. This is an outstanding example of the 

Authority partnering to provide economic and social prosperity 
for Western Australians.

We also maintained our focus on regional housing. The Authority 
continued to deliver its commitments under the Royalties for 
Regions – Housing for Workers initiative with the completion of 
service worker accommodation in Port Hedland and the Osprey 
key worker village. We also managed more than 5,000 houses 
for government workers in the regions to support the delivery of 
essential services including education, health and justice.

One on Aberdeen, Northbridge
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The Authority made available safe and secure affordable 
accommodation facilities across the North West for more than 
55 Aboriginal trainees and apprentices seeking to establish 
themselves in employment, apprenticeships or training. The 
facilities include support services to assist residents to relocate 
from remote communities, develop independent living skills, 
and eventually progress into sustainable housing alternatives.

In November 2013, we were honoured to accept the State’s 
top public sector management prize for Improving Aboriginal 
Outcomes, awarded for our Transitional Housing Program in 
the East Kimberley. This program, delivered in conjunction with 
the Wunan Foundation and Community Housing Limited, has 
been a success in providing stable, affordable housing to assist 
Aboriginal people to take a significant step towards social and 
financial independence and home ownership.

I am proud to again report that Western Australia has led the 
nation in achieving targets set under the National Partnership 
Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing, exceeding 
targets for the fifth consecutive year. This is a momentous 
achievement that has seen 497 new homes built and 1,299 
refurbished, delivering improved housing in remote Aboriginal 
communities.  
It takes a concerted team effort to achieve this fantastic 
outcome and I commend everyone who has been involved. 
Our success over the past five years is testament to our 
ongoing commitment to closing the gap and reducing 
Indigenous disadvantage.

During the year, the Authority constructed more than 600 
homes for those most in need including more than 100 homes 
for people with a disability, severe and persistent mental 
illness and complex care needs. These homes are delivered in 
partnership with key State Government agencies and the not 
for profit sector. 

The Authority manages more than 36,000 public housing 
properties across the State providing appropriate, low-cost 
accommodation for the neediest. From time to time we are 
criticised for being either too harsh or too soft in our dealings 
with our tenants. We have three basic expectations: pay the 
rent, look after your home and get along with your neighbours. 
A small percentage of tenancies do not always follow these 
rules and in those instances we have appropriate processes 
in place to manage issues, including the Disruptive Behaviour 
Management Strategy.

Social housing development, Rocky Bay
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The Authority continued to deliver housing projects that go 
beyond just providing a house to the most in need in our 
community – Foyer Oxford and The Beacon are wonderful 
examples of our ability to partner with the not for profit sector 
and other agencies to increase the supply of social housing. Both 
facilities opened their doors in Perth this year supporting 200 
homeless men and youth to build a better life.

While working to transform the housing market, the Authority is 
transforming itself. Here our focus has been on technology and 
staff. We are reforming our core business systems and creating  
service improvement and efficiencies from technology, such as 
our mobile device application for rental property inspections.  
We actively support career advancement for our staff and 
provide opportunities to learn new skills and develop 
professionally.  Our people are our future and that is why we 
continue to invest in leadership and graduate programs and 
celebrate workplace diversity. Indeed, none of our achievements 
this year would be possible without our dedicated and 
professional workforce. 

I look forward to continuing to lead the Authority as it continues 
to drive change and innovation, in the housing sector and  
within itself, to provide more Western Australians with a place  
to call home.

Grahame Searle
Chief Executive Officer

The Beacon, Northbridge, exterior

The Beacon, Northbridge, interior
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Opening doors to  
affordable housing 

The Authority’s strategic direction is set 
by the Housing Act 1980 and through  
the State Government’s Affordable 
Housing Strategy.
The strategy is the first of its kind in Australia and has a whole-
of-government approach to increasing the supply of affordable 
housing, with a minimum target of 20,000 additional affordable 
opportunities by 2020.  
 

It has particular focus on providing a range of housing 
opportunities along the housing continuum that will address the 
decline in affordable housing entry points, boost the supply and 
diversity of housing options, and strengthen the social housing 
system. In doing so it reshapes the Government’s role in housing 
away from an over concentration on public rental housing as the 
main solution, to working more widely with partners and markets 
to increase the range of housing options available.

The continuum (Figure 1) demonstrates the interconnected 
options across the housing system ranging from social housing 
at one end to full home ownership at the other.

Since 1 January 2010, the Authority has created 16,000 affordable 
housing opportunities across the affordable housing continuum, 
ranging from social housing to discounted private rentals and 
shared equity home loans.

Figure 1: Affordable Housing Continuum
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Affordable housing outcomes

16,000
Affordable housing opportunities

This graphic demonstrates highlights for the State Government’s Affordable Housing Strategy 2010-2020: Opening Doors to Affordable Housing for the period 1 January 2010 to 30 June 2014.

9,000+

lots produced

4,475
New social houses

8,600+
Households who could not otherwise  

access finance helped to purchase a home  
through Keystart Home Loans

494
constructed

1,299
refurbished 

houses in remote  
Aboriginal communities

2,700+
homeless Western Australians  

provided safe and secure 
accommodation

43,500+

people assisted by the Authority 
through bond assistance loans
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Susan, Shared Home Ownership Scheme home owner, Busselton

Through partnerships with the private and community sectors, the Authority has delivered on the  
strategy primarily through innovations in procurement, design, construction and finance to increase the 
supply of affordable and social housing for people on low to moderate incomes. Achievements for the 
State Government’s Affordable Housing Strategy since its inception in 2010 includes:

 4,475 new social houses for people with  
very low incomes and no other viable  
housing choices. 

 494 houses constructed and 1,299 refurbished 
in remote Indigenous communities, exceeding 
targets under the National Partnership 
Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing 
(NPARIH) with the Commonwealth Government. 

 1,233 houses provided under the National 
Partnership Agreement on Homelessness 
(NPAH) and ‘A Place to Call Home’ program 
accommodating over 2,778 people. 

 151 houses delivered with a further 361 to  
be provided by the community housing  
growth providers.

 1,778 public houses freed up and reallocated to 
applicants with higher needs. 

 2,382 dwellings completed and a further  
2,990 to be delivered under the NRAS by  
30 June 2016.

 8,629 households who could not otherwise 
access finance, helped to purchase a home 
through Keystart Home Loans. 

 Assisted 801 low to moderate income 
households to purchase a home with  
Keystart’s SharedStart home loan. 

 43,567 people assisted by the Authority through 
bond assistance loans. 

 474 dwellings provided to Government regional 
officers and employees of non government 
organisations.

 9,052 lots produced by the Authority and its 
joint venture partners for sale to market as well 
as for government housing programs, with an 
average of more than 90 per cent of residential 
lots being sold below the Real Estate Institute of 
Western Australia median price.

Evelyn, first home owner under the East Kimberley 
Transitional Housing Program, Kununurra 

Affordable Housing Strategy  
progress highlights 
1 January 2010 to 30 June 2014
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About the Housing Authority

Responsible Minister
The Housing Authority and the legislation administered are under the control of the Hon Bill Marmion 
MLA, Minister for Housing, who was appointed in March 2013.

Enabling legislation
The Housing Authority is a statutory authority established under the Housing Act 1980 to provide and 
improve housing and accommodation in Western Australia. The Authority also provides housing for 
State Government employees through administration of the Government Employees Housing Act 1964.

Legislation administered
The Housing Authority assists the Minister for Housing to administer the following Acts:

 Country Housing Act 1998

 Government Employees’ Housing Act 1964

 Housing Act 1980.

Changes to legislation administered
There was no change to legislation administered by the Authority.

Significant changes to legislation affecting the Authority
Residential Tenancies Act 1987 
Amendments to the Residential Tenancies Act 1987 relating to prescribed forms  
commenced on 1 July 2013.

Garth, new home owner through the Authority’s 
Opening Doors Affordable Sales Program
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Figure 2: Housing Authority organisational structure as at 30 June 2014.

Minister for Housing 
Hon Bill Marmion MLA

Chief Executive Officer 
Grahame Searle

Office of the Director General

General Manager 
Steve Parry

Aboriginal Housing  
and Client Services North
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Maintenance
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Asset Management  
and Planning
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Finance

Business Development
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Housing Programs

Land and Housing 
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Marketing

Business Planning and 
Improvement

Organisational 
Transformation

Inter-Governmental 
Outcomes

Social and Affordable Housing 
Systems
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Strategic Coordination

General Manager 
Duncan Mackay

Strategy and Policy

General Manager 
Tania Loosley-Smith

General Manager 
Paul Whyte

Commercial and  
Business Operations

Organisational structure
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Executive profiles 

Grahame has a Bachelor of Business and extensive 
experience in service delivery, leadership and 
organisational change.

As Chief Executive Officer, Grahame is focused 
on forging new and innovative ways to meet 
the increasing demand for housing, including 
establishing new partnerships with the private 
sector and community housing organisations  
across the State.

Grahame has a strong background in information 
technology and, in particular, integrating  
computer systems for customer service delivery.  
He has extensive experience in managing 
information technology projects in Victoria and 
Western Australia.

In the decade from 1998 to 2008, he drove the 
transformation of the former Department of Land 
Administration from its origins as a traditional public 
service agency to Landgate, a statutory authority.

Grahame is an honorary fellow of the Spatial 
Sciences Institute of Australia and past president of 
the Institute of Public Administration (WA Division). 
He is a board member of the Western Australian 
Treasury Corporation and the Australian Housing 
and Urban Research Institute and is a member of 
the Western Australian Planning Commission.

In June 2012, the Institute of Public Administration 
Australia (WA Division) recognised Grahame’s 
accomplishments by honouring him with the 
Patrons Award for his outstanding contribution over 
a substantial number of years towards excellence in 
public sector administration and management.
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Tania joined the Authority in August 2008 and was 
appointed the General Manager of the Strategy and 
Policy Division in December 2009. 

This division is responsible for providing leadership 
in the implementation of the Affordable Housing 
Strategy and related initiatives. This involves creating 
new policy options, pathways and market-based 
solutions to help address the demand for social 
and affordable housing; supporting the sustainable 
development of the social housing sector and 
shaping and negotiating national reform priorities 
and funding arrangements. 

Tania is a board member of Ellenbrook 
Management Pty Ltd.

Tania has a Bachelor of Social Science and has an 
Australian and New Zealand School of Government 
Executive Masters in Public Administration.

She joined the Public Service in 1994 and has 
worked in the Disability Services Commission and 
Landgate. Before joining the public sector Tania 
worked in the non government sector and with 
Westpac Banking Corporation.

Steve commenced in the role of General Manager 
Service Delivery in 2009, and is responsible for the 
delivery and management of social housing across 
Western Australia, as well as the delivery of new 
homes, refurbished homes and related services and 
infrastructure in remote Aboriginal communities.

Over this period Steve has led the transformation 
of the division to a public housing body that more 
effectively meets the expectations of its clients, 
the wider community and government and is 
considered a leader in the Australian social  
housing field.  

Steve has focused on driving innovation and 
the integration of technology and best practice 
governance to achieve better outcomes. 

This includes the successful transition of the 
Authority’s property inspection regime across to a 
mobile platform and the rebuilding of the agency’s 
maintenance contracting environment.

Steve has also overseen Western Australia’s award 
winning delivery of the NPARIH since its inception. 
Over this period Western Australia has been the 
only State in Australia to successfully meet its 
construction and refurbishment targets each year.
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Duncan Mackay
GENERAL MANAGER, ORGANISATIONAL 
TRANSFORMATION

Paul is the General Manager of the Commercial 
and Business Operations Division. He has broad 
experience in the private and public sectors. Before 
joining the Housing Authority in September 2009, 
he was acting Chief Executive Officer at Landgate 
and held the permanent position of Executive 
Director, Business Development. 

Paul was with Landgate (formerly the Department 
of Land Information and before that the 
Department of Land Administration) from 2001. 
Prior to this, he was a member of the Corporate 
Executive at the Valuer General’s Office.

Paul has held the position of policy adviser to the 
Western Australian Treasury Corporation and has 
worked in the private sector as a management 
consultant and managing director of a number of 
successful established and start-up businesses.

Paul holds a Bachelor of Commerce and Master of 
Business Administration, and is a Certified Practising 
Accountant. He is a board member of Keystart and 
Ocean Springs Pty Ltd (Butler Joint Venture).

Duncan is the General Manager of the 
Organisational Transformation Division and has 
broad experience in organisational change and 
strategy, communications and market regulation. 
Before joining the Authority in April 2011, he was 
Director of Consumer Protection Policy at the 
Department of Commerce for two years. He was 
responsible for policy and legislative reform in many 
areas of consumer affairs, including aspects of the 
land and housing markets.

Between 2001 and 2008, Duncan played a major 
role in helping transform the State Government 
agency, now Landgate, which provides services for 
the titling, mapping and valuation of land. Duncan’s 
role involved developing and implementing 
strategic change, corporate planning, organisational 
development, governance reform and change 
management for employees and stakeholders. 
Before joining the Western Australian public service, 
Duncan worked as a journalist, historian and author. 
Duncan holds postgraduate qualifications in 
political science and journalism.
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Our divisions

The Authority is organised into four divisions that contribute  
to supporting the goals of the State Government through  
the Affordable Housing Strategy and the Authority’s  
strategic direction.

SERVICE DELIVERY

Service Delivery strives to be a leader in the delivery and 
management of housing services and programs for Western 
Australians by:

 coordinating effective, efficient and value for money 
maintenance services;

 undertaking effective continuous improvement in the 
provision of property and tenancy management services; and

 planning, enabling and delivering Aboriginal remote and 
town based housing services.

ORGANISATIONAL TRANSFORMATION

Organisational Transformation implements and supports the 
strategic direction, culture and capabilities required to take the 
Authority into the future. The division initiates and drives  
change through:

 strategic planning, reporting and performance;

 business improvement;

 communications and marketing;

 workforce development; and 

 project and change management capability.

COMMERCIAL AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS

Commercial and Business Operations is responsible for a  
wide range of commercial, corporate and governance  
services including:

 complex projects such as the State and Commonwealth 
Stimulus and larger construction projects;

 built form and civil construction to increase housing stocks, 
land and housing development including the New Living 
Program, which is the largest urban renewal program 
undertaken in Western Australia;

 housing programs, such as housing for government 
employees in regional Western Australia and  
community housing; and

 providing corporate services and governance to the 
organisation, including financial services, information  
and communications technology services, facilities 
management, information management and legal  
and legislative services.

STRATEGY AND POLICY

Strategy and Policy provides advice, coordination and leadership 
for the Affordable Housing Strategy by:

 developing new policy options, pathways and market-based 
solutions to help increase affordable housing options; and

 negotiating reform priorities and funding arrangements.
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Performance Management 
Framework 

Outcome based  
management framework
The Authority enhances the quality of life and wellbeing of 
Western Australians by satisfying the fundamental human 
need for shelter. In the wider context, affordable, available and 
appropriate housing contributes to positive social outcomes in 
health, education and employment.

Specifically, the Authority contributes by providing housing 
through rental, home finance and land development activities for 
eligible Western Australians who may not otherwise be able to 
afford housing. 

The Authority also contributes through Government Regional 
Officers’ Housing, which provides government employees 
with suitable housing in regional areas. This supports the 
Government’s commitment to delivering public services such as 
education, health and policing throughout the State. 

Figure 3 illustrates the Authority’s key outcome, services and key 
performance indicators for the community of Western Australia.

Figure 3: The Authority’s outcomes, services and key performance indicators and relationship to government goals. 

Government Goal

Results-Based  
Service Delivery

Greater focus on 
achieving results in 
key service delivery 

areas for the benefit of 
all Western Australians

Service

Rental Housing

Home Loans

Land

Government Regional 
Officers’ Housing

Efficiency measures

Operating cost per 
rental property

Operating cost per 
current loan account

Operating cost per  
lot developed

Operating cost  
per property

Housing Authority
 Agency Level Outcome

Housing eligible 
Western Australians

Effectiveness 
measures

The extent to which 
the Housing Authority 

is responsive to the 
housing needs of 
eligible Western 

Australians

Waiting times for 
accommodation – 
applicants housed

The extent to which 
the Government 
Regional Officers’ 

Housing is responsive 
to the provision of 
housing to meet 

the needs of eligible 
Western Australian 

Government 
employees
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Grahame Searle
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Changes to Outcome Based Management Framework

The Authority’s Outcome Based Management Framework did not change during 2013-14.

Resource Agreement summary

The following performance information (financial and non financial performance) is the 
subject of a Resource Agreement signed by the Minister, the Housing Authority and Treasurer 
under Part 3, Division 5, of the Financial Management Act 2006.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE

Table 2: Summary of financial performance for 2013-14

Financial Targets Target  
$’000 (1)

Actual  
$’000 (2)

Variation  
$’000 Explanation

Total cost of services $1,690,107 $1,437,522 ($252,585)

Variance relates to Keystart’s interest expense being lower as Keystart’s budgeted loan portfolio 
balance not reached due to higher discharges than expected and lower approvals for the 
SharedStart program. Interest rates to borrowers were also lower than budgeted due to an 
environment of low interest rates.  Also contributing to the reduction in cost of services is the delay 
in the transfer of the assets to the community housing organisations as a result of GST implications 
on specific transfers which will result in the majority of the transfers to occur in 2014-15.   

Net cost of services $228,339 ($3,963)  ($232,302) Reduction in the Net Cost of Services in 2013-14 mostly attributed to reflow of assets transferred to 
the community housing organisations that will be scheduled to transfer in 2014-15.

Total equity $13,454,035 $14,581,851 $1,127,816 Equity is greater than anticipated, mostly due to an increase in the value of property assets.

Net increase (decrease)  
in cash held $1,117 $133,985 $132,868 The cash movement is higher due to payments from committed projects occurring in the next 

financial year.

Notes:
(1) The targets were derived from the 2013-14 Budget Papers (Volume 2, Part 12).
(2) As specified in the Financial Statement section of this report.
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Table 3: Summary of non financial performance (Key Performance Indicators) for 2013-14

Indicator Target (1) Actual (2) Explanation of variance

Outcome and effectiveness indicators

Outcome - Housing eligible Western Australians

Effectiveness indicator 1: 
The extent to which the Housing Authority is responsive to the housing needs of eligible 
Western Australians

0.87 0.80 A lower number of bond assistances compared to Target contributed 
to this result.

Effectiveness indicator 2: 
Waiting times for accommodation – applicants housed (3) 130 weeks 146 weeks

The average waiting time for applicants housed was higher due to 
the Authority allocating housing to a larger percentage of applicants 
who had waited longer. 

Effectiveness indicator 3: 
The extent to which the Government Regional Officers’ Housing is responsive to the provision 
of housing to meet the needs of eligible Western Australian Government Employees

95% 95%

Services and efficiency indicators

Service 1 – Rental Housing

Efficiency indicator 1: 
Operating cost per rental property $15,202 $15,419 The Actual result was consistent with the Target.

Service 2 - Home loans

Efficiency indicator 2: 
Operating cost per current loan account $1,904 $1,972 The Actual result was consistent with the Target.

Service 3 – Land

Efficiency indicator 3: 
Operating cost per lot developed $19,548 $18,552 The Actual result was lower than the Target primarily due to lower 

than expected operating costs incurred during the year.

Service 4 – Government Regional Officers’ Housing 

Efficiency indicator 4: 
Operating cost per property(4) $32,927 $32,703 The Actual result was consistent with the Target.

Notes:
(1) The targets were derived from the 2013-14 Budget Papers (Volume 2, Part 12).
(2) As specified in the audited Key Performance Indicators 2013-14 section of this report.
(3) Calculated as the average wait time in weeks for applicants housed.
(4) The lease function is operated on a cost neutral basis which is fully recouped from the Authority’s client agencies.
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The Housing Authority should be congratulated for the development of the 
Opening Doors Affordable Sales program and related sales equity scheme. 
The agency looked outside the box, took some risks and importantly – they 
engaged with the building industry to help deliver one of the most effective 
affordable housing models ever seen in Western Australia.

Kelvin Ryan, Chief Executive Officer, BGC Residential

Our partnership with the Housing Authority has been critical to Foundation 
Housing’s growth and sustainability as a community housing organisation 
across WA.  Initiatives such as the Pilbara Service Worker Accommodation 
project have enabled us to establish a presence in the Pilbara, deliver 
additional affordable housing for the region and undertake important 
capacity building projects with Aboriginal Corporations. The Authority’s 
support on development projects has also enabled us to deliver some 
extraordinary outcomes like the world class Foyer Oxford in Leederville.  
The partnership is characterised by innovation and trust and a shared interest 
in delivering the State’s Affordable Housing Strategy. Foundation Housing 
is very pleased with the outcomes we have achieved together so far and 
looks forward to future collaboration that will deliver even more social and 
affordable housing outcomes for those in housing need.

Kathleen Gregory, Chief Executive Officer, Foundation Housing Ltd

I’ve been involved in urban affairs for more than 40 years, and in my opinion I 
think the transitional housing program is the first one I have come across that 
really is going to help change the lives of Aboriginal people.  From a Wunan 
perspective, we are thrilled to be in partnership with the Housing Authority.  
I would like to commend the Authority for going outside the norm and doing 
something different.  I think from a government program delivery perspective, 
this is the sort of thing that we have got to do to break the welfare cycle for 
Aboriginal people.

Ian Trust, Chairman and Executive Director, Wunan Foundation

Partnering with the  
Housing Authority

One of the families in the East Kimberley Transitional 
Housing Program, supported by the Wunan Foundation24
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Agency 
Performance
This section reports on our organisational 
performance for the year.

Living Space, Cockburn
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The Authority continues 
to excel in promoting and 
delivering affordable housing 
and has been credited with 
multiple awards and best 
practice achievements across 
the housing industry and 
public sector.

During 2013-14 we received 
the following recognition 
solely or in conjunction with 
our valued partners.

Celebrating  
excellence

2013 Premier’s Awards for Excellence  
in Public Sector Management

Winner Improving Indigenous Outcomes category 

Project East Kimberley Development Package 
 Transitional Housing Program  1

Finalist  Developing the Economy category 

Project Opening Doors Shared Home  
 Ownership Scheme  2

2014 Institute of Public Administration Australia  
(WA) Achievement Awards 

Winner Best Practice in Collaboration Between  
 Government and Non Government  
 Organisations Award (Joint winner with Wunan  
 Foundation and Community Housing Limited)

Project East Kimberley Development Package  3

Winner Leader Working within a Division/Team/ 
 Organisation Award

Leader Ruth Charles, Housing Authority   4

1

2 4

3
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2014 Master Builders Bankwest Building  
Excellence Awards (Kimberley – Pilbara)

Winner Transportable Homes open category 
 Most Liveable Home category

Project Lot 71 Kangaroo Crescent, South Hedland  7

Partner Fleetwood Pty Ltd

Department of Fire and Emergency Services  
Volunteer Employer Recognition Program

Winner Silver Category Award for ‘Outstanding Support  
 of Emergency Services Volunteers’  8

Australian Housing Institute 2013 Australasian  
Professional Excellence in Housing Awards

WA State Winner  Leading Housing Project Category Award  
   for East Kimberley Transitional Housing Program  9

 

2013 Urban Development Institute of Australia 
(WA) Awards for Excellence

Winner Affordable Development category

Project Living Space 

Partner Probuild

Winner President’s Award  5

Project The Lime Street Project   6

Partner St Bartholomew’s House and Formworks  
 Architecture

Winner Sustainable Urban Development category

Project The Lime Street Project   6

Partner St Bartholomew’s House and Formworks  
 Architecture

Winner Masterplanned Development category

Project Brighton Estate, Butler

Partner Satterley Property Group

2013 WA Architecture Awards 

Winner Harold Krantz Award for  
 Residential Architecture –  
 Multiple Housing category

Project The Lime Street Project   6

Architect Formworks Architecture

2013 Australasian Professional Excellence  
in Housing Awards (WA)

Winner Leading Housing Project Award

Project Transitional Housing Program

Winner Leading Innovation Award

Project Maintenance Dashboard Project

5

5

6

8

97
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Driving delivery of 
the State’s Affordable 
Housing Strategy 
The State Government’s Affordable Housing Strategy is part of a 
whole-of-government approach to address the State’s economic 
and population growth challenges. The Strategy supports and 
facilitates the delivery of the State Government’s State Planning 
Strategy 2050 and Directions 2031 and beyond: metropolitan planning 
beyond the horizon framework by promoting integrated, sustainable 
and higher density development which also delivers affordable 
housing outcomes. 

Since 2010, in collaboration with public, private and not-for-profit 
sector partners a total of 16,000 affordable housing opportunities 
have been delivered under the Strategy against a target of 20,000 
by 2020. 

Other key achievements include:

 Construction commenced on Perth’s first modular apartment 
building consisting of six stories and 77 new homes. 

 Established a five year development plan with the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority to deliver a minimum 
of 1,300 new affordable dwellings by 2020 with a number of 
projects underway.

 The release of the Planning Provisions for Affordable Housing 
discussion paper developed by the Department of Planning’s 
Office of Land and Housing Supply with input from the 
Authority. The paper outlines a range of options for the 
planning system to support the development of affordable 
housing in Western Australia.

 Working with Government development agencies  
on the staged introduction of a 15 per cent affordable 
housing target.

The Authority will continue to partner with private and public 
sector stakeholders to create housing solutions that break new 
ground and achieve commercial returns and government policy 
outcomes. There will be an increased focus on the percentage 
of infill development and the construction of medium to high 
density apartments, especially around key transport corridors 
and activity centre hubs consistent with the infill target set under 
Directions 2031 and beyond. 

Creating viable alternatives to social housing for low income 
households continues to be fundamental to the strategy. In 
doing so, it reshapes the Government’s role away from just 
providing public housing as the main solution, to working more 
widely across government and the housing industry to increase 
the range of affordable housing options across the housing 
continuum.
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Land and  
Housing Supply 
With the vision of opening doors, the Authority is leading a vital 
change in the supply of affordable housing in Western Australia 
to deliver long term benefits to the State. The Authority is striving 
to do things differently through partnerships and diversifying 
housing options.

The Authority actively seeks new partnership opportunities, 
with State and Local Government agencies, land and housing 
developers, builders, institutional investors, resource companies, 
Aboriginal groups and other stakeholders focused on delivering 
affordable housing. These relationships assist the Authority in 
building on its current products, forming new relationships and 
opening up markets to create housing opportunities for Western 
Australians.

The Authority’s activities also have the benefit of maintaining 
a level of activity for the residential construction industry and 
limiting the movement of skills to other sectors.

The Authority unlocks new opportunities through:

 innovative and sustainable housing types and  
construction techniques;

 new ways of funding and delivering housing projects; and

 forming partnerships with stakeholders seeking to deliver 
affordable housing outcomes.

New affordable housing, Cockburn Central
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Land Supply 
The Authority supports land affordability and generates revenue 
for its operations through its development and sales. This helps 
fund social housing programs while retaining some of the lots it 
develops for social and community housing programs.  

The Authority’s land activities include:

 Land development - land development programs conducted 
either by the Authority or in partnership with the private sector 
in both metropolitan and regional areas.

 Urban renewal – the redevelopment of existing, high public 
housing presence locations to provide more sustainable 
suburbs; and 

 Urban redevelopment – infill development programs or 
under-developed sites in existing suburbs.

The Authority continues to improve overall land supply and 
provide land in the lower quarter of the market. In 2013-14, 32 per 
cent of lots sold were in the lower quartile (Table 4) and 83 per 
cent at or below the median price.

During 2013-14, land sales increased by approximately 18 per cent 
from 1,978 to 2,327 lots while overall the Authority developed 2,366 
lots (Tables 4 to 6).

2012-13 2013-14

Lots(1) 663 598

Percentage 44% 32%

Table 4: Comparison of performance of lot sales in the lower quartile between 2012-13 and 2013-14

2012-13 2013-14

Joint ventures 1,776 2,002

Urban renewal 29 21

Urban development 
and redevelopment 173 304

TOTAL 1,978 2,327

Table 5: Land sales (Lots sold)

2012-13 2013-14

Joint ventures 1,503 1,852

Urban renewal 111 128

Urban development 
and redevelopment (1) 163 386

TOTAL 1,777 2,366

Table 6: Yield in lots

Note: (1) The Urban Redevelopment program reports yields on the number of dwelling unit equivalents.

Note: (1) Only individual residential sales are taken into account.
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Land development
Partnering with the private sector

The Authority has a long and successful history collaborating with 
industry partners through its joint venture land developments,  
to deliver residential land to the market. There were a number  
of highlights in 2013-14 demonstrating the effectiveness of  
these partnerships.

OYSTER HARBOUR, ALBANY 

Oyster Harbour is a joint venture project between the Authority 
and Lowe Pty Ltd and is managed by Heath Development. 
The development is located six kilometres north east of Albany 
overlooking Oyster Harbour and the King River, with a wide range 
of lots and housing options.

During the year, civil works construction commenced for stage 4, 
comprising 26 lots. The joint venture successfully negotiated with  
five builders to commit to seven new homes in Stage 2A, 
establishing Albany’s first major new home display centre. 

Aerial view of Oyster Harbour, Albany
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DALYELLUP BEACH, CAPEL

Dalyellup Beach is a joint venture between the Authority and 
Home Satterley (Satterley Property Group) located seven 
minutes south of Bunbury and 10 minutes from Capel. Dalyellup 
Beach offers diversity in home sites available from homestead, 
traditional, and cottage lots to smaller lots and ocean-side lots. 

During the year, construction of three demonstration homes on 
7.5 metre frontages commenced. House and land packages were 
released to the market and subdivisional approval was gained 
for 119 lots, including the introduction of the first 32 lot ‘squat 
lot’ precinct. Construction commenced on the shopping centre, 
scheduled to open in 2015.  

SEACREST, GERALDTON 

Seacrest is a joint venture between the Authority and Springdale 
Holdings, and managed by Humfrey Land Developments located 
in the Mid West town of Geraldton. 

During the year, the Wandina Primary School was opened and 
Derna Park was completed providing an oval, walking track, 
barbeque and playground facilities. Stage 2 of the Retirement 
Village was also commenced. Design works for constructing the 
final stage have commenced.

SIENNA WOOD, HILBERT/HAYNES

Sienna Wood is a joint venture between the Authority and 
Stockland. It is located in the south east suburbs of Hilbert and 
Haynes, nestled at the foot of the Darling Hills.

The development offers a range of house and land packages for a 
wide variety of different lifestyle and budget needs.

The Sienna Wood joint venture is expected to yield 3,357 lots with 
the potential for new land to be bought into the joint venture in 
the future, increasing the overall lot yield. The estate will provide a 
future town centre, sporting ovals and other community facilities.  
The Sienna Wood joint venture has sold 364 lots. 

Sienna Wood, Neerigen Brook
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BRIGHTON, BUTLER/JINDALEE

Brighton is a joint venture between the Authority and Butler  
Land Company and is managed by Satterley Property Group, 
located on the coast 40 kilometres from the Perth Central 
Business District (CBD). 

Brighton continues to provide a variety of housing lots and 
district centre lots in the suburbs of Butler (251 lots) and  
Jindalee (270 lots). 

Eden Beach, a new beachside estate at Jindalee, was successfully 
launched with a 25-home display village under construction.

The Butler Train Station providing direct service to the Perth  
CBD has been completed and trains are expected to  
commence service in late 2014.

ELLENBROOK 

Ellenbrook is a joint venture between the Authority and Morella, 
and is managed by LWP Property Group. Located in the City of 
Swan and 21 kilometres north east of the Perth CBD, Ellenbrook 
is planned as a town of self-supporting villages, each offering its 
own individual style.

Phase 3 of the Ellenbrook town centre commenced in 2012 and is 
well progressed. The parkway extension and home improvement 
precinct have been completed with Masters Home Improvement 
and Bunnings now operational. The St John Ambulance site has 
been constructed. These developments reflect the maturity of 
the suburb and the needs of the local community for a wider 
range of services. During the year, 469 lots were developed and 
sales of 600 lots achieved.

BANKSIA GROVE

Banksia Grove is a joint venture between the Authority and 
Banksia Grove Nominees Pty Ltd, located 30 kilometres north of 
the Perth CBD and approximately 5 kilometres from Wanneroo. 
It comprises 338 hectares and when complete will be home 
to some 12,000 residents housed in 4,000 homes and retail, 
commercial and leisure activities. 

During the year, the 153 lots were delivered, 7.5 metre frontage 
cottage lots, and some 15 x 20 metre lots to maintain diversity of 
product. There were 383 lot sold in 2013-14.

Eden Beach, Jindalee Home frontage, Ellenbrook
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BANKSIA GROVE

Banksia Grove is a joint venture between the Authority and 
Banksia Grove Nominees Pty Ltd, located 30 kilometres north of 
the Perth CBD and approximately five kilometres from Wanneroo. 
It comprises 338 hectares and when complete will be home 
to some 12,000 residents housed in 4,000 homes and retail, 
commercial and leisure activities. 

During the year 153 lots were delivered including 7.5 metre 
frontage cottage lots, and some 15 x 20 metre lots to maintain 
diversity of product. There were 383 lots sold in 2013-14.

THE VILLAGE AT WELLARD 

The Village at Wellard is a joint venture between the Authority 
and Peet Limited, located 35 kilometres south of Perth. The 
Village at Wellard is the first dedicated transit orientated 
development in Perth’s southern corridor and features a 
pedestrian friendly village centred around the Wellard train 
station on the Perth to Mandurah railway line. 

The Village Retail Centre is scheduled to open in November 2014. 
During the year, 349 lots were developed and 269 lots were sold. 

HARRISDALE GREEN, HARRISDALE 

Harrisdale is a joint venture between the Authority and Cedar 
Woods, located 19 kilometres south of the Perth CBD, Harrisdale 
Green is an urban village that will ultimately comprise up to 500 
new homes. The development will also include a local retail and 
community centre with landscaped public space and small  
scale offices and showrooms. 

Due to development delays no lots were developed or  
sold during the year.

Leeanne, Shared Home Ownership Scheme home owner, Wellard

34

STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE OVERVIEW APPENDICESAGENCY 

PERFORMANCE

SIGNIFICANT 
ISSUES IMPACTING 
THE AUTHORITY

DISCLOSURES 
AND LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

CONTENTS

http://www.banksiagrove.net.au
http://www.thevillageatwellard.com.au
http://www.harrisdalegreen.com.au


Urban development and infill
Urban renewal - Priority redevelopment areas

The Authority has identified a number of metropolitan and 
regional priority redevelopment areas. These involve pockets of 
high public housing presence that will be redeveloped as ‘New 
Living’ style projects with the aim to rejuvenate the area and 
optimise the use of underutilised assets.

SOUTH HEDLAND NEW LIVING

The South Hedland New Living project has been instrumental 
in revitalising the town and providing improvements to the 
lifestyles and living standards of residents. The project involves 
extensive housing refurbishment, land development, community 
development and infrastructure improvements.

The project has refurbished 347 homes from the Authority’s 
public rental housing stock as part of a total program of 480 
homes to be refurbished. 

The land development program has provided approximately 
775 lots for residential development assisting with easing the 
housing shortage in Hedland. The Authority’s Osprey Estate is 
the largest land development component with the creation of 
200 residential lots completed and titles received from the 366 
lot urban zoned portion of the estate. Smaller infill subdivisions 
known as Catamore (34 lots) and Pedlar (nine lots) were also 
completed. The Catamore subdivision is a partnership between 
the Authority and the Town of Port Hedland, demonstrating 
successful co-operation between state and local government. 

NEW NORTH

The New North project involves the revitalisation of public 
housing in the suburbs of Balga, Girrawheen, Koondoola and 
Westminster. The project expanded to include other suburbs 
such as Mirrabooka, Nollamara, Bassendean, Bayswater, Maylands 
and Midland. 

During the year, 40 homes were refurbished and sold to 
the general public, mostly to first home owners and owner 
occupiers. In addition, 119 properties were also refurbished and 
returned to the Authority’s public housing stock. It is anticipated 
that the project will be completed in 2015-16.

New North urban renewal project, Balga 35
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URBAN DEVELOPMENT

The urban development program develops vacant broad  
hectare land for residential development in both metropolitan 
and regional areas. 

GOLDEN BAY

The Golden Bay land development is located between 
Rockingham and Mandurah. When complete in 2020, the 
development will create more than 1,700 lots, incorporating a 
proportion of affordable product. The Authority has undertaken 
the first five stages of the development (461 lots), with another 
165 lots under construction as at 30 June 2014, reflecting 
demand for lots. There were 382 settlements achieved during 
the year.

KWINANA

The Kwinana project involves the development of the Authority’s 
broad hectare land holdings in Parmelia, Bertram, Orelia and the 
Kwinana Town Centre. The release of the lots has been delayed  
by the environmental approval process. Planning is advanced to 
facilitate the release of this land to the market in the latter part of 
2014-15.

ALBANY

The Clydesdale Park development is located in McKail, 
approximately 5 kilometres from the Albany CBD. Following the 
acquisition of adjacent private land, this development will create 
456 lots. During the year, 207 lots were developed with  
42 settlements. 

 

JINDOWIE

The Jindowie land development located in Yanchep was 
acquired by the Authority from Australand in June 2013. 
The acquisition included 69 lots that were awaiting titles, 12 
constructed townhouses and 75 hectare of broad hectare land. 
The development involves the creation of more than 1,000 lots 
and will incorporate a proportion for affordable housing. The 
development is anticipated to be complete by 2021. 

The Authority has progressed three stages with 131 lots 
developed. Twenty-nine lots have been allocated to the 
Authority’s affordable built form initiative with the  
subsequent completed home packages sold as either  
full or shared equity sales.

Interior, Golden Bay
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Strategic urban infill projects

HAINSWORTH PRIMARY SCHOOL, GIRRAWHEEN

The Authority purchased the Hainsworth Primary School site 
in Girrawheen from the Department of Education. Situated in 
proximity to key services and amenities, the Authority intends to 
deliver a combination of detached and semi-detached houses, 
land and multi-unit apartments.

The Hainsworth Primary School site represents an important 
opportunity to deliver strategic urban infill in accordance with 
the State Government’s Directions 2031 and beyond, and the 
Affordable Housing Strategy. 

A Structure Plan application to the City of Wanneroo was made 
in August 2013. The plan illustrates a potential yield of 168 
units across 75 lots. The Authority aims to work with the City 
of Wanneroo to progress the structure plan to the Western 
Australian Planning Commission for final approval in 2014-15.  

BENTLEY REGENERATION 

The Bentley Regeneration is a unique opportunity to revitalise 
approximately 25 hectares in Bentley (surrounding Brownlie 
Towers) into a vibrant community, providing a new level of 
amenities and services through creative planning and offering a 
diverse range of housing options.

The development is anticipated to deliver at least 1,500 new 
dwellings, as well as revitalised civic and community facilities, a 
range of diverse and contemporary public open spaces and a 
commercial and retail precinct.

The project will achieve strategic urban infill objectives of 
the State Government’s Directions 2031 and beyond, and the 
Affordable Housing Strategy. 

The latest innovations in housing design, construction and urban 
planning are being used, with a strong focus on community, 
sustainability and housing affordability.

During 2013-14, the town planning and urban design for the 
precinct was substantially progressed. The Local Structure Plan 
for the precinct was completed and submitted to the Western 
Australian Planning Commission for consideration and approval. 
In addition, design guidelines to govern built-form development 
on the site are being drafted. Preparations for earthworks have 
been completed. 

Community engagement continued throughout the year 
through formal and informal consultation events, as well as 
initiatives to build community awareness and partnerships.

Housing Authority staff view Bentley Regeneration project plans 37
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BURT STREET, FREMANTLE

The Burt Street project is an exciting infill development 
opportunity near the heart of the Fremantle city centre. The 
site previously housed 62 older style flats built in the 1950s. The 
1.37 hectare site was significantly underutilised and deemed an 
inappropriate use of a strategic land holding. 

 In 2013-14, the Authority worked proactively with the community 
and the City of Fremantle throughout the planning process. 
This resulted in a Planning Scheme Amendment initiated to 
increase the zoning from R60 to R160, potentially allowing up to 
250 apartments on the site. A Memorandum of Understanding 
has also been executed between the Authority and the City of 
Fremantle reflecting the strategic objectives sought by both 
parties from this development.
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Land planning and acquisitions
The Authority has a strategic approach to future land 
development involving the acquisition of land parcels and 
planning development priorities and future releases. Continuity 
in the supply of land for affordable housing relies on the timely 
acquisition and planning of land development activities and the 
ongoing development of strategic land parcels.

Land acquisitions

GENERAL ACQUISITIONS

During the year 34 lots were acquired for $11 million.

Notable transactions include:

 a 1.2 hectare site for inclusion in the Clydesdale  
Park Estate, Albany;

 a 4,346 metres square site in Halls Creek, for use in a 
transitional housing project;

 a 3,595 metres square site in Woodbridge for a  
high density project; 

 9 lots totalling 9,600 metres square in Redcliffe for use  
in a future redevelopment project;

 10 residential lots in Broome; 

 a land exchange with the Western Australian  
Planning Commission for a 4,019 metres square site  
in Alexander Heights; 

 a land exchange with the Department of Health of 2.5 
hectares of vacant land in Mirrabooka for 2.7 hectares of 
vacant land in Cannington and a small redevelopment lot in 
South Bunbury; and

 a land exchange with the Department of Lands of 14 
properties in Port Hedland for 25.8 hectares of land in South 
Hedland for subdivision.

AFFORDABLE HOUSING LOTS ACQUISITIONS

During the year 146 lots were acquired at a cost of $33.5 million 
for the construction of affordable housing. The lots acquired 
have the potential to yield 315 dwellings. The most significant 
acquisition is Lot 1757 Fintona Crescent, Butler, which is a multi-
unit development site opposite the Butler train station. The site 
has the potential for 100 dwellings. A further 26 lots valued at  
$9 million with a potential yield of 126 dwellings were sourced 
from the Authority’s existing landholdings for the affordable 
housing program.

Vacant land sales program

During the year, the Authority sold vacant land parcels 
considered surplus to needs including; Lots 50, 102 and 427 Farrall 
Road, Midvale/Stratton, being 62 hectares of vacant land for  
$18.1 million and in Brabham for $28.1 million.
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Return to the Authority

In 2013-14, the land development activities of the Authority 
produced a net cash return of $162 million to the Authority. This 
revenue provides part of the funding for the Authority to perform 
its social housing activities (Tables 7 and 8).

A key outcome of the Authority’s land functions is the creation  
and retention of some lots for use in its housing programs. During 
2013-14, 79 lots were retained for future use from the Authority’s 
various joint venture, urban development and urban renewal 
programs. These lots equate to 152 dwellings.

Construction, spot purchase and refurbishment

The Authority has diverse land and property development 
activities across the State. From time to time the Authority will also 
purchase established dwellings from the market. 

Table 18 (Appendix 2) provides information on construction, spot 
purchases and refurbishments undertaken under the Authority’s 
various capital works programs. This table includes details of 
the number of units commenced and completed as well as 
expenditure during 2013-14.

Building Permit Authority

In December 2012, the Housing Authority became a Building 
Permit Authority under the Building Act 2011 gaining control 
over the building permit process and other relevant building 
approvals for the Authority’s construction program. In 2013-14, the 
Building Permit Authority issued 692 permits for work relating to 
construction, demolition and occupancy of buildings.

Asset sales

GOVERNMENT REGIONAL OFFICERS’  
HOUSING SALES PROGRAM

The GROH sales program generated $16 million from the sale of 65 
properties in regional areas. Under this program, four properties 
were sold to eligible tenants generating $1.5 million.

Revenue 2012-13   
$’000

2013-14   
$’000

Joint ventures $157,999 $191,054

Urban renewal $7,910 $6,945

Urban development 
and redevelopment $27,915 $124,130

TOTAL $193,824 $322,129

Expenditure 2012-13   
$’000

2013-14   
$’000

Joint ventures $51,844 $68,644

Urban renewal $21,280 $25,502

Urban development 
and redevelopment $18,007 $37,133

TOTAL $91,131 $131,279

Table 7: Revenue by program

Table 8: Development expenditure by program
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EX PUBLIC HOUSING RENTALS SALES PROGRAM

A total of 34 public housing rental properties were sold under the 
program in the Perth metropolitan and regional areas, generating 
$15.3 million. These proceeds contribute towards broader public 
housing programs. 

HIGH VALUE SALES PROGRAM

The Authority actively sells vacated public housing properties 
valued at around twice the Perth median house price or greater. 
Funds generated from the sales are used to acquire a greater 
number of dwellings in areas of public housing demand.  During 
the year, 10 properties were sold generating $10.2 million. Since 
inception of the program in 2009, 57 properties have been sold 
generating $53.7 million.

Housing supply 

Increasing the supply of inner-city 
apartments
In keeping with the State Government’s vision to have a world 
class liveable city, as set out in the planning agenda Directions 
2031 and beyond, and the Authority’s commitment to urban 
redevelopment programs, the Authority has continued to pursue 
appropriate infill developments in and around the Perth CBD to 
provide a much needed boost to the supply of and diversity of 
mixed tenure apartments.

ABODE, WEST PERTH

Replicating the successful project financing model used for One 
on Aberdeen, the Authority again partnered with Diploma to 
create Abode, a 10 storey, 86 apartment residential building in 
West Perth.

Given its proximity to numerous transport options, including 
CAT bus stops and the City West train station, this development 
also tests consumer appetite for well located, diverse apartment 
options.  Continuing the Authority’s efforts to test market 
innovation, 10 units in the development were sold with scooter 
bays, rather than dedicated car bays. The strong sales response 
shows that Perth consumers are prepared to consider alternatives 
if good public transport is in place.

Abode will offer a range of studio, one and two-bedroom 
apartments. The Authority will retain a number of properties 
for social housing for those on very low incomes, as well as 
providing shared equity and full home ownership opportunities 
at an affordable entry point. 

Designed by Perth architects Jones Coulter Young, the 
development is due for completion in the second half of 2014.
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One on Aberdeen tops off a big  
year for affordable developments

DECEMBER 2013 MARKED THE ‘TOPPING 
OUT’ (REACHING THE HIGHEST POINT) OF 
THE THIRTEEN-STOREY ONE ON ABERDEEN 
DEVELOPMENT, NOW NEARING COMPLETION.

One on Aberdeen, Northbridge
Hon Bill Marmion MLA, Minister for Housing, and invited  
guests at the topping out ceremony, One on Aberdeen

One on Aberdeen is an outstanding 
example of the Authority transforming the 
way it does business, working in partnership 
with the private sector to deliver more 
affordable housing for Western Australia. 

The Authority has partnered with Diploma 
Properties to develop the inner-city 
complex, an innovative response to the 
affordable housing challenge, increasing 
supply without relying entirely on 
Government finance. 

The Authority provided the land for the 
development, allowing Diploma to secure 
debt and equity finance for the construction 
project. From land valued at approximately 
$6 million, the partnership is delivering a  
$73 million residential project in the heart  
of Perth. 

“This project is an excellent example of how 
the Authority is changing the way we do 
business by working with the private sector 
to deliver more affordable housing,” Chief 
Executive Officer, Grahame Searle said. 

“The partnership with Diploma is an 
innovative response to the affordable 
housing challenge by increasing supply 
without relying totally on Government 
finance.”

One on Aberdeen comprises 161 high-
quality residential apartments and seven 
commercial units, with 66 apartments 
specifically for households on low to 
moderate incomes: 17 for social housing, 
18 for shared equity home ownership, 14 
for key workers and 17 for the NRAS under 
which eligible tenants pay at least 20 per 
cent less than the market. 

All apartments were also sold prior to the 
topping out ceremony. 
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Affordable Housing
The Authority is a significant land developer, builder and home 
financier in the State offering a range of products to assist 
Western Australians into home ownership, including:

 Shared Home Ownership Scheme;

 Keystart Home Loans; and

 Land and house sales.

Shared Home  
Ownership Scheme
In a key initiative under the State Government’s Affordable 
Housing Strategy, the Authority is supporting home ownership 
outcomes. The Shared Home Ownership Scheme turns the 
dream of home ownership into a reality by reducing the initial 
cost of buying a home and the monthly cost of owning it.

The scheme assists purchasers by partnering with the 
Government to purchase a share in the home. The scheme 
is targeted at households on low to moderate incomes and 
drives down costs for these purchases by taking up to a 40 per 
cent equity stake in each sale. By sharing ownership with the 
Authority, eligible Western Australians are able to buy a home as 
they only need to borrow a portion of the property’s purchase 
price, thereby reducing the required deposit and ongoing 
repayments.  These loans target those on low to moderate 
incomes who may ordinarily be excluded from home ownership, 

such as clerical and administrative workers and health and 
welfare support workers. Purchasers enter the scheme initially, 
but can ‘buy out’ the Authority’s share at a later stage.

Under this scheme aspiring home owners may apply for a 
SharedStart shared equity home loan or another shared equity 
loan product (as detailed in the following section). Loans are 
made available through Keystart Home Loans (Keystart), a wholly-
owned mortgage finance subsidiary of the Authority. Keystart 
has products specifically aimed at low to moderate income 
earners, Aboriginal clients, people with disability, sole parents, 
and Authority tenants. 

Properties have been made available for shared equity 
ownership across the metropolitan and regional areas, in 
locations such as Butler, Eaton and Canning Vale, as well as 
attractive apartment options in regional areas like Karratha.

The Authority uses an innovative approach to partner with the 
market to source land and has integrated a range of its functions 
(land development, housing construction, mortgage finance 
and housing market policy and development) to deliver new, 
affordable housing in partnership with the private sector. 

Lee and Michelle, new home owners through the Authority’s Shared Home Ownership Scheme 43
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Keystart Home Loans
As part of the Affordable Housing Strategy, Keystart plays an 
integral role in the housing continuum. By offering a pathway 
to home ownership, people who may otherwise remain in 
rental accommodation for most of their lives are able to achieve 
stability and self-reliance.

Keystart’s policy and market niche is as a low entry-cost 
lender focussed on assisting credit worthy people into home 
ownership. The eligibility barrier is overcome with lower 
deposit requirements than most other lenders and shared 
equity products for social lending programs. The products 
have no ongoing monthly account keeping fees and no 
lenders mortgage insurance. Keystart also provides education 
programs which assist potential borrowers with planning for their 
commitments under the loan agreement.

As a transitionary lender, Keystart offers a basic product which 
gives borrowers a foot on the home ownership ladder and the 
ability to refinance with mainstream lenders when they have 
built up sufficient equity – which the majority do.

Since Keystart commenced in 1989, more than 87,000 loans 
have been approved totalling in excess of $12,625 million (loans 
approved included variations and increases to the loan amount).
Pressure for affordable housing options has driven demand for 
Keystart loans in 2013-14, with 3,974 loans valued at $1,428 million 
being approved, compared to 2,723 valued at $852 million in 
2012-13.

Keystart products
KEYSTART STANDARD 

Keystart approved 3,598 new loans during the financial year 
(excluding shared equity properties), comprising of 73 per cent 
for new construction and 27 per cent for established properties, 
with loans approved totalling $1,328 million. 

SHAREDSTART SHARED EQUITY 

Western Australians struggling to secure affordable housing 
can benefit from the SharedStart shared equity product linked 
to newly constructed entry level homes constructed under the 
Authority’s Shared Home Ownership Scheme. Since 2011 this 
initiative has assisted 787 low income households to purchase a 
new home via the Authority’s co-ownership in the property and 
Keystart, with 182 loans provided by Keystart in 2013-14.

GOODSTART SHARED EQUITY 

Goodstart shared equity product assists public housing rental 
tenants and non-first home buyers to own their own homes. 
During the year, GoodStart provided seven public rental tenants 
an opportunity to purchase a home with loans approved of  
$1.5 million.

ACCESS SHARED EQUITY 

Access shared equity product helps people with disability to 
purchase a home. The scheme assisted 87 families with disability 
into home ownership with loans approved of $13.4 million.
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ABORIGINAL SHARED EQUITY 

This Aboriginal shared equity product assists Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islanders. The scheme helped 77 families make the 
transition from renting to home ownership with loans approved 
of $22.7 million.

SOLE PARENT SHARED EQUITY 

The sole parent shared equity product assists sole parents to 
refinance their current family home following separation or 
bereavement. This scheme helped 23 families purchase their 
own home with loans approved of $4.3 million.

Keystart borrower profile: 2013-14 
In 2013-14, Keystart approved 3,974 new loans. In line with the 
policy intent, borrowers are primarily people on low to moderate 
incomes who are renting and unable to meet the requirements 
of mainstream lenders (such as 10 per cent deposit). Of note:

 the average household income was $86,497;

 72 per cent of loans were to households with incomes of 
up to $100,000 and 28 per cent were to households with 
incomes up to $135,000. For households over $100,000,  
over 97 per cent were couples and families;

 68 per cent were couples and families and 32  per cent 
singles;

 85 per cent were first homebuyers;

 More than 77  per cent of applicants for loans approved were 
in the 20-40 age range and a further 17 per cent in the 40-50 
years range;

 87 per cent of loans were in the well established markets of 
Perth and Peel;

 8 per cent were for purchasers under the Authority’s shared 
equity programs which are highly targeted to households on 
lower incomes and additional disadvantages (e.g. Aboriginal 
people, people with disability, public housing tenants); and

 borrowers reflect a wide spread of occupational groups – 
with the top categories being technicians/trades, labourers, 
construction, clerical/ administration, specialist trades, 
automotive and engineering, drivers, education, health, and 
office administrators.  

The mix of incomes and occupations spreads risk and reduces 
potential exposure in the event of a general economic downturn 
and/or a downturn in a specific industry.

Keystart property profile: 2013-14
In line with government policy objectives, Keystart is supporting 
property purchases at the lower end of the market and the 
creation of much needed entry level housing supply. Of the 3,974 
new loans approved over this period:

 70 per cent have been to finance new homes, thereby 
contributing to new supply. This figure has remained 
consistent around 70 per cent since late 2013, aligning with 
State Government changes to First Home Owners Grant 
payments to incentivise new building;

 all property purchased in the metropolitan area has been 
below the Perth median house price of $549,000; 
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 83 per cent of property purchased in the metropolitan area 
has been below the Perth lowest quartile house price of 
$432,000; and

 the average property purchase price was $357,000 which 
is $192,000 below the median house price of $549,000 and 
$113,000 below the median house price for first home buyers 
of $470,000.

FURTHER INFORMATION ON KEYSTART’S PRODUCTS  
AND ELIGIBILITY CRITERIA CAN BE FOUND AT  
WWW.KEYSTART.COM.AU

Land and house sales

The Shared Equity Expression of  
Interest Initiative
The shared equity Expression of Interest initiative is designed to 
assist low income households to enter home ownership. The 
shared equity Expression of Interest initiative is comprised of 
two distinct but connected elements, the Expression of Interest 
project and the SharedStart loan. Through the Expression of 
Interest the Authority procured, at scale, newly constructed, 
affordable dwellings from the market at discounted rates. The 
Expression of Interest sought submissions from builders and 
developers to deliver new housing.

This process allowed the Authority to take advantage of the 
market conditions to procure stock at a discount under the 
shared equity program, with the discounts to market prices 
achieved becoming the Authority’s equity share in a portfolio  
of properties.  

By assisting low to moderate income earners into home 
ownership, the initiative sought to provide them with an  
affordable, well located, well designed property. In the 2013-14 
period there have been 598 dwellings contracted.

An independent assessment of the shared equity Expression 
of Interest initiative (including SharedStart loan) by the 
Australian Housing and Urban Research Institute and 
PricewaterhouseCoopers, completed in November 2013, 
confirmed the value of the SharedStart shared equity in 
providing homeownership opportunities for low to moderate 
income earners. The assessment considered the impacts and 
effectiveness both in achieving its stated goals and the initiative’s 
contribution to wider social and economic outcomes for 
households and government.

According to key findings from the assessment, focussing on the 
period between July 2011 and November 2013, the initiative has:

 created $149 million of direct construction activity;

 created $112 million of induced activity by suppliers;

 resulted in a total economic benefit of $465 million;

 supported 1,491 jobs overall;

 created $58 million in assets for Government at no cost; and

 assisted 722 low income households to achieve  
home ownership.

Overall, the report recommended the continuation of the 
initiative at scale, and suggested it may even deliver less tangible 
financial benefits to government, such as redirecting eligible 
households away from more expensive initiatives such as public 
housing and Commonwealth Rent Assistance.
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Opening Doors Affordable Sales Program
Under the Affordable Housing Strategy, the role and focus 
of the Authority broadened from delivery to facilitating and 
enabling affordable housing opportunities. The Opening Doors 
Affordable Sales Program is central to providing home ownership 
opportunities for low to moderate income earners in Western 
Australia through facilitating affordable housing for sale directly 
to the general public. 

Since its inception, the program has provided more than 1,200 
singles, families and seniors on modest incomes with a home 
they can afford. In the past year, the program has delivered 366 
opportunities to the market, totalling $131 million. Of these, 221 
sales were part of the Shared Home Ownership Scheme, totalling 
$77 million. This is the shared equity loan product through 
which eligible applicants are able to buy the properties procured 
through the Expression of Interest process. The Shared Home 
Ownership Scheme component represents the largest and most 
successful shared home ownership scheme in Australia.

The Opening Doors Affordable Sales Program also offers home 
ownership opportunities at full market value. These affordable 
homes, including apartments, units, and large family homes, are 
delivered through the Authority working closely with industry to 
ensure properties are developed for sale to the public at a price 
within the reach of as many people as possible. Properties are 
located throughout the Perth metropolitan area and in some 
regional locations. 

Erika and daughter Sophie, new home owner through the Authority’s Shared Home Ownership Scheme
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LIVING SPACE, COCKBURN CENTRAL

Living Space, the Authority’s iconic mixed use apartment 
complex in Cockburn Central, is an impressive and innovative 
136 unit complex and features the full range of affordable and 
social housing options in a single development, including social 
housing, affordable rental housing, private home ownership 
and shared home ownership. The complex also incorporates 
a number of leading design, environmental and technical 
initiatives, including connection to the National Broadband 
Network, six to 10 star energy ratings, rainwater recycling and a 
high level of accessibility through universal and adaptable design 
principles.

During 2013-14, 23 apartments were settled, taking the total sold 
to 52 units. A further four were let under the affordable rental 
program taking the total leased to 52 units. Of the six commercial 
spaces, three were leased in 2012-13 and a further one in 2013-14. 
There are two remaining spaces left available for lease.

Living Space won the ‘Affordable Development’ category in 
the 2013 Urban Development Institute of Australia Western 
Australia Awards for Excellence. The complex was also recognised 
as a finalist in two other categories, namely ‘Medium Density 
Development’ and ‘Sustainable Urban Development’.

Interior of Living Space apartment, Cockburn Central

Living Space, Cockburn Central
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The Ramirez family recently purchased a 
new home through the successful initiative. 
The program is an important part of the 
State Government’s Affordable Housing 
Strategy and since the initiative was 
launched in September 2011, more than 
1,000 singles, families and seniors have 
realised the dream of owning their  
own home. 

Chief Executive Officer Grahame Searle  
said “the success in reaching the 1,000th 
sale milestone in less than two years is a 
strong signal that the Housing Authority  
is delivering quality housing at an  
affordable price. This program is designed 
to make home ownership a reality for  
Western Australians”. 

Mr Ramirez and his family are originally 
from the Philippines and are one of the 
families that have been able to realise their 
dream of owning their own home. A friend 
recommended the program, and he visited 
the website to find a house off-the-plan 
that he liked. He applied for a loan through 
Keystart and was delighted when his 
application was accepted. 

“With a home I can build a good future for 
my family here in Australia,” Mr Ramirez said.

Under the program, homes are either sold 
under the shared home ownership scheme, 
where the Government retained up to 30 
per cent equity in the property, or sold with 
the purchaser acquiring 100 per cent of the 
property.

Most people who purchase a home under 
the shared home ownership scheme pay 
less in monthly mortgage repayments than 
they would pay in rent for a similar home in 
the same suburb.

As at 30 June 2014, the median price of an 
Opening Doors Affordable Sales Program 
property bought through shared home 
ownership was $272,000 – about $200,000 
less than Perth’s median house price.

Homes sold through the Opening Doors 
Affordable Sales Program range from one-
bedroom units to four-bedroom homes in 
suburbs throughout the Perth metropolitan 
area and some regional towns.

Opening Doors to the  
1,000th sale

Hon Bill Marmion MLA, Minister for Housing, with Mr Ramirez and family

TO MARK THE 1,000TH SALE MILESTONE UNDER THE 
AUTHORITY’S OPENING DOORS AFFORDABLE SALES 
PROGRAM, CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER GRAHAME 
SEARLE AND MINISTER FOR HOUSING, HON BILL 
MARMION MLA VISITED MR RAMIREZ AND HIS FAMILY. 
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Cottier Apartments, South Hedland

WHITLOCK ROAD, QUEENS PARK  
The Authority is building 86 dwellings on a group housing site in the 
Quattro Queens Park development. The dwellings will be full turnkey 
with extensive outdoor landscaping and secure car parking for 
residents. The development will predominately consist of a mix of one 
and two-bedroom dwellings with some three-bedroom dwellings 
over two levels. These dwellings will add to the pool of affordable 
housing and are intended for sale to the private market, aimed at 
Keystart clients and the Shared Home Ownership Scheme.

COTTIER APARTMENTS, SOUTH HEDLAND 

This development, located on the corner of Smith Street and Cottier 
Drive, South Hedland, involves the construction of one, two and three-
bedroom apartments. Stage 1 involves 44 units and is scheduled for 
completion in August 2014. 

As well as adding to housing supply, the project will deliver a number 
of affordable housing outcomes with a proportion of apartments to 
be allocated for social housing, NRAS housing, shared equity home 
ownership opportunities and Government Regional Officers’ Housing. 
The balance of apartments will be sold.

ROYDHOUSE STREET, SUBIACO

The Authority has secured 10 studio, one and two-bedroom 
apartments, close to shops, public transport and schooling in the heart 
of Subiaco, for sale under the Authority’s Shared Home Ownership 
Scheme. The apartments are under construction and estimated to 
be completed in early 2015. This is the first development opportunity 
secured through a joint arrangement between the Authority and the 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority.  The joint arrangement aims 
to fast-track the supply and diversity of affordable housing through 
collaborative activities and joint development projects, with a target of 
1,300 new affordable dwellings by 2020.
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‘THE SPRINGS’ DEVELOPMENT, RIVERVALE

The Authority has continued to work closely with LandCorp 
to deliver the Government’s 15 per cent affordability on 
Government land developments. This includes a development 
at ‘The Springs’ in Rivervale which will deliver approximately 10 
shared equity opportunities as well as 55 housing units at full 
market prices.

Affordable housing for seniors
The Authority is working closely with local communities and 
Regional Development Commissions across the State to deliver 
housing for people over 55 years in various regional locations.

RIDGEWOOD

The Ridgewood project will be developed in conjunction with 
Southern Cross Care, which was the successful proponent 
through a competitive expression of interest process. The 
objective of the project is to increase the supply of affordable 
seniors housing within close proximity to key services and 
amenities utilising a 6.8 hectare site in Ridgewood located 37 
kilometres north of the Perth CBD.  

The innovative development aims to provide mixed tenures such 
as social housing, seniors housing, private rental, affordable land 
and home ownership. The commercial precinct is envisaged to 
include facilities such as a medical centre, supermarket and retail 
uses. A Development Management Agreement was executed by 
the Authority and Southern Cross Care in 2014. 

STELLAR LIVING 

In 2013-14 the Authority provided $3.1 million to Stellar Living 
Ltd who commenced construction of a 22 unit development 
in Erskine (Mandurah) at a total project cost of approximately 
$5.0 million. The development will consist of a mix of two one-
bedroom, 14 two-bedroom and six three-bedroom units.
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Affordable Rental
The Authority supports access to affordable rental housing 
opportunities for low to moderate income households through:

 the provision of direct assistance to consumers to support 
them to obtain rental accommodation;

 investment in affordable rental projects; and 

 the provision of incentives to owners and landlords to make 
properties available.

Financial assistance for 
private rental tenants
The bond assistance loan scheme is designed to enable eligible 
Western Australians to access the private rental market by 
supplying an interest-free loan for the bond and rent in advance. 

The Private Rental Aboriginal Assistance Loan scheme (PRAAL) 
is an early intervention mechanism designed to assist clients to 
sustain their private rental tenancy when rent arrears caused by 
extraordinary circumstances place them at risk of eviction. Clients 
are provided with an interest-free loan of up to six weeks’ rent. 

During 2013-14, 8,966 Bond Assistance Loans and Private Rental 
Aboriginal Assistance Loans were issued to the value of $10.8 
million.  
 

National Rental  
Affordability Scheme 
NRAS is a partnership between the Commonwealth Government 
and the States and Territories, to invest in affordable rental 
housing to significantly increase the supply of new affordable 
rental dwellings across Australia. NRAS offers financial incentives 
to persons or the business sector and community organisations 
to build and rent dwellings for low to moderate income 
households at a rate that is at least 20 per cent below the market 
value rent. 

The Commonwealth Government as part of the 2014-15 
Commonwealth Budget announced that Round 5 of NRAS would 
not proceed, saving the Commonwealth Budget about $1 billion 

National Rental Affordability Scheme housing, Ellenbrook
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over 12 years. Incentives already allocated through earlier rounds 
of the scheme will continue to be paid for eligible dwellings 
delivered on time and in agreed locations.

The State Government supported a total of 7,000 NRAS incentives 
under the scheme. The decision not to proceed with Round 5 
will mean that Western Australia has lost 1,568 incentives that 
would have delivered affordable private rental dwellings for those 
on low to moderate incomes.

Despite Round 5 not proceeding, NRAS projects that are already 
approved have made and continue to make, a significant 
contribution to the State Government’s Affordable Housing 
Strategy and help take the pressure off many low to moderate 
households in the private rental market. As at 30 June 2014, 2,432 
NRAS dwellings have been delivered and made available for  
rent. The remaining incentives are required to be delivered by  
30 June 2016. 

Employment Related 
Accommodation
Employment related accommodation facilities provide a safe, 
supportive and affordable accommodation option for primarily 
young adults of Aboriginal descent whilst they establish 
themselves in employment, apprenticeship, and training 
opportunities. There are currently 58 accommodation units 
(including four family units) available across four facilities within 
the Kimberley, at Halls Creek, Fitzroy Crossing, Broome and Derby.

The facilities contribute to the success of residents’ employment 
and training providing a range of support services enabling the 
effective transition from remote locations, the development of 
independent living skills, and the eventual progression from the 
facility into sustainable housing alternatives.

Fairbridge Village renovation
The Authority provided $500,000 to Fairbridge to enable 
the renovation of Saumeraz Cottage as part of its Aboriginal 
Construction Training Initiative. The renovation was completed 
in June 2014. The national heritage listed village built in 1920 is 
located on South West Highway, Pinjarra, where approximately 
21 young people are completing apprenticeships in building and 
construction, carpentry and painting.  

The renovation delivered eight semi-independent 
accommodation units for young people requiring supported 
accommodation, including apprentices involved in the initiative. 
The accommodation will also be used to support a traineeship 
program designed for young Aboriginal men on release from 
minimal security prison in order to complete a Certificate 2 in 
Surface Extraction Mining.  

Residents of Employment Related Accommodation, Derby 53
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More than 160 people have moved into 
affordable housing in South Hedland 
following completion of a program to 
provide 125 new and refurbished houses  
for service workers.

The Hedland 125 Service Worker 
Accommodation program received 
funding of $93.37 million through the 
State Government’s Royalties for Regions – 
Housing for Workers initiative and provides 
rental accommodation for service workers 
and their families for an initial one-year term, 
with options to extend leases.

The dwellings, comprised of two, three 
and four-bedroom homes, are managed 
by community housing organisation 
Foundation Housing Ltd under a  
head-lease agreement.

At another location in South Hedland, 293 
purpose-built units were fast tracked for 
development to meet the high demand for 
affordable housing in the Pilbara. 

The affordable rental dwellings, located at 
the Osprey Key Workers Village, stimulate 
housing supply in a region where affordable  
 

accommodation is still a significant issue for 
key workers, Government employees and 
local businesses. 

The joint project to provide worker 
accommodation was undertaken through 
the Royalties for Regions – Housing for 
Workers initiative in collaboration with 
Fleetwood Corporation and the Authority 
to address low-availability and high housing 
costs for key workers living in the North 
West of the State.

In Onslow, service workers now have access 
to more affordable rental housing following 
the construction of 12 two-bedroom 
dwellings at a cost of $4.9 million. 

The chalets were designed specifically to 
meet the needs of local service workers 
struggling to secure accommodation in 
Onslow or to afford the area’s high rents 
while other long-term housing options are 
being sourced.

The increase in available accommodation 
also addresses a need for housing by non 
government organisations such as St John 
Ambulance, which is now able to provide 
additional services to the town.

New affordable service worker 
accommodation in the North West

THE AUTHORITY IS STIMULATING THE SUPPLY  
OF HOUSING FOR KEY SERVICE WORKERS IN THE  
STATE’S NORTH TO MEET THE HIGH DEMAND  
FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING DRIVEN BY ACTIVITY  
IN THE RESOURCE SECTOR. 

Osprey Workers Village, South Hedland

Osprey Workers Village, South Hedland54
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Housing for Workers
The Authority is delivering service worker accommodation in 
regional communities under the Affordable Housing Strategy 
and Royalties for Regions - Housing for Workers initiative. This 
includes targeted developments such as key and service worker 
housing and employment related accommodation to ensure that 
key community and essential services are maintained in regional 
areas. These initiatives ensure that small to medium businesses 
and non government organisations are able to attract and retain 
qualified and experienced employees to maintain or expand 
services. 

Key worker and service worker
The Royalties for Regions – Housing for Workers initiative will 
commit $355.5 million over six years (2011-12 to 2017-18), to 
provide affordable housing for key workers in regional Western 
Australia. Of this, $154.6 million has been approved for eight 
projects located in South Hedland, Karratha, Newman, Onslow 
and the Avon Valley. 

HOUSING FOR NON GOVERNMENT ORGANISATIONS 

A significant shortage of affordable housing in some regional 
locations is having a major impact on the ability of  
non government organisations to deliver key government 
funded services to regional communities. Non government 
organisations are struggling to attract and retain the necessary 
staff partly due to the limited availability of affordable and 
appropriate housing.  

In response, the Authority is undertaking land and housing 
development in high need regional locations in the Kimberley 
including Derby, Halls Creek, Broome and Kununurra; and in the 
Pilbara including Onslow, Paraburdoo, Roebourne, Karratha and 
Newman.

HEDLAND 125 HOUSE SERVICE WORKER INTERVENTION  
PACKAGE, SOUTH HEDLAND 

The Hedland 125 House Service Worker Intervention Package 
in South Hedland provided a two year housing package to 
help ease the shortage of service worker accommodation . 
The project delivered 125 dwellings (42 refurbished, 77 new 
transportables and six existing transportables). The dwellings 
were provided at an affordable rate of approximately 40 per cent 
of market rent. At the end of the two year period, tenants will be 
transitioned into other housing options. 

Construction started on Homestead Ramble, Newman
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THE JUNCTIONS, PORT HEDLAND

The State Government has allocated $20 million to pre-purchase 
38 units in the proposed Junctions development in South 
Hedland. These lifestyle apartments are located in the heart 
of South Hedland near the hospital, shopping centre and 
entertainment precinct. This pre-purchase helped facilitate the 
construction of phase 1 of The Junctions, a 70-unit development 
scheduled to commence in 2014-15.  

HAMILTON PRECINCT, SOUTH HEDLAND

This project is the first stage of a broader Hamilton Precinct 
residential development planned by the Authority to deliver land 
and affordable housing. The Authority will deliver approximately 
100 lots to market. Commencement of the civil works is 
anticipated in the first half of 2014-15 including the upgrade of 
the water pump station and associated infrastructure. The first 
lots are expected to be available for sale in 2015.

EAST NEWMAN RESIDENTIAL ESTATE, NEWMAN 

The State Government has allocated up to $6.6 million from the 
Royalties for Regions - Affordable Housing initiative to deliver 
10 dwellings for key workers of local organisations, addressing the 
shortage of affordable housing for key workers in Newman. 

The units are being made available to employees of organisations 
providing services to the broader Newman community in 
industries such as childcare, emergency services, hospitality and 
retail at an affordable rent.

The Authority completed the construction of the two-bedroom, 
two-storey dwellings in June 2014, with the Minister for Housing 
and the Minister for Regional Development officially opening the 
accommodation on 24 July 2014.

DISCOVERY PARK, ONSLOW 

The Authority purchased and installed 12 units in February 2014 
for affordable rental assisting up to 24 service workers in Onslow 
at a cost of $4.8 million. This project involved collaboration from 
the Authority, Pilbara Development Commission, Department of 
State Development, Discovery Parks and the Shire of Ashburton. 
An agreement was signed in January 2014 and these units 
are available for rent for a five year period in Discovery Parks’ 
extension.

Employment Related Accommodation, South Hedland
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OSPREY KEY WORKER VILLAGE, SOUTH HEDLAND 

To support the ongoing economic growth of the Pilbara, the 
Osprey Village aims to provide quality affordable housing for 
workers who are employed in local businesses providing key 
services to the community. The Osprey Village is a rare living 
experience in Hedland offering a significant level of amenity 
for residents, including: a welcoming community, landscaped 
public open space, a safe and secure environment and onsite 
management services. 

Applications to reside in the village remain strong with rents for the 
highest priority tenants 30 per cent lower than market rates.

The village provides a community lifestyle, on 12 hectares of land 
within the Authority’s Osprey Estate in South Hedland. Fleetwood 
Pty Ltd was selected in 2012 to finance, design, construct and 
manage the village.  Construction was completed in February 2014 
at a cost of $95 million providing 293 one, two or three-bedroom 
dwellings housing up to 300 key workers. Additional land adjacent 
to the village has been allocated for potential future expansion if 
demand warrants.

Osprey Key Worker Village, South Hedland

Kitchen, Osprey Key Worker Village, South Hedland. 57
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Government workers

Government Regional Officers’ Housing
The Government Regional Officers’ Housing program provides 
government employee housing across regional Western 
Australia.  As at 30 June 2014, the Authority managed a total of 
5,673 units of government regional officer housing of which 
3,304 units were owned by the Authority and 2,369 units were 
leased from the private market. 

During 2013-14,118 units of new accommodation were 
completed at a cost of $71 million. The Authority also spent more 
than $3 million on refurbishment of existing properties thereby 
improving the amenity of properties and extending  
their economic life.

PELAGO EAST STAGE 2, KARRATHA

Stage two of the Pelago Development by Finbar in Karratha was 
completed in November 2013. The Authority pre purchased 50 
units in this development, comprising both one-bedroom and 
two-bedroom units with 21 of the Authority’s units allocated 
to the Government Regional Officers’ Housing program. The 
Authority is currently seeking to sell or rent the remaining 29 
units including a number of these being offered on a shared 
equity basis further enhancing home ownership opportunities  
in the Pilbara.
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Social Housing
The Authority provides housing options across the State for 
Western Australians most in need, for the duration of their need.  
The Authority’s social housing activities include direct housing 
provision through the public housing program and the 
construction of housing for the homeless, people with disability 
and the not-for-profit sector. 

The Authority works in partnership with the community 
housing sector to provide rental housing for people on low 
incomes. Social housing and tenancy services are provided by 
the Authority through its network of local offices, community 
housing organisations, contracted Aboriginal Regional Service 
Providers, and contracted not-for-profit organisations. 

Community housing organisations manage more than 20 
per cent of social housing and the Authority is responsible 
for regulating providers through an administrative regulatory 
framework and contract management.   

The Authority manages more than 40,000 social housing 
tenancies annually across the State.

The Authority delivers housing and essential services to regional 
and remote Aboriginal communities in Western Australia. 
This includes tenancy management, employment related 
accommodation, short stay accommodation and remote area 
essential services.

In 2013-14, the Authority delivered more than 600 homes to 
support those most in need. The program reinforces the State’s 
commitment to providing rental housing for those most in need, 
with funding through State Government grants, including the 
$130 million Social Housing Boost and $151 million Combined 
Capital Bid together with the reinvestment of funds from the 
sale of high value properties. Through the Authority’s continued 
working partnership with the community housing sector, the 
completion of the Beacon homeless accommodation and 
support facility in East Perth, marks the completion of the 
stimulus package.
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Tenancy management
The Authority provides homes for more than 36,000 low income 
households. Tenants pay no more than 25 per cent of their 
assessable income as rent, a figure well below market rent and 
operating cost.  Tenants include seniors, families, low income 
earners, people with a disability, and people with complex 
physical or mental health needs. Properties are typically one, two 
or three-bedrooms and a mix of houses and units. 

Properties are managed directly through a network of the 
Authority’s regional offices (Figure 4; Appendix 3: Our offices).

Figure 4: Authority’s office locations
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FLORA HAS NO  
COMPLAINTS ABOUT  
THE RENT CHARGED BY  
THE AUTHORITY. 

That’s because she doesn’t pay any rent 
on her tidy unit. How did she manage to 
score this privilege? By entering the world 
on 25 October 1913. Late last year the still-
spry centenarian received a Certificate of 
Recognition from the Chief Executive Officer 
and a waiving of rent. 

Flora was born on a farm in Collie and was 
one of nine kids. The family was poor: one 
Christmas the kids had to share a doll. 

Flora headed off to the big city in her 
twenties and spent the next few decades 
working as a domestic and cook in hotels 
and raising seven kids of her own, 27 
grandchildren and a ‘bundle’ of great 
grandchildren.

As well as being our oldest tenant and 
probably having the most grandchildren, 
Flora has another claim to fame. She has an 
identical twin sister. Winifred and Flora are 
the oldest identical twins in Australia and in 
the top fifteen in the world.

Flora still lives independently, albeit with 
support. Her son comes in every couple of 
days, she has carers who come and clean 
and shop for her, and a neighbouring 
couple look after her garden. 

Flora loves her little unit and says she has 
everything she needs. While she enjoyed 
ballroom dancing when she was younger, 
nowadays she’s happy to knit and crochet 
and watch television. 

“I’m very grateful to the Authority for my 
unit and the way they’ve always looked 
after me. I’m really, really happy with what 
Housing has done for me,” Flora said.

Flora 100 not out

Flora with Housing Authority staff member

Flora with Housing Authority staff member
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Improved waitlist management to help 
those in greatest need
The Authority is working to better target social housing to those 
in greatest need. Additional policy enhancements implemented 
during 2012 mean that waitlist applicants need to remain eligible for 
assistance throughout the entire time they are on the waiting list. The 
waitlist statistics can be found in Appendix 2: Housing Statistics  
(Table 17).

Disruptive Behaviour Management Strategy
The Government’s Disruptive Behaviour Management Strategy, 
introduced in May 2011, clearly defines what the Authority considers 
unacceptable behaviour and details processes and sanctions for 
managing disruptive tenancies.  The Authority applies the strategy 
within the provisions of the Residential Tenancies Act 1987.  

In July 2012, amendments to Residential Tenancies Act 1987 came into 
effect which provides the Authority with specific powers to impose 
strong, consistent sanctions in response to the disruptive behaviour 
of tenants and provide the opportunity to apply to the Court to 
terminate a tenancy where the issues are ongoing.

Following the introduction of these amendments the Authority has 
experienced difficulties bringing disruptive behaviour tenancy related 
matters before the Magistrates Court of Western Australia in a timely 
manner. The Authority is liaising with the Attorney General and  
Chief Magistrate to discuss the issue generally and to consider options 
for improvement.

The Government has invested $12 million over four years from 
2012-13 to 2015-16, to support the implementation of the Disruptive 
Behaviour Management Strategy.  

The funding has provided for dedicated disruptive behaviour 
management staff to be placed throughout the State, including 
regional staff.  These specialised officers ensure consistent application 
of the strategy State-wide. The employees manage and investigate 
tenancy complaints from the public and ensure public housing 
tenants who engage in disruptive behaviour are held accountable 
for their behaviour. The success of the policy is evidenced by the 
reduction in the number of strikes issued between the first and 
subsequent strikes (Table 9).

Table 9: Summary of performance for 2013-14 relating to the Disruptive 
Behaviour Management Strategy

Housing Direct
Housing Direct provides a centralised contact service for tenants 
and members of the public in relation to public housing, property 
maintenance, disruptive behaviour reports, homelessness advice and 
contractor inquiries. In 2013-14, the Authority implemented enhanced 
processes for the management of emergency maintenance works 
and associated health and safety issues.

During 2013-14, the centre handled 213,715 inbound calls and 24,667 
online forms. The average waiting time experienced by callers was 
6.15 minutes.

Summary 2013-14

Total Disruptive Behaviour complaints 13,324

Total first strikes issued 1,340

Total second strikes issued 507

Total third strikes issued 171

Total tenancies terminated as a direct result 
of disruptive behaviour 75
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Maintenance
The Authority carries out maintenance services to more than 
40,000 residential properties across 11 administrative regions 
around the State, issuing an average of 23,000 job orders per 
month. Maintenance is carried out on the Authority’s properties 
to ensure tenant safety, asset protection and the longevity of 
stock with services managed by a central business unit. 

The Authority delivers maintenance services through a model in 
which it deals with a small number of head contractors who then 
manage a multitude of subcontractors to deliver the services 
required.

In 2013-14 contracts were held with:

 Lake Maintenance Pty Ltd – East and West Kimberley, 
Goldfields and Wheatbelt regions

 Programmed Facility Management Pty Ltd – South  
West region

 Transfield Services (Australia) Pty Ltd – North Metropolitan, 
South Metropolitan, South East Metropolitan, Great Southern, 
Pilbara and Mid West regions.

Maintenance work is carried out as required when a property is 
vacated, on a day-to-day basis as repairs become necessary or 
through planned programs. A total of $125 million was spent on 
day-to-day maintenance, vacated maintenance, refurbishments 
and improvements, planned and cyclical maintenance, estates 
maintenance and insurance work this financial year.

In addition to normal business and programs being undertaken, 
a number of projects have been completed. These include the 
enhancement of security lighting to complexes,  

inspection and upgrade of Residual Current Devices, the Office of 
Energy electric resistance hot water unit changeover project and 
the upgrade and installation of enhanced fire protection services 
to apartment complexes.

Maintenance work conducted is subject to a number of quality 
assurance processes that are reviewed on an ongoing basis. 

The Authority measures the head contractors’ performance via 
Service Level Agreements which allow the Authority to identify 
performance issues on an ongoing basis, apply penalties if 
necessary and inform business improvement.

Residential Tenancies Act 1987
The first round of amendments to the Residential Tenancies 
Act 1987, came into effect on 30 July 2012. These amendments 
affected the management of tenancies in both public housing 
and private rental markets. On 1 July 2013, the second and final 
round of amendments to the Act was implemented. As a result, 
a number of the Authority’s operational policies and procedures 
were updated to comply with the Act.

Tenancy support services
The Support and Tenant Education Program, which replaced 
the Supported Housing Assistance Program in July 2013,  
provides support services for tenants having difficulties 
managing their tenancy. 

The program has undergone continual review throughout the 
year and numerous resources have been developed to enhance 
its operational efficiency.  
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In May 2014, negotiations began on a Deed of Variation to 
Agreement with service providers which will further improve the 
outcomes of the program. Seven non government organisations 
were engaged and funded to address the tenancy support 
needs of tenants in public housing in allocated regions across  
the State.

Contracts for the delivery of tenancy support services to remote 
Aboriginal housing properties were awarded to six Regional 
Service Providers, five of which are Aboriginal Corporations, 
to deliver a case management based service coupled with 
education to communities. The goal of the program is to provide 
support services to tenants who are unable to manage their 
tenancy or who may be at risk of eviction due to problematic 
behaviour, rent arrears and/or poor property standards.  

In addition to the above, all remote Aboriginal housing tenants 
moving into a new or refurbished property are offered the New 
Living Skills Program through the housing management team 
and are provided a comprehensive induction to the property. 
The tenancy support providers also undertake a follow-up visit 
with tenants to promote the tenancy support program, and offer 
further support if required.  

Appeals
The Authority’s Housing Appeals Mechanism offers applicants 
and recipients of housing assistance a quick, informal, thorough 
and fair means of appealing an adverse administrative decision 
affecting them. 

The two-tier appeal process allows clients to provide further 
information regarding their appeal and affords them the 
opportunity to have a face-to-face discussion with members 
of the Regional Appeals Committee. Each regional committee 
consists of one Authority representative and two community 
members who are independent of the Authority. Table 10 
provides the statistics on appeals matters dealt with during 2013-14.

In 2013-14 the Authority supported the recruitment of 
community members for the Regional Appeals Committees by 
training 24 community members.

All Requests Received

Total number of eligible appeals 1,636

Total number of ineligible appeals  
(not progressed to Tier 1 or Tier 2) 148

Total number of appeal requests received 2013-14 1,784

Tier 1

Total of successful appeals (Decision overturned at 
Tier 1 or partially waived and referred to Tier 2) 557

Total of unsuccessful appeals (Completed at Tier 1 
with decision upheld or referred to Tier 2) 936

Tier 2

Total of successful appeals lodged in 2012-13 
(including partially successful) 195

Total of successful appeals lodged in 2013-14 
(including partially successful) 692

Total of unsuccessful appeals 626

Table 10: Summary of appeal matters recorded in 2013-14(1) (2)

Note: 
(1) Appeals lodged in 2012-13 that were referred to Tier 2 and closed in 2013-14 are captured in this summary.  
(2) Appeals received in 2013-14 that proceeded to Tier 2 but were not finalised during this year are not 
included in this summary.
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Transitioning public housing tenants  
through the housing continuum
Implementation of the tenancy compliance monitoring and 
reporting framework continues to support the Affordable 
Housing Strategy through transitioning ineligible tenants out 
of the public housing system, which increases the availability of 
public housing stock for those in greatest need. 

The framework ensures that assessments against eligibility 
criteria are consistent when applied across all regions of Western 
Australia. The process, managed by the Tenancy Compliance 
Unit, also allows for regional housing market influences to be 
taken into consideration during the decision-making process. The 
objective is to achieve successful outcomes for both tenants and 
the Authority. 

The Housing Pathway Unit works with tenants referred from the 
Tenancy Compliance Unit. Tenants who are no longer eligible 
are provided assistance to pursue a range of affordable housing 
options, including community housing, the Rental Pathways 
Scheme, NRAS, private rentals and home ownership through 
various schemes offered by the Authority and Keystart. Since last 
year, the Housing Pathways Unit has expanded services to cover 
all of the State. 

During 2013-14, the Housing Pathways Unit received 356 referrals 
from the Tenancy Compliance Unit, and has assisted 104 tenants 
to transition into affordable housing products. 

Over the financial year, 148 properties have been returned to 
stock for re-allocation to applicants on the Authority’s waiting list.  

Housing Authority staff members
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Then everything changed after a promotion 
at work meant she was no longer income-
eligible for public housing. While at first 
quite a daunting prospect, the news 
represented a very real incentive for Helen 
to buy her own home.

The Authority’s Housing Pathways Unit 
assisted Helen by providing a number of 
options for her transition out of public 
housing including community housing, 
private rental and home ownership. 

Helen chose home ownership and with a 
boost from her income tax return, she had 
enough money for a deposit and started 
the process of obtaining a loan.  Helen 
secured a home loan through Indigenous 
Business Australia, which assists Aboriginal 
people with loans to purchase their own 
home. She received the keys in late 2013 
and soon enjoyed her first Christmas in her 
own home.

Helen described the news that she had to 
move out of public housing as “stressful 
and scary” but acknowledged that it also 
created the motivation to follow her dreams 
and buy her own home. 

A number of family members had also 
purchased their own properties and 
this encouraged Helen that she could 
also follow in their footsteps. Her son is 
especially proud of his mother who has 
finally achieved the ‘great Australian dream’. 

A number of options are available to 
tenants who are no longer income-eligible 
for public housing including community 
housing, bond assistance to rent privately, 
Keystart home loans including SharedStart  
home loan.

Helen achieves the  
‘great Australian dream’

A PUBLIC HOUSING RESIDENT FOR NEARLY  
36 YEARS, HELEN NEVER EXPECTED TO REALISE  
THE ‘GREAT AUSTRALIAN DREAM’ OF OWNING  
HER OWN HOME. 

Helen, a new homeowner assisted by the Authority’s Housing Pathways Unit66
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Kimberley transitional housing 
EAST KIMBERLEY DEVELOPMENT PACKAGE  
TRANSITIONAL HOUSING

In partnership with the Wunan Foundation, the East Kimberley 
Development Package Transitional Housing Program provides 
stable, affordable housing to motivated Aboriginal people in 
employment or training in Kununurra. 

The Authority has developed and allocated 40 newly 
constructed homes with a range of housing types to meet the 
needs of singles, couples and family groups. Funds generated 
through surplus rental income from all of the East Kimberley 
Development Package properties are re-invested into the 
program. The program is designed to encourage independence 
and offer opportunities to create personal wealth and achieve 
home ownership. Program participants must be engaged in 
employment or training, ensure children attend school regularly 
and participate in the associated support program. 

Through this support, participants are provided with training 
that focuses on health, developing life and financial skills, such 
as meeting requirements for a home loan application, saving 
for a deposit and techniques for developing work and income 
stability. The program commenced in September 2012 with 
property management by participants and their engagement in 
support services progressing successfully.

Since the program began there have been 240 referrals to a 
range of support agencies offering participants a wide variety  
of assistance.  
 

Children participating in the program have a combined overall 
school attendance of 89 per cent, well above regional averages 
for Aboriginal children, and participants from every household 
are engaged in employment. Six participants have made 
progress towards home loan applications and another three 
participants have had their application approved. Of the three 
home loans approved, one home loan offer has been accepted. 
The participant, a single mother with four children, moved into 
her new home in May 2014.

Participants in the East Kimberley Transitional Housing Program, Kununurra
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The East Kimberley Development Package 
Transitional Housing Program claimed 
this top honour for helping to transform 
lives through housing that is linked to 
employment and education outcomes.

The Program provides stable, affordable 
housing to Aboriginal people to help 
them develop independence and take a 
significant step towards creating personal 
wealth and achieving home ownership.

Working in the North of the State is not easy 
and many challenges had to be successfully 
overcome to build the houses, and select 
and place participants in the program.

“This success of the Program could not 
have been achieved without the expertise 
of the Authority’s partners - the Wunan 
Foundation - in delivering the support 
services for participants, and Community 
Housing Limited in managing the 
tenancies,” Chief Executive Officer,  
Grahame Searle said.

“The Wunan Foundation was instrumental 
in developing this program in partnership 
with the Authority.”

Program participants must be engaged in 
employment or training, ensure children 
attend school regularly and participate 
in the associated support program.  
The support program includes setting 
lifestyle goals, financial management and 
progressing referrals to community support 
networks like health agencies.  

All homes will be available for purchase 
when participants are ready to transition to 
private home ownership.

In accepting the award, the Chief Executive 
Officer said he really believed in this 
program and what it has done to improve 
the lives of participants and decrease their 
dependence on welfare.

With this win, the Authority has achieved 
two Premier’s Awards in the last three 
years, previously winning in the Developing 
the Economy category in 2011 for the 
management of the Stimulus Program.

Transformative program  
wins in Premier’s Awards

THE AUTHORITY RECEIVED THE STATE’S TOP PUBLIC  
SECTOR MANAGEMENT PRIZE IN THE IMPROVING 
ABORIGINAL OUTCOMES CATEGORY AT THE 2013  
PREMIER’S AWARDS ANNOUNCED BY THE  
PREMIER HON COLIN BARNETT MLA IN NOVEMBER.

Premier Hon Colin Barnett MLA presenting the Authority’s CEO with the 
Premier’s Award for Improving Aboriginal Outcomes68
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WEST KIMBERLEY TRANSITIONAL  
HOUSING PROGRAM

On 30 June 2014, the State Government allocated $33 million 
over four years to deliver 60 transitional houses in Broome and 
Derby. The program will build on the successful East Kimberley 
Transitional Housing Program by increasing the supply of 
affordable housing options for eligible Indigenous households in 
Broome and Derby. Participants will be required to meet specific 
criteria including remaining in employment or training. They will 
be assisted to build financial wealth and personal independence 
and encouraged to transition from social to private housing 
opportunities, such as full or shared equity home ownership.

Homelessness initiatives

National Partnership Agreement on 
Homelessness 
The Authority continues to support the implementation of the 
NPAH. The Authority has established strong engagement and 
referral processes with support agencies funded under the NPAH, 
ensuring that clients have smooth access to social housing as it 
becomes available. In 2013-14, the Authority provided 201  
houses to individuals and families who were clients of NPAH 
funded programs, housing a total of 461 people. A further 620 
homes were made available to people who were not clients 
of NPAH programs but who were assessed by the Authority as 
being homeless.

In 2013-14, the NPAH operated under a 12 month extension of the 
initial agreement. Over this period, the Authority received $4.1 
million as the Commonwealth’s contribution to State initiatives 
to deliver six transitional housing units and 21 units to increase 
the available social housing for people who are homeless. The 
Commonwealth funding was matched by Western Australia.

The Authority worked with the Department of Child Protection 
and Family Support to negotiate a further 12 month extension on 
the NPAH to ensure continuity of homelessness service provision 
across 2014-15. The 2014-15 extension focusses on maintaining 
current service delivery levels for programs that are managed 
by the Department of Child Protection and Family Support. No 
capital funding has been made available.

Participants in the East Kimberley Transitional Housing Program
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Crisis accommodation
The Authority’s Crisis Accommodation Program provided 629 
properties across the State to assist people who are homeless 
or in immediate housing crisis. The program provides capital 
funds to build and buy residential premises such as women’s 
refuges, night shelters and emergency accommodation for youth. 
Accommodation is primarily managed by community housing 
organisations, with many support services funded through the 
Department for Child Protection and Family Support.  An evaluation 
of the Crisis Accommodation Program commenced in 2013-14 to 
identify areas to improve the effectiveness and efficiency of the 
program and will be completed in 2014-15.

TOM FISHER HOUSE 

The acute homeless night shelter is a joint initiative of the State 
Government and Catholic Archbishop of Perth. The facility will 
provide overnight accommodation for homeless people over 18 
years old, including Indigenous people, living in the Perth  
inner-city area.  

The Authority is working closely with the Department of the 
Premier and Cabinet, the Department of Child Protection and 
Family Support; and the St Vincent de Paul Society in designing 
the facility.   Once operational, it will be managed by the St Vincent 
de Paul Society, with the Authority retaining ownership. The night 
shelter has been named Tom Fisher House, to acknowledge the 
significant contribution made by Mr Tom Fisher over the last 40 
years through the many senior positions he has held within the 
St Vincent de Paul Society. The 10-bedroom facility is located in 
Beaufort Street, Perth and the construction contract was awarded 
to the builder in May 2014. Physical commencement of construction 
is expected in September 2014.  

WILF SARGENT HOUSE, FREMANTLE

A major redevelopment of Wilf Sargent House located on South 
Terrace, Fremantle, is currently underway. The existing property, 
which dates back to 1895, has been used for the last seven years to 
accommodate homeless people within the Fremantle area, under 
management of Uniting Care West. The upgraded design builds 
on the history of the building with the front limestone walls being 
retained and incorporated as key elements in the new building. 
The upgrading will provide modern facilities, including catering for 
people with disability, and will allow Uniting Care West to provide 
medium term accommodation and support for eight people 
experiencing homelessness. Construction commenced in January 
2014 and is expected to be completed in April 2015. The project is 
expected to cost approximately $2 million.

BEACON, EAST PERTH

The Beacon is a new facility addressing the needs of up to 
102 homeless men, supporting them with long-term housing 
independence and a new start in life. Located on the corner of 
Aberdeen and Nash streets in East Perth, the project has been 
developed in partnership with the Salvation Army.

The Beacon opened in early 2014 and the Salvation Army delivers 
a host of centralised services on the ground floor including 
employment assistance, referrals to drug and alcohol services, the 
Street to Home program, communal kitchens and training courses.

The Beacon was constructed with Commonwealth and State 
funding, together with contribution of the land by the Salvation 
Army and donations and pledges raised through their Doorways of 
Hope Appeal. The project significantly increases the supply of crisis 
and transitional accommodation in the metro area as part of the 
State Government’s Affordable Housing Strategy.
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Foyer Oxford Project, Leederville

Foyers were introduced in France in the 1950s 
and function as integrated learning and 
accommodation centres providing safe and 
secure housing, support and training. They 
are intended to transform the lives of young 
people and help find a permanent home and 
a job as quickly as possible. 

Built on-site at the Central Institute of 
Technology in Leederville, the Foyer Oxford 
provides transitional accommodation for 
young men and women between 16 and 25 
and will assist them with life skills, training and 
educational opportunities. 

The Foyer Oxford project is the outcome of 
the government, education and not-for-profit 
sectors working together in partnership.

The State Government contributed $9.1 
million towards the building through the 
Authority, with Commonwealth funding of 
$10.7 million. The Authority also contributed 
$1.1 million for site works. 

Lotterywest contributed $3.2 million to 
the project for the building fit-out and the 
Department of Child Protection and Family 
Support and BHP Billiton will each  
provide $5 million over five years towards 
operational costs.

The Foyer Oxford is managed by Foundation 
Housing, which has a 50-year lease over the 
building, with support services provided 
by Anglicare and the Central Institute of 
Technology delivering training and education. 

Launching the development, the Premier said 
he was proud the country’s first purpose-built 
Foyer is a Western Australian initiative and 
commended the partners and supporters of 
the project for their commitment.

THE FOYER OXFORD WAS OFFICIALLY OPENED BY THE 
PREMIER, HON COLIN BARNETT MLA ON 6 MARCH 2014, 
AND PROVIDES A PLACE TO CALL HOME FOR UP TO 98 
YOUNG WESTERN AUSTRALIANS IN NEED OF SPECIALIST 
ASSISTANCE AND SUPPORT. 

A new place to call home: 
the Foyer Oxford
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Growing social housing

Growing the community housing sector
The Authority continues to support the State Government’s 
initiatives to strengthen the capacity of the community  
housing sector. 

During 2013-14, the Authority drafted a new administratively 
based regulation framework for the community housing sector. 
The objectives of the regulations are to improve tenant  
outcomes and protect vulnerable tenants, protect government 
funding and equity, and to ensure investor and partner 
confidence. These new regulations will provide for consistency 
with the National Regulatory System for Community Housing 
and are based on a co-regulation model, in recognition of 
success of the State Government’s efforts with the community 
and not-for-profit sectors. 

Asset transfer
The Asset Transfer Program forms part of the Affordable 
Housing Strategy to increase the supply of social and affordable 
housing in Western Australia. Under this program, the Authority 
transfers the management of leasehold stock and the title of 
some freehold public assets to the community housing sector. 
Transferring to the community sector works to increase the 
supply of dwellings available for social housing, by providing 
an asset for the sector to leverage against, and thereby borrow 
funds to procure additional social and affordable housing.

During 2013-14, the Authority transferred $50 million worth of 
public housing assets to community housing growth providers.

Eight community housing organisations have committed to a 
combined growth target of 518 units by 2020. During the year, 
105 units of social and affordable housing were completed by 
the community housing organisations, including some projects 
outlined below:

 30 one and two-bedroom units in Broome (North) completed 
by Foundation Housing Ltd; 

 63 units completed by Access Housing Ltd located in 
Australind, Hilton and Coolbellup; and

 12 two-bedroom units in Albany completed by Great 
Southern Housing Association.

Victoria Street, Bunbury
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Housing for people  
with complex needs

Combined Capital Bid Program 
In 2011-12 the State Government allocated $151 million to the 
Authority for the procurement of 284 dwellings for people 
with complex needs. A further $45.4 million over two years was 
allocated to the Disability Services Commission, Mental Health 
Commission and Drug and Alcohol Office to provide support for 
clients who would occupy the:

 169 homes for 340 people with disability;

 100 homes for 100 people with mental illness; and

 15 short term transitional houses for people exiting alcohol 
and other drug treatment services.

The aim of this initiative was to assist clients with high support 
needs to move from unsuitable care arrangements to their own 
rental accommodation by providing a coordinated package 
of housing and support. As at 30 June 2014, the Authority has 
delivered a total of 281 dwellings. Efficiencies achieved through 
the implementation phase will provide for the construction of 
more than 20 additional dwellings, exceeding the housing target.  
When all housing is in place around 415 people with disability will 
have been housed.

 

During the year, the Authority worked closely with the other 
agencies involved to review the effectiveness of this initiative.  
The review found that:

 the procurement process applied by the Authority was 
effective in delivering the required dwellings by the 
respective agencies and clients;

 people living in these properties were pleased with their 
homes and reported many positive outcomes, such as 
increased independence and freedom, improved relationships 
with families and new social networks;

 good working relationships between the Authority, Disability 
Services Commission, Mental Health Commission and Drug 
and Alcohol Office contributed to the success of the  
initiative; and

 housing providers and support providers sought 
opportunities to share information and develop a better 
understanding of each other’s priorities, and, to work with 
State Government agencies to increase supported housing 
supply and develop new accommodation support models.

The Authority worked closely with the Disability Services 
Commission, Mental Health Commission and Drug and Alcohol 
Office to review the project and identified that it had been 
successful in achieving positive outcomes for clients and 
developed a strong collaboration between Government and not-
for-profit housing and support providers.
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Robert’s new place  
has transformed his life

MOVING INTO A HOME OF YOUR OWN FOR THE FIRST 
TIME AT AGE 47 MAY SEEM A BIT LATE FOR MOST 
PEOPLE, BUT ROBERT ISN’T LIKE MOST PEOPLE.

Robert with his sisters Lynda and Rhonda

Robert became intellectually and physically 
disabled at the age of seven, spent the next 
40 years in a group home for people with 
cerebral palsy, uses a wheelchair to get 
around, and requires a high level of care.

As daunting as these challenges may 
seem, they haven’t prevented Robert from 
getting a place to call his own. Thanks to 
the Authority and the Disability Services 
Commission, and an innovative partnership 
with a not-for-profit organisation called My 
Place, Robert recently moved out of his 
Belmont group home and into a home he 
can call his own.

Due to Robert’s disability, the Authority 
decided to purchase land and build a fully 
modified home that was suitable. The 
three-bedroom brick and tile home was 
constructed on a strategically chosen block. 
The choice was strategic because Robert’s 
sisters Lynda and Rhonda live nearby. 

“This has been fantastic for Robert,” Rhonda 
said. “It’s been absolutely life-changing 
for him. He’s already made friends up 
and down the street and he’s had Lynda 
and I put out invitations for a ‘meet the 
neighbours’ get together later this month.”

The area is also much quieter than Robert’s 
old neighbourhood and he happily goes 
down to local shops in his wheelchair.

My Place’s brief is to help people with 
disability live independently and although 
he still requires a high-level of care, Robert’s 
life is now a world away from where it was 
at the group home.

Robert’s three-bedroom brick and tile home 
was funded via the Combined Capital Bid 
with support funding provided through 
the Disability Services Commission and 
constructed by the Authority. Registered 
Growth Provider Community Housing 
Limited has a 10 year head lease to manage 
the property.
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Commitments to Disability  
Services Commission and  
Mental Health Commission
SUPPORTED HOUSING BID

In 2011-12, the State Government approved a further $8.7 million 
in capital funding for 2012-13 to 2014-15. This funding is to meet 
the needs of people with severe and persistent mental illness 
and complex care needs who have support packages funded 
through the Mental Health Commission, and will deliver 16 
community-based houses for people with mental illness. The 
Authority completed six houses in 2013-14, bringing the total 
to eight completed under this funding initiative. In addition, six 
units for the Mental Health Commission were funded through 
a Commonwealth grant to assist people into individualised 
community living.

ROCKY BAY INCORPORATED

The Disability Services Commission provided $4 million to 
the Authority for the construction of seven houses for Rocky 
Bay Incorporated. Rocky Bay Incorporated is a not-for-profit 
organisation providing care and support to a large number of 
people of all ages living with disability.  

Completed in February 2014, the project comprises two four-
bedroom group houses, four two-bedroom and one single-
bedroom house; and can accommodate 18 residents and their 
carers. Independent living units have been designed to be fully 
accessible and include specialised inbuilt features for residents 
with special and complex needs. The houses have attained a 
minimum six-star energy efficiency rating and attributes of the 
site have been utilised to maximise environmental sustainability.

CAPITAL FUNDING FROM DISABILITY SERVICES COMMISSION

The Authority received an additional $8 million this financial 
year to continue providing housing for people with disability 
through the Community Disability Housing Program.  Housing 
construction is to occur in following years.

SUB-ACUTE FACILITIES FOR MENTAL HEALTH COMMISSION

The State Government allocated $12.8 million capital funding 
in 2011-12 to deliver two subacute mental health facilities in 
Rockingham and Joondalup.  These home-like facilities will 
provide the needed care and support to people with mental 
illness, in order to stay out of hospital; or a secure, safe place to 
go to after hospital care. A 12-unit complex was purchased in 
Rockingham this financial year comprising 11 residential units and 
one staff unit. The complex will be renovated during 2014-15 to 
meet the requirements of the Mental Health Commission. The 
subacute facility in Joondalup was completed in the previous 
financial year.

In addition, the Commonwealth Government approved $2.5 
million capital funding in 2013–14 for the Broome sub-acute 
service in the National Partnership Agreement on Improving 
Public Hospital Services. Land has been purchased in Broome for 
a facility consisting of six resident units and one staff unit.  
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Aboriginal Housing

National Partnership Agreement on 
Remote Indigenous Housing
NPARIH establishes a framework through which services 
are provided to discrete remote and town based Aboriginal 
communities in Western Australia. NPARIH’s aim is to facilitate 
important reform in the provision of housing and to address 
overcrowding, homelessness, poor housing condition and  
severe housing shortage. 

The Agreement’s key strategies are to grow the supply of quality 
housing, ensure that houses are well maintained and managed 
to mainstream standards.  The Agreement provides increased 
employment opportunities, facilities and opportunities to 
support people moving from remote communities and resolve 
land tenure issues to secure the government’s investment.

Capital works is the primary element of NPARIH, aimed to  
address housing conditions and overcrowding. By the end of the 
first six years, 1,288 refurbishments and 480 new houses were 
required to be completed.

The Authority used a close relationship management approach 
(early builder involvement) with the private sector to build new 
houses and undertake refurbishments. As at 30 June 2014, 1,299 
refurbishments and 497 new houses have been completed in 74 
remote communities across the State at a cost of $409.8 million.

The 2013-14 target was exceeded with 267 refurbishments  
and 124 new houses constructed at a cost of $88.5 million across 
29 communities.

The State and Commonwealth Governments agreed to an 
average 20 per cent Aboriginal employment level for all housing 
capital works projects.  In 2013-14, an average of 33 per cent 
Aboriginal employment rate was achieved on these projects with 
151 Aboriginal people employed during the period in NPARIH 
construction and refurbishment projects.

Property and tenancy  
management services
The Authority delivers a comprehensive housing management 
service to 2,493 houses in 120 remote discrete Aboriginal 
communities. The Authority currently contracts six regionally 
based, primarily Aboriginal organisations for the delivery of 
housing management services to 1,379 community houses 
across the State.

A further 1,114 houses are directly managed by the Authority. 
Both delivery methods provide funds of $4,000 per house 
annually for repairs and maintenance, to supplement individual 
household rental income.  

National Partnership Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing property76
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In addition, total funding including contract and operational 
costs of $19.554 million was released to Direct Management and 
the regional service providers in 2013-14. 

The implementation of a suite of policies that deliver public 
housing property and tenancy management services has been 
fully implemented and all service providers have embedded and 
implemented these policies. As a result, a focus on improvement 
in performance outcomes has achieved pleasing results, with all 
service providers meeting satisfactory standards of performance.   

The Authority has also been working to implement a new 
property and tenancy management information system from 
1 July 2013. Activities undertaken include developing training 
for delivery to front line employees, and making required 
amendments to current practice to align with the new system.

Make Good Reform
The Make Good Reform project was established to assist 
Aboriginal housing organisations in regional towns and urban 
areas improve the quality of service provided to tenants. This was 
realised by enabling Aboriginal housing organisations to attain 
registration as mainstream community housing providers. 

The refurbishment program included within the project has 
brought housing stock up to public housing standard, thereby 
increasing capacity to deliver a viable service. Four Aboriginal 
housing organisations have undergone a business development 
reform process, with three achieving registration at the level of 
Preferred Provider Registration Status of Community Housing in 
Western Australia. 

As at 30 June 2014, the project’s refurbishment target of 336 
properties has been met, and extensive support and training 
has been provided to the organisations. The Make Good Reform 
Project was completed by 30 June 2014.

Rent reform
Consistent with the introduction of public housing standards 
to remote Aboriginal communities, rent reform has been 
introduced in a staged manner since 1 July 2013 for tenants in 
remote communities with houses newly built or refurbished 
under the NPARIH.  

The new rents are capped at a maximum of 25 per cent of 
assessable household income, in line with other Western 
Australian public housing. In parallel, there is a comprehensive 
schedule of rolling inspections and maintenance programs to 
ensure that health, safety and amenity levels are maintained. As 
of 30 June 2014, over 30 per cent of relevant tenants have been 
successfully signed to the new rent model.
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Aboriginal community 
infrastructure

Remote Area Essential Services Program
On behalf of the State Government, the Authority is responsible 
for maintaining power, water and waste water services in up to 91 
remote Aboriginal communities under the Remote Area Essential 
Services Program (RAESP), which provides:

 repairs and maintenance of power, water and waste water 
infrastructure for approximately 11,000 people; and 

 maintenance and monitoring of water quality in accordance 
with Australian Drinking Water Guidelines – in collaboration 
with the Department of Health. 

The Authority received $30 million from the Department 
of Regional Development, through Royalties for Regions to 
continue to deliver the provision of water, power and waste 
water services.  

Existing and ageing water, power and waste water infrastructure 
in RAESP communities (estimated to be worth approximately 
$765 million), requires increased repair and maintenance 
expenditure in order to function. 

In the 2013-14, the Authority’s capital works program included:

WATER QUALITY IMPROVEMENTS

Fifty-one projects were delivered improving water quality 
throughout 35 communities with $12 million of funding provided 
by the Department of Regional Development through Royalties 
for Regions. Works included upgrades and replacement of 
infrastructure associated with water and waste water services, 
ranging from the installation of water treatment systems, water 
and waste water reticulation repairs and improvements to 
electrical components associated with the water services.

WATER SUPPLY

Through the former Commonwealth Government Department 
of Sustainability Environment, Water Population and 
Communities, an allocation of $10 million was made available 
to deliver 20 projects across 15 communities in the State, 
ranging from the replacement of water tanks and associated 
infrastructure through to bore upgrades and the installation of 
water reticulation.

Aboriginal apprentice working on one of the Authority’s construction projects78
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Transform
Our partners and stakeholders
The Affordable Housing Strategy signalled the critical importance of 
partnerships across government, industry and the community sector in 
achieving its outcomes. During the course of the year, the Authority has 
actively pursued opportunities to build productive relationships with key 
stakeholders through collaboration on a range of initiatives.

Partnerships 
The Authority continues to pursue partnerships with private and public 
sector partners to deliver mixed tenure developments that break new 
ground in delivering real affordability within commercial projects. Through 
the innovative use of Government land and investment, a number of 
developments have been able to attract private sector capital, increase 
housing supply and deliver much needed affordable housing. 

In the Perth CBD an initial investment of approximately $6 million in 
land value has facilitated the financing and construction of a $73 million, 
161 apartment development incorporating social housing, discounted 
rentals through NRAS, shared equity home ownership opportunities, 
and ordinary market sales. The One on Aberdeen development also 
incorporates seven commercial units. 

A new partnership between the Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
and the Authority will fast-track the supply and creation of 1,300 units 
of affordable housing within Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 
project boundaries by 2020. This will help ensure the ongoing supply 
and availability of affordable housing in key strategic locations across the 
metropolitan area.  

Housing Industry Forecasting Group
Comprising key industry and State Government agencies, the Housing 
Industry Forecasting Group continues to be a reliable source of housing 
supply forecasts for Western Australia. This group provides valuable 
information on supply trends to policy makers and industry through its 
twice yearly reports. The Authority and the Department of Planning jointly 
fund and provide the secretariat function of the Group. 

Inter-agency relationships and agreements
The Authority maintains relationships with other government agencies, 
not-for-profit organisations and the private sector to ensure strategic 
and operational outcomes are achieved through ongoing liaison and 
relationship building with stakeholders. 

During 2013-14, the Authority established a Memorandum of 
Understanding with the Australian Federal Police and reviewed and 
updated the agreement with the Western Australia Police for sharing of 
information. 

Furthermore, the Authority funded a dedicated Information Request 
Officer at Western Australia Police to process requests for information by 
both agencies. This has significantly improved the timeliness and quality 
of information exchanged and has been of particular benefit to the 
Authority’s Disruptive Behaviour Management Unit when investigating 
and managing complaints under the Disruptive Behaviour Management 
Strategy.

In addition the Authority updated the agreement with the Royal Society 
for Protection and Care of Animals establishing protocols for information 
sharing and access to properties.
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Housing Authority walls transformed 
by impressive art

WALLS ON THE AUTHORITY’S WELLINGTON 
STREET, PERTH, PUBLIC HOUSING APARTMENTS 
WERE TRANSFORMED DURING APRIL 2014 AS 
PART OF AN INNOVATIVE URBAN ART PROJECT, 
RUN BY ARTS ORGANISATION FORM. 

Close up of art by Phlegm, Perth CBD

The Authority provided walls on the 
Wellington Street apartments to be painted 
as part of PUBLIC, a celebration of urban art 
and creativity that brought to Perth and the 
Pilbara urban, visual, and digital artists from 
around the world. Over nine days, 30 walls 
and laneways were transformed with street 
art, projections, installations, and public 
events by 45 artists. 

“Here at Housing we want to be a good 
corporate citizen and neighbour,” General 
Manager, Organisational Transformation, 
Duncan Mackay said. 

“Public art enriches cities and is accessible to 
all as you don’t have to pay to see it. 

“As a property developer and through 
our joint ventures, we already ensure that 
public art is part of our major development 
projects.”

The Authority already ensures that public 
art is part of its major development 
projects, and PUBLIC provided a forum to 
be involved in an innovative project that is 
transforming the Perth CBD and providing 
enjoyment to the community and tenants.

International artists ROA (Belgium) and 
Phlegm (United Kingdom), painted the  
walls in Wellington Street. 

ROA, known for his numbat painting in 
Fremantle, painted a snake on the larger 
surface, the largest piece that he has ever 
painted. Phlegm’s artwork is on the second 
wall, and features his trademark intricate 
detailing and depicts his creation story. 

PUBLIC was Phlegm’s first visit to Australia 
and consequently the first wall he painted 
in the country as well.

Walls were also transformed at an Authority 
property run by Foundation Housing on 
Hampton Road in Fremantle as part of the 
festival. This is the first activity of many 
that will take place over the next twelve 
months as part of a pilot project to build 
their cultural engagement work. Activities 
that will occur include cooking workshops, 
workshops with tenants working  
alongside professional artists and 
photography programs. 
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Innovating through research  
and development
The Authority continues to partner and collaborate with 
academia and research institutions to develop innovative, 
sustainable solutions for a range of housing needs in Western 
Australia. These partnerships enable the Authority to grow, 
improve and diversify products, services and industry capabilities. 
The Authority supports research and development initiatives 
including:

 Cooperative Research Centre for Water Sensitive Cities.  
The Authority is one of the partners supporting this is 
a decade long multi-million dollar, Australia-wide and 
international venture to transform the way new cities are 
designed and to improve existing ones through better urban 
water management.  As a demonstration of its support for 
ground-breaking innovation and transformational projects, 
the Authority is one of the government partners that hold 
‘essential participant’ status on the key reference group that 
reports to the Centre’s Board. 

 In 2013-14, the funding provided by the Authority enabled 
soil research progress to occur on a trial being undertaken 
in Gosnells. The purpose of the trial is to ascertain the 
effectiveness of soil amendments in preventing leaching of 
nutrients into the groundwater. The trial will provide new 
approaches for development in low lying areas.  

 Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information – 
Greening the Greyfields. The Authority in partnership with 
the Cooperative Research Centre for Spatial Information 
participated in the ‘Greening the Greyfields: Precinct 
Visualisation and Community Engagement’ research project. 

 This is an ongoing project involving Curtin University, 
Swinburne University, University of Canterbury and the 
Authority. The project seeks to develop a suite of strategies 
and decision making tools to inform the strategic application 
of spatial information to urban planning decision making 
enhancing economic, social and environmental outcomes 
relating to greyfield areas (middle suburban redevelopment). 
Current research is focussed on the development of 
visualisation and performance assessment tools for precinct 
regeneration projects with future research to focus on 
identifying policy barriers preventing widespread use of 
spatial data in decisions affecting redevelopment in the 
middle suburbs. 

 Solar membrane distillation process trial. As a provider 
of essential services such as water and power to remote 
communities in Western Australia, the Authority, in 
conjunction with National Centre of Excellence in Desalination 
and Murdoch University, continued to explore solutions to 
address the limited fresh water supply in remote aboriginal 
communities.  The project trials an innovative distillation 
process that aims to develop a new water treatment system 
that may provide additional sustainable potable water to 
communities.

 After extensive research and a successful laboratory trial, a 
small water treatment unit was installed at the Tjuntjuntjarra 
community, located approximately 800 kilometres east of 
Kalgoorlie. The unit has been monitored whilst in operation 
as part of the on-site testing requirements. The result of this 
trial project will be documented in a feasibility report that will 
be produced to review the performance and suitability of this 
system for future consideration and potential suitability for 
project application.
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 Use of rammed earth in Aboriginal communities of Australia 
project with the University of Western Australia. The Authority 
with funding support from the Australia Research Council has 
supported a research project undertaken by the University of 
Western Australia investigating the use of rammed earth in 
remote Australian communities. The partners in the research 
project are the University of Western Australia, the Authority, 
Ramtec Pty Ltd, Scott Smalley Partnership Pty Ltd and Durham 
University. 

 This project addresses the lack of an Australian Standards code 
supporting its wide spread use of rammed earth construction. 
Qualitative and quantitative characterisation of the material 
and structural properties of rammed earth were undertaken 
through laboratory and on-site experimental tests. The project 
will result in a first ever ‘Proposal Form for Australian Standards 
Development’ for rammed earth structures to be submitted 
to Standards Australia. The laboratory testing phase of the 
project has been completed and two houses funded by the 
Authority were constructed in Kalgoorlie in the course of the 
project with one house being of traditional rammed earth 
and the other as insulated rammed earth.

 

The Authority is supporting a second Australian Research 
Council funded research project being undertaken by the 
University of Western Australia in the investigation of the 
Thermal Performance of Rammed Earth Residential Buildings 
& Implications in Energy Saving Design. This project will 
measure the performance of the houses constructed in the 
first research project.

 Commonwealth Liveable Cities Program – Parking 
requirements. The Authority has participated in research 
funded under the Commonwealth Liveable Cities program, 
into appropriate statutory parking requirements for the 
viable delivery of different forms of mixed use activity 
centres and transit orientated development. This study was 
part of a broader agreement, executed by the Department 
of Infrastructure and Transport and the City of Whittlesea 
(Victoria) with sub-agreements entered into by several local 
authorities across Australia, including the City of Kwinana. The 
Authority was jointly responsible with the City of Kwinana for 
a component of this research. 

 Sustainable Built Environment National Research Centre 
– Housing Innovation. The Authority is a participant in 
research through the Sustainable Built Environment National 
Research Centre, and in particular the Australian Research 
Council Linkage research project entitled “From innovators 
to mainstream market: A toolkit for transforming Australian 
housing and maximising sustainability outcomes for 
stakeholders”.  

Rammed earth construction, Kalgoorlie82
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 This project seeks to identify and evaluate strategies used by 
innovators in the housing supply chain to enhance housing 
performance. Project objectives include the capture and 
analysis of actions and culture of early adopters of innovative 
approaches, measurement and quantification of performance 
outcomes resulting from these actions, and evaluation of the 
environmental, social and economic impacts of the actions 
and outcomes. Such knowledge will inform the development 
of strategies and processes that can be incorporated into 
the culture and practices of housing supply chain agents to 
enable delivery of the sustainable performance outcomes 
required of housing now and into the future.

 The University of Western Australia and the Australian Urban 
Design Research Centre - Courtyard housing typology research 
design studio. The Authority participated in a joint University 
of Western Australia and Australian Urban Design Research 
Centre design research studio project to explore the potential 
and implications of the courtyard housing typology for 
middle suburban infill development. The project involved a 
group of 20 Masters students, conducting individual research 
and design work relating to an infill site, over the course of a 
one semester research/design program. The Authority’s role 
included brief formulation, as well as teaching/assessment.

This year the Authority also became a member of the Curtin 
University based Sustainable Built Environment National Research 
Centre, which will provide another avenue to promote innovation 
and best practices in the local housing market. Initial projects the 
Authority will be involved in include a supply chain assessment 
to leverage greater value for the manufactured building industry 
supply chain and the development of a Strategic Evaluation 
Framework to assess options for cost effective program delivery 
and affordable housing products across Australia. 

83

STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE OVERVIEW APPENDICESAGENCY 

PERFORMANCE

SIGNIFICANT 
ISSUES IMPACTING 
THE AUTHORITY

DISCLOSURES 
AND LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

CONTENTS



Our business 

Affordable housing web portal
On behalf of the State Government, the Authority developed 
a new web portal, www.affordablehousing.wa.gov.au, which 
provides a central online location for Western Australians to 
access information on the range of affordable housing products 
and services offered by government. The new portal has 
organised affordable housing information into a simple, clear, and 
intuitive interface that immediately presents the most popular 
and relevant information at a glance.

Innovation
In September 2013 the Authority launched ‘Innovate’, a broad 
based engagement program aimed at harnessing innovative 
ideas from employees. The program supports a culture of 
innovation by engaging our employees in identifying and 
realising innovative improvements to products, services and 
internal business processes.  This is a key aspect of transformation 
in the Authority.

Supported by a cross functional team of Idea Champions,  
and an online forum for posting and discussing ideas, the 
program has engaged 85 per cent of the Authority’s employees 
in helping to generate over 250 ideas.  These ideas range from 
incremental business improvements through to step change 
ideas with the potential to offer innovative housing options for 
Western Australia. 

New strategic plan developed
As a significant market-based agency, the Authority operates 
across the land, housing and finance sectors to deliver and 
facilitate affordable and social housing solutions for the growing 
population of Western Australia. During 2013-14 the Authority 
developed a new five year strategic plan. The plan contains the 
broad strategic directions that the Authority will pursue over the 
remainder of this decade.  

The development of the plan included extensive environmental 
scanning by the Corporate Executive and input from senior 
leaders within the agency. The plan provides a framework 
for the Authority to respond to shifts in market conditions, 
community expectations and the housing policies of the State 
and Commonwealth Governments. Strategic Plan 2020 outlines 
the strategies that need to be pursued in order to fulfil our vision 
of opening doors. It also affirms the Authority’s commitment to 
work in partnership to build economic and social prosperity by 
enabling Western Australians to have a place to call home. The 
Strategic Plan was launched to employees across the State in May 
2014 and comes into effect on 1 July 2014.

New tenancy management system
The Authority continues to use technology to drive business 
change and deliver more efficient and effective business practice.

The Authority’s bespoke tenancy management system, known 
as Caretaker is being replaced with a new housing management 
system, which is used in 30 jurisdictions globally. The web based 
system, which we have named Habitat is more user friendly for 
employees and will enable the Authority to standardise and 
improve its tenancy management.
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During 2013-14 the Authority has configured and tested the new 
system and provided extensive change management activities, 
in anticipation of a ‘go live’ during the first half of 2014-15. 

Property inspection technology
In November 2012 the Authority commenced work to implement 
the use of a smart device inspection application to improve the 
quality of property inspections. The Authority aims to inspect 
each rental property at least once every 365 days.

Property inspections are one of the key points of contact 
between tenants and the Authority. With more than 50,000 
inspections conducted annually, inspections have a threefold 
purpose; to check safety devices, engage with tenants and check 
the maintenance and standards of the property.

The mobile Housing Inspection Application replaces a 
cumbersome and unreliable combination of PDA (personal 
digital assistant), camera and paper based report.

The new tablet application provides a simple, easy to use, and 
practical business tool which streamlines business operations. 

Live connectivity provides accurate data coupled with significant 
benefits like date stamping and geo-tagging of photographs 
taken from within the application. Designing the application to 
install on a tablet means other core business applications are also 
available via the one smart device. 

A smart mobile device provides benefits by improving:

 quality and consistency of inspections;

 quality of record keeping;

 efficiency of the inspection process by reducing the level of 
manual administration;

 the delivery platform, enabling continuous improvements to 
the process; and

 visibility of issues identified through the inspection process, 
via the tablet’s camera function.

The Authority’s housing inspection application recorded its first 
completed inspection on 23 July 2013 and over 99 per cent of 
the Authority’s rental properties were inspected by 30 June 2014.   

Mobile Housing Inspection Application
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Our People
The Authority strives to build a strong and supportive workplace 
by creating a collaborative and innovative culture that enables 
our talented people to excel in the work they do and to make a 
difference. Our workforce activities focus on building employee 
capabilities, transforming the organisation’s culture, system and 
processes as well as recognising diversity. 

Workforce planning and diversity
The Authority continued to implement its Equity and Diversity 
Management Plan 2011-2014 with a number of initiatives 
undertaken to promote diversity within the workplace during 
2013-14. Additional equity and diversity contact officers were 
trained providing employees with at least one contact officer in 
each of the Authority’s regions. 

The Authority offers a range of Women in Leadership 
development opportunities including skills workshops, 
discussion forums and sponsorship for attendance at training 
and conferences that further the advancement of women. 
The Authority continues to participate in the Public Sector 
Commissioner’s School Based Traineeship Program and 
is currently employing two school based trainees in its 
metropolitan offices.

As 2014 represented the last year of the Equity and Diversity 
Management Plan 2011-2014, the Authority completed a review 
of the plan and combined it with the Workforce Plan to create 
the new Workforce and Diversity Plan 2014-2017. The new plan 
ensures a cohesive, compliant and comprehensive approach to 
workforce planning, with the objective of having an agile, skilled 
and diverse workforce that can deliver our strategic direction and 
operational needs. 

Graduate program
The Authority has continued with its formal graduate program 
and has currently seven graduates, with a yearly intake of four 
graduates over a two year period. From 2014 this has increased to 
an annual intake of six graduates with two positions designated 
for Aboriginal graduates.

The program provides four rotations of three months throughout 
the Authority’s divisions in the first year and longer rotations 
dependant on business needs in the second year.  During their 
first year graduates participate in the Public Sector Commission’s 
Graduate Future Leaders Program and participate in the 
Authority’s Foundations of Leadership Development Program.

Three graduates completing the program in 2014 secured further 
employment with the Authority. 

Participants in the Authority’s graduate program
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Aboriginal employment 
The Authority continued to implement its Aboriginal 
Employment Strategy in 2013-14 as it works towards an increase 
in the representation of Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islanders 
in the workforce. The Aboriginal Employment Strategy places 
a strong emphasises on the need to create a supportive and 
culturally inclusive working environment, where Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander people feel valued. 

In 2013-14 the Authority completed analysis of an employee 
satisfaction survey released to seek feedback from Aboriginal and 
Torres Strait Islander employees. The survey findings have been 
communicated to employees through a series of workshops 
and will form the basis of new initiatives that will enhance the 
working environment at the Authority. 

A cultural protocols guideline has been developed to assist 
employees and contractors to work respectfully with Aboriginal 
and Torres Strait Islander people. The guideline provides 
information on culturally appropriate practices and on the 
importance of Welcome to Country and the Acknowledgement 
of Traditional Owners and Elders. The Authority conducts 
a Welcome to Country or Acknowledgement of Traditional 
Owners and Elders at significant events, training workshops and 
meetings. 

To further increase the cultural awareness of its employees, the 
Authority has adopted the online cultural awareness program 
developed by the Public Sector Commission. All employees 
are expected to complete this program, and from its launch in 
March 2014 to 30 June 2014, 279 people have accessed the online 
training module with a further 140 employees attending face to 
face Aboriginal Cultural Awareness training in 2013-14.  

All new employees are required to complete the online training 
in the first month of their employment.

A mentoring program is offered at the Authority where 
Aboriginal employees can be a mentor or a mentee to share  
their knowledge.

Housing Authority staff member
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Aboriginal traineeships
The Authority is a lead agency in the Public Sector Commission’s 
Aboriginal Traineeship program. Currently four Aboriginal 
trainees are working towards completion of their traineeships at 
the Authority’s head office and in regional locations. During the 
12 month program, trainees study for either a Certificate II or III in 
Government and are provided with an Aboriginal mentor who 
provides support and cultural security.

Upon successfully completing the program all trainees are 
offered a permanent position with the Authority and further 
study of either a Certificate III or IV in Government funded by 
the Authority. Seven trainees have been offered permanent 
employment.

Innovative recruitment
The Authority is trialling new approaches in public sector human 
resource management as part of its transformation program. 

This included implementation of a pilot program for a more 
streamlined approach to the recruitment of customer service 
officers in the Perth Metropolitan Area.   The pilot has produced 
a shared pool of suitable applicants with strong customer service 
skills which can be utilised by various offices in the metropolitan 
area. Results of the pilot and related initiatives will be evaluated 
during 2014-15. 

Corporate induction
The Authority provides new employees with a comprehensive 
corporate induction including a full day session that provides 
employees with the opportunity to engage with the Corporate 
Executive, to become familiar with the vision, mission and values 
of the Authority and to understand how their role fits within 
the organisation. During 2013-14, 213 metropolitan and regional 
employees attended an induction session. 

Learning and development
The Authority is dedicated to providing a learning environment 
in which employees can broaden their skills and develop future 
capabilities to achieve their goals.

The Authority’s development and training programs enable 
employees to contribute to achieving its strategic goals by 
developing their capabilities in order to meet the current and 
future demands of its dynamic business environment. During 
2013-14 corporate training programs focussed on encouraging 
and building innovation, creative thinking, leadership  
and ‘people skills’.

Housing Authority corporate induction
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Marie Thorne, 2014 NAIDOC Perth Awards Female Elder of the Year recipient

Frontline training
Operational training is provided to frontline employees across 
the State to build their capability and capacity. During 2013-
14, training was provided to 33 Customer Service Officers, 37 
Housing Service Officers and 47 Property Service Officers. The 
Distance Training strategy, initiated during 2012-13, continues 
to provide country officers with improved access to facilitated 
training without leaving their office, and has achieved travel and 
accommodation savings of more than $100,000.

During 2013-14, five new courses were designed and piloted in 
addition to the existing suite of training. Additional courses under 
development will extend the scope of training beyond preparing 
officers for employment to extension training for officers as they 
become more experienced in their role. 

The design of further training is being accelerated through 
the use of national competencies as a basis of design, which 
has been enabled by all operational training officers achieving 
qualifications in Certificate IV Training and Assessment during  
the year. 

Leadership
The Authority has a strong commitment to leadership and 
employee development. Leadership programs have been 
developed that commence with individual development to 
transformational leadership.

Leadership programs offered in 2013-14 include the Foundations 
of Leadership and Future Leadership Programs. The Authority 
has developed both a Senior Executive Leadership Program and 
an Aboriginal Leadership Training public course developed in 
conjunction with the Australian Institute of Management and 
Kooya Consultancy for commencement in late 2014.

Reconciliation 
The Authority is working towards building positive relationships 
with Aboriginal and Torres Strait Islander people. During 2013-14 
the Authority participated in a variety of events to celebrate  
and build better partnerships with Aboriginal people  
and communities.

The Authority continued for a second year, its sponsorship 
of the Male and Female Elder of the Year Awards at the 2014 
National Aborigines and Islanders Day Observance Committee 
(NAIDOC) Perth Awards. Sponsorship of these awards provides an 
opportunity for the Authority to acknowledge and celebrate the 
vital role that elders play in Aboriginal families and communities.  
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NAIDOC Week, Flag Raising Ceremony

The Authority celebrated NAIDOC Week with a Flag Raising 
Ceremony at its Plain Street head office and hosted events 
at several regional offices to mark the occasion. Employees 
attended the NAIDOC Opening Ceremony Event in  
Wellington Square, East Perth and hosted a stall providing 
information and answering questions on affordable housing 
options. Volunteers from the Authority participated in 
community events including the Jacaranda Community Centre 
NAIDOC Family Day and the Town of Bassendean and Derbarl 
Yerrigan Health Service NAIDOC Family Day. 

To celebrate Reconciliation Week, the Authority sponsored 
banners for display in the Perth CBD as part of the Reconciliation 
Week Street Banner Project recognising the importance of 
mutual respect, cultural awareness and understanding.

The Authority continued to develop a renewed Reconciliation 
Action Plan during 2013-14. The plan is being collaboratively 
developed through a working party comprising of Aboriginal 
and non Aboriginal employees with input from all business 
divisions within the Authority.

An ongoing Reconciliation initiative is an Aboriginal Art Program 
established to acknowledge the importance of local culture and 
Aboriginal people as traditional custodians of the land. Artworks 
are to be progressively located in the foyers of offices throughout 
the State. 
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Distance can make communication with 
tenants in remote communities difficult, 
especially when the closest housing  
office is hundreds of kilometres away, and 
even harder when combined with cultural 
and language considerations.

To meet the outcomes sought through 
the National Partnership Agreement on 
Remote Indigenous Housing, and in line 
with the State’s recently amended Residential 
Tenancies Act 1987, the Authority implemented 
a standardised model of property and 
tenancy management in remote Aboriginal 
communities similar to public housing.

While the new model includes specific social, 
cultural and geographical considerations 
it entailed some significant and complex 
changes for remote tenants that needed to 
be well managed.  

Although a client seeking assistance with 
their tenancy can usually access an interpreter 
service when they visit a metropolitan 
housing office, this service is seldom available 

in remote communities where English  
is not the primary language spoken.

The variety of languages spoken across 
the Kimberley, Pilbara and Central Desert 
locations where new and refurbished 
housing was being delivered presented a 
communications challenge.

Materials were developed through 
community engagement  and to help 
connect with the audience these 
transformative productions were based on 
real situations and utilised humour  
in storytelling.

The innovative multi language campaign 
developed in Walmajarri, Kimberley Kriol and 
English language versions, provided a focus 
on changes to rent calculation as well as 
tenancy rights and responsibilities. Materials 
included locally based radio and television 
advertising as well as talking posters, a new 
technology that allows a button to be pushed 
to activate a spoken message.

THE AUTHORITY PROVIDES 
HOUSING ACROSS A 
GEOGRAPHICAL AREA LARGER  
THAN WESTERN EUROPE. 

Deadly Tenants, Deadly Homes:  
Communicating in remote communities

Deadly Tenants, Deadly Homes campaign

Still  from campaign
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Significant Issues 
Impacting  
the Authority
This section provides a summary of significant 
current/emerging issues that impact/may 
impact upon the Authority.

Osprey Workers Village, South Hedland92
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Our environment
Affordable housing matters. From young families who cannot 
afford their first home, to older people with few downsizing 
options, to lower income workers who cannot afford to rent near 
their jobs. The ensuing shortage of affordable housing and lack 
of product diversity in Western Australia now affects almost every 
sector of the community.

The reasons for these problems are systemic and encompass 
both supply and demand factors. Population growth, availability 
of land, the cost of labour, availability of capital, the regulatory 
environment and the adequacy of the income support system 
are key variables impacting on affordability of housing. Just as the 
factors influencing housing affordability are many and varied, the 
impact of this lack in affordability goes beyond the simple need 
to house people. 

While prices in Western Australia have stabilised somewhat in the 
last two years – when compared with the rapid escalation seen 
in years past – the average rent and purchase price of a home are 
still three times higher than they were eight years ago and wages 
have not kept pace.

For example, a teacher in their third year of work has an annual 
salary of around $75,800. The median purchase price of a unit in 
Perth during the March 2014 quarter was $445,000. At that price 
the cost to buy is almost six times the teacher’s annual salary; and 
more than seven times their salary if they were to buy a median 
priced home of $540,000 in the same quarter. Furthermore, in 
order to meet the deposit requirements of traditional lenders, 
households that are renting while they save for a deposit may 
find themselves in that situation for up to 14 years. 

The now persistent shortage of affordable housing 
disproportionately affects the most vulnerable members of our 
community. People on the minimum wage now need to pay 75 
per cent of their income to rent an average home, up from 35 
per cent only eight years ago. People who are living on income 
support payments essentially have no options outside of the 
social housing system. A growing cohort of older people in  
rental accommodation are entering retirement both asset and 
income poor, with rent payments consuming the majority of 
their income.

Housing affordability is a problem that demands a whole of 
government response. This is the reason why the government 
put the State’s Affordable Housing Strategy in place, to be led by 
the Authority, alongside key reforms to the planning system and 
other areas of government.
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Land and affordable housing
In 2014-15, the Authority, through its land development activities, 
intends to produce up to 2,214 housing lots including 1,323 lots 
developed with joint venture partners. Significant land development 
will support affordable, public and community housing throughout 
metropolitan and regional areas. It is anticipated that of the 
residential lots sold 30 per cent will be in the lower quartile of the 
market.

The Authority, through the Government’s Affordable Housing 
Strategy continues to work with the private and not-for-profit sectors 
to increase the diversity and supply of affordable housing options 
and to take pressure off the social housing system. Innovative 
partnerships, procurement and construction methods have already 
delivered 16,000 new affordable homes as at the end of June 2014, 
with the Government well on its way to achieving its minimum 
target of 20,000 new affordable housing opportunities  
by 2020.

Affordable home ownership
Home ownership outcomes are supported through the SharedStart 
shared equity home loan initiative. Since 2011, SharedStart has 
assisted more than 780 low income households to purchase a 
home via Authority co-ownership and Keystart home loans, and 
created approximately $60 million in assets for the State in the form 
of equity in co-owned properties. Low to moderate income earners 
are benefitting from government co-ownership, which significantly 
reduces their mortgage costs. Properties are delivered through the 
Authority’s Expression of Interest Program, under which the  
Authority is securing a range of affordable, entry level homes.  

Investment into medium and higher density developments is 
securing opportunities to maintain affordability in inner-city locations 
and regional markets such as Karratha. The successful initiative is part 
of a broader affordable home ownership program and has already 
financed and delivered 1,064 properties.

Affordable rental
The Authority has been working to deliver service worker 
accommodation in regional communities under the Affordable 
Housing Strategy and Royalties for Regions - Affordable Housing 
initiative. This includes targeted interventions such as key and service 
worker housing and employment related accommodation to ensure 
that key and essential services are maintained in regional areas. These 
initiatives ensure that businesses and non government organisations 
are able to attract and retain qualified and experienced staff to 
maintain quality services.

The Royalties for Regions - Housing for Workers initiative will commit 
$355.5 million over seven years (2011-12 to 2017-18) to provide 
affordable, available and appropriate housing for key workers in 
regional Western Australia. Of the $355.5 million, $200.9 million has 
been approved for eight projects located in Karratha, Port Hedland, 
Onslow, Newman and the Avon Valley. These eight projects are 
expected to provide 608 housing opportunities for up to 914 
regional key workers. 

The 2014-15 Commonwealth Budget announcement stated that 
Round 5 of NRAS would not proceed, saving the Commonwealth 
Budget about $1 billion over 12 years. Incentives already allocated  
through earlier rounds of the scheme will continue to be paid for 
eligible dwellings delivered on time and in agreed locations.
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The State Government supported a total of 7,000 NRAS incentives 
under the scheme. The decision not to proceed with Round 5 
will mean that Western Australia has lost 1,568 incentives that 
would have delivered affordable private rental dwellings for those 
on low to moderate incomes.

Despite Round 5 not proceeding, NRAS projects that are already 
approved have made and continue to make, a significant 
contribution to the State Government’s Affordable Housing 
Strategy and help take the pressure off many low to moderate 
income households in the private rental market. As at 30 June 
2014, 2,432 NRAS dwelling have been delivered and made 
available for rent. The remaining incentives are required to be 
delivered by 30 June 2016. 

Social housing
Another key component of the strategy to deliver more 
affordable houses is the Public Housing Stock Redevelopment 
strategy which will result in the redevelopment of 200 sites by 
the Authority over the period 2013-14 to 2015-16, to deliver  
500 new affordable homes, financed via a $55 million, three  
year loan facility.

In 2014-15, the Government will commit a further $3.4 million to 
the Authority to construct homes for Mental Health Commission 
clients with severe and persistent mental illness and complex 
care needs. The overall $55 million investment over four years 
from 2011-12 will deliver 116 homes to enable people to live in 
the community.

The Government has invested $12 million over four years 
from 2012-13 to 2015-16, to support the implementation of its 
Disruptive Behaviour Management Policy for public housing.  
The funding has enabled 35 additional specialised staff members 
to be employed in regional and country areas. The dedicated 
resources manage and investigate tenancy complaints from 
the public and ensure public housing tenants who engage in 
disruptive behaviour are held accountable for their behaviour. 
The success of the policy is evidenced by the reduction in  
the number of strikes issued between the first and  
subsequent strikes.

In 2014-15 the Authority will commence a four year Electrical 
Safety Device program that will ensure publicly owned housing 
stock have compliant electrical safety devices installed,  
including Residual Current Devices (RCDs) and smoke alarms.

As part of its commitment to supporting outcomes for  
people in remote communities, the Government has also 
committed to a range of initiatives that will benefit Aboriginal 
Western Australians.

The Authority will receive Royalties for Regions funding of $33 
million over four years, from 2013-14, for the West Kimberley 
Transitional Housing program. This will deliver up to 60 new 
houses in Broome (40) and Derby (20) to facilitate the transition of 
selected Aboriginal tenants from public housing to independent 
housing options. The transitional housing project is a joint 
venture between the Kimberley Development Commission and 
the Authority.
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The Government through Royalties for Regions will commit 
$16 million over three years from 2012-13 towards a partnership 
to deliver apprentice and trainee employment related 
accommodation in South Hedland and Newman as part of the 
Pilbara Cities program. 

The Authority has partnered with the Department of Regional 
Development, the Commonwealth Government and BHP Billiton 
Iron Ore to construct and operate accommodation that will 
support Aboriginal employment and independent living in the 
Pilbara. In particular, it will provide opportunities for people aged 
16 to 25 in remote Aboriginal communities. The 48 bed complex 
in South Hedland will be completed in 2014-15 and a design for a 
similar complex in Newman will commence.

The Government is funding the construction of a 54 bed short 
stay accommodation facility for Aboriginal people in Derby. 
This culturally appropriate short stay accommodation will 
recognise the movement of Aboriginal people between remote 
communities and regional centres for medical, personal and 
business purposes and to visit family or friends. The Royalties for 
Regions Derby short term accommodation project will commit a 
further $1.3 million in 2014-15 as part of a three year, $11.4 million 
program planned to be completed in July 2015.

National Partnership 
Agreements 
The Commonwealth Government has expressed its desire to 
redefine the respective roles of States and the Commonwealth 
and has announced a broad review of housing and 
homelessness programs within the context of the Council of 
Australian Governments led White Paper on Reform of the 
Federation.  To the extent that the Commonwealth seeks to 
review its existing funding commitments in order to clarify  
roles and reduce overlap between different levels of  
government, there may be implications for the sustainability  
of current programs.
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Essential services
The Authority is responsible for the RAESP. The program provides 
a cyclical maintenance and breakdown service for power, water 
and wastewater infrastructure in up to 91 remote Aboriginal 
communities and water quality testing in those communities to 
ensure compliance with Australian Drinking Water Guidelines. 
These communities are occupied by approximately 11,000 
people and the essential services infrastructure has an estimated 
asset value of more than $765 million.

The Government, through RAESP delivers essential services to 
many remote Indigenous communities throughout the State. 
The Authority will receive $30 million per annum until 2016-17, 
through Royalties for Regions to continue the provision of water, 
wastewater, power and other essential services under RAESP. The 
provision of essential services continues to present a significant 
challenge, with much of the infrastructure ageing and becoming 
increasingly expensive to maintain and repair. 

The Commonwealth Government has historically had a 
significant funding role in providing essential and municipal 
services to remote Aboriginal communities and in particular for 
the provision of new and upgraded infrastructure, but is seeking 
to transfer its responsibilities to state and local governments. 

The Authority continues to work with other State Government 
agencies to negotiate suitable new service and funding 
arrangements for essential services with the Commonwealth 
Government.  
 

In the absence of funding and pending resolution of 
negotiations with the Commonwealth about long term funding 
responsibilities, $15 million has been allocated in the 2014-
15 State Budget to address critical health and safety risks in 
remote communities associated with ageing and inadequate 
infrastructure that has historically been funded  
by the Commonwealth.

This lack of an ongoing and sustainable source of capital works 
funding from the Commonwealth has placed additional stress 
on the RAESP maintenance budget as repairs and maintenance 
costs have increased due to ageing and inadequate infrastructure 
that in many cases is beyond its useful life. 

New building activity in recent years funded by the 
Commonwealth under NPARIH has placed additional pressure 
on already inadequate essential services infrastructure.  Without 
a long term funding agreement with the Commonwealth 
the current state of essential services infrastructure generally 
in remote communities is a major constraint to any new 
construction works and in particular the implementation of the 
proposed NPARIH building program for 2014-2016.
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Disclosures and 
Legal Compliance
This section contains the audited Financial 
Statements and Key Performance Indicators, 
other financial disclosures, and reports on 
compliance with various legislative requirements 
and Government policy requirements.

Housing Authority staff members98
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Auditor G
eneral’s O

pinion
 

Auditor General 

Page 1 of 3 
 

7th Floor Albert Facey House 469 Wellington Street Perth  MAIL TO: Perth BC PO Box 8489 Perth WA 6849  TEL: 08 6557 7500  FAX: 08 6557 7600 

   
 
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT 
 
To the Parliament of Western Australia 
 
HOUSING AUTHORITY 
 
Report on the Financial Statements 
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the Housing Authority and the 
consolidated entity. 
 
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2014, the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of Cash 
Flows of the Authority and the consolidated entity for the year then ended, and Notes comprising 
a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements 
The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and 
the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as the Director General determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements based on my audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with relevant ethical requirements 
relating to audit engagements and that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and 
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s 
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the Authority’s preparation and fair presentation of the 
financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the Director General, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the Housing Authority and the consolidated entity at  
30 June 2014 and their financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended. They are 
in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. 
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Page 2 of 3 
 

Report on Controls 
I have audited the controls exercised by the Housing Authority during the year ended  
30 June 2014. 
 
Controls exercised by the Housing Authority are those policies and procedures established by 
the Director General to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions. 
 
Director General’s Responsibility for Controls 
The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate system of internal control to 
ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of 
public and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in accordance with the Financial 
Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
controls exercised by the Housing Authority based on my audit conducted in accordance with 
Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of controls 
to ensure that the Authority complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of the design and implementation 
of relevant controls. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Housing Authority are sufficiently adequate to 
provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, the 
acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with 
legislative provisions during the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Report on the Key Performance Indicators 
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Housing Authority for the year ended  
30 June 2014.  
 
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness indicators and the key efficiency 
indicators that provide information on outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
Director General’s Responsibility for the Key Performance Indicators 
The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the key 
performance indicators in accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions and for such controls as the Director General determines necessary to 
ensure that the key performance indicators fairly represent indicated performance. 
 
Auditor’s Responsibility 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
key performance indicators based on my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing 
and Assurance Standards.  
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Page 3 of 3 
 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the key performance 
indicators. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the key performance indicators. In making 
these risk assessments the auditor considers internal control relevant to the Director General’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes evaluating the 
relevance and appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring the extent of 
outcome achievement and service provision. 
 
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my 
audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Housing Authority are relevant and 
appropriate to assist users to assess the Authority’s performance and fairly represent indicated 
performance for the year ended 30 June 2014. 
 
Independence 
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence requirements of the Auditor 
General Act 2006 and Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
 
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited Financial Statements and 
Key Performance Indicators 
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key performance indicators of the 
Housing Authority for the year ended 30 June 2014 included on the Authority’s website. The 
Authority’s management is responsible for the integrity of the Authority’s website. This audit does 
not provide assurance on the integrity of the Authority’s website. The auditor’s report refers only 
to the financial statements and key performance indicators described above. It does not provide 
an opinion on any other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these financial 
statements or key performance indicators. If users of the financial statements and key 
performance indicators are concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a 
website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited financial statements and key 
performance indicators to confirm the information contained in this website version of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators. 
 

 
GLEN CLARKE 
ACTING AUDITOR GENERAL  
FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA 
Perth, Western Australia 
15 September 2014 
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Financial Statements

Certification of Financial Statements
HOUSING AUTHORITY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR 
ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

The accompanying financial statements of the Housing Authority 
and the accompanying consolidated financial statements have 
been prepared in compliance with the provisions of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, from proper accounts and records, to 
present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year 
ending 30 June 2014 and the financial position as at 30 June 2014.

At the date of signing, we are not aware of any circumstances 
which would render the particulars included in the financial 
statements misleading or inaccurate.

Grahame Searle    Lorne O’Mara
Chief Executive Officer    Chief Finance Officer 
10 September 2014    10 September 2014

102

STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE OVERVIEW APPENDICESAGENCY 

PERFORMANCE

SIGNIFICANT 
ISSUES IMPACTING 
THE AUTHORITY

DISCLOSURES 
AND LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

CONTENTS



THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
Restated * Restated *

Note 2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Income
Sales 6 451,003 336,808 432,757 336,808
Rental revenue 7 447,784 430,121 447,784 430,121
Commonwealth grants and contributions 8 313,059 204,692 313,059 204,692
Interest revenue 9 195,240 200,027 109,071 115,399
Developers' contributions 9,514 5,536 9,514 5,536
Other gains 10 11,694 16,672 86,357 70,336
Total Income 1,428,294 1,193,856 1,398,542 1,162,892

Expenses
Cost of sales 6 246,298 221,920 240,579 221,920
Rental expenses 12 384,968 360,800 384,968 360,800
Community support expense 13 191,521 250,721 191,521 250,721
Employee benefits expense 14 128,618 101,824 128,198 101,512
Supplies and services 15 41,369 43,441 37,717 39,737
Depreciation & amortisation expense 16 137,376 132,003 136,255 131,155
Finance costs 17 149,107 162,980 149,132 162,797
Share of net losses of associate 27 18,043 2,245 - -
Accommodation expenses 18 14,113 12,560 13,185 11,643
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 11 17,947 8,323 17,947 8,323
Other expenses 19 135,527 151,508 119,163 134,877
Total Expenses 1,464,887 1,448,325 1,418,665 1,423,485
Loss before grants and subsidies from State Government (36,593) (254,469) (20,123) (260,593)
Grants and subsidies from State Government 8 87,923 51,744 87,923 51,744
Gain (Loss) for the period 51,330 (202,725) 67,800 (208,849)

Other Comprehensive income
Remeasurements of defined benefit liability 38 (386) (1,843) (386) (1,843)
Changes in asset revaluation surplus 41 683,393 32,900 683,400 32,909
Total other comprehensive income 683,007 31,057 683,014 31,066
Profit (Loss) Attributable to:
Consolidated Entity 47,789 (202,725) - -
Non-controlling interest 50 3,541 - - -

51,330 (202,725) - -
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Consolidated Entity 730,796 (171,668) - -
Non-controlling interest 50 3,541 - - -

734,337 (171,668) - -
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE PERIOD 734,337 (171,668) 750,814 (177,783)

* Refer to Note 3 for correction of prior year error.
Refer Note 5 'Schedule of income and expenses by service'
The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 30 JUNE 2014

Consolidated Parent
Restated * Restated *

Note 2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

ASSETS
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 20 243,669 186,438 207,291 148,073
Inventories 21 307,174 278,312 267,179 278,110
Loans and receivables 22 883,083 838,898 113,095 103,501
Other current assets 24 40,709 49,525 59,318 60,601
Non-current assets classified as held for sale 25 233 4,227 233 4,227
Other financial assets 26 200,026 219,300 19,350 19,350
Total Current Assets 1,674,894 1,576,700 666,466 613,862

Non-current Assets
Inventories 21 573,116 525,771 559,987 525,771
Loans and receivables 22 2,930,118 2,588,314 3,675,593 3,275,757
Deferred income tax asset 23 1,650 - - -
Other financial assets 26 24 24 18,024 24
Investment in associate 27 - 12,690 - 18,000
Rental properties 28 12,883,168 12,116,742 12,883,168 12,116,742
Community Housing properties 29 976,590 842,822 976,590 842,822
Shared Equity properties 30 584,067 559,199 584,067 559,199
Other properties 31 133,943 143,005 133,943 143,005
Plant & equipment 32 8,218 6,202 5,284 3,044
Buildings under construction 33 165,410 189,167 165,410 189,167
Intangible assets 35 23,384 13,648 22,196 12,286
Total non-current Assets 18,279,688 16,997,584 19,024,262 17,685,817
TOTAL ASSETS 19,954,582 18,574,284 19,690,728 18,299,679

LIABILITIES
Current Liabilities
Payables 36 149,345 101,661 140,473 101,661
Borrowings 37 322,450 114,299 321,150 114,299
Provisions 38 55,990 50,907 55,990 50,907
Other current liabilities 39 37,969 19,973 33,738 15,758
Total Current Liabilities 565,754 286,840 551,351 282,625

Non-current Liabilities
Payables 36 554 554 554 554
Borrowings 37 4,542,996 4,394,342 4,542,996 4,394,342
Provisions 38 13,976 11,874 13,976 11,874
Total non-current Liabilities 4,557,526 4,406,770 4,557,526 4,406,770
TOTAL LIABILITIES 5,123,280 4,693,610 5,108,877 4,689,395
NET ASSETS 14,831,302 13,880,674 14,581,851 13,610,284

      
EQUITY

Contributed equity 40 2,194,201 2,059,354 2,194,201 2,059,354
Reserves 41 9,652,288 8,968,895 9,651,548 8,968,148
Retained earnings 42 2,985,741 2,852,425 2,736,102 2,582,782
Total Equity attributable to the Consolidated Entity 14,832,230 13,880,674 14,581,851 13,610,284
Non-controlling interest 50 (928) - - -
TOTAL EQUITY 14,831,302 13,880,674 14,581,851 13,610,284

* Refer to Note 3 for correction of prior year error.
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Consolidated Parent

Note 2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Balance of equity at start of period 13,880,674 13,711,300 13,610,284 13,447,034

CONTRIBUTED EQUITY 40
Balance at start of period 2,059,354 1,836,711 2,059,354 1,836,711
Transactions with owners in their capacity as owners:

Capital contribution 113,183 106,303 113,183 106,303
Other contributions by owner 22,364 116,340 22,364 116,340
Distributions to owners (700) - (700) -

Balance at end of period 2,194,201 2,059,354 2,194,201 2,059,354

RESERVES 41
Balance at start of period 8,968,895 8,935,995 8,968,148 8,935,239
Profit from asset revaluation 781,410 173,531 781,410 173,531
Impairment loss on rental properties (12,104) (22,232) (12,104) (22,232)
Transfer to retained earnings (85,913) (118,399) (85,906) (118,390)
Balance at end of period 9,652,288 8,968,895 9,651,548 8,968,148

RETAINED EARNINGS 42
Balance at start of period 2,852,425 2,938,594 2,582,782 2,675,084
Transfer from reserves 85,913 118,399 85,906 118,390
Gain (Loss) for the period 47,403 (204,568) 67,414 (210,692)
Balance at end of period 2,985,741 2,852,425 2,736,102 2,582,782

Balance of equity at end of period 14,832,230 13,880,674 14,581,851 13,610,284

The Statements of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

THE HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2014

Consolidated Parent
Note 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Receipts

Commonwealth grants and contributions 313,059 204,692 313,059 204,692
Rental receipts 453,364 431,322 453,364 431,322
Interest received 198,644 207,470 101,706 127,365
Inventory receipts on sales 436,397 319,716 422,709 319,716
Other receipts 15,920 17,619 94,120 73,619
GST receipts on sales 3,148 1,770 3,148 1,770
GST receipts from taxation authority 48,513 73,934 46,975 73,934
Developers contributions 9,514 5,536 9,514 5,536

Payments
Employee benefits (108,271) (76,349) (108,271) (91,116)
Accommodation (13,185) (11,506) (13,185) (11,506)
Supplies & services (85,739) (104,584) (47,812) (49,592)
Finance costs (161,917) (176,268) (161,750) (176,268)
Purchase and development of inventory (342,801) (356,433) (309,035) (356,433)
GST payments on purchases (72,891) (73,887) (72,891) (73,887)
GST payments to taxation authority - (460) - (460)
Rental property payments (385,503) (376,573) (385,503) (376,573)
Other payments (247,536) (282,571) (268,141) (282,571)

Net cash used in operating activities 43 60,716 (196,572) 78,007 (180,452)

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Receipts

Proceeds from the sale of non-current physical assets 101,657 134,420 101,657 134,420
Home loan repayments received 750,243 689,020 - -
Proceeds on obtaining control of associate 6,197 - - -
Other investing receipts 3 - 125,003 435,000

Payments
Purchase of non-current physical assets 44 (303,271) (305,751) (302,613) (304,143)
New home loans advanced (1,138,475) (588,031) (23) (2)
Other investing payments (1,950) (19,350) (525,000) (194,350)

Net cash used in investing activities (585,596) (89,692) (600,976) 70,925

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Receipts

Proceeds from borrowings WA Treasury Corporation 580,900 225,000 580,900 225,000
Payments

Repayment of borrowings from
    WA Treasury Corporation (198,009) (476,245) (198,009) (476,245)
    Commonwealth Government (14,769) (14,406) (14,769) (14,406)

Net cash used in financing activities 368,122 (265,651) 368,122 (265,651)

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT
Capital contribution 113,183 106,303 113,183 106,303
Royalties for Regions Fund 12,964 110,400 12,964 110,400
Proceeds from grants 87,923 51,744 87,923 51,744

Net cash provided by State Government 214,070 268,447 214,070 268,447
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 57,312 (283,468) 59,223 (106,731)
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 386,373 669,841 148,058 254,789

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT THE END OF PERIOD 43 443,685 386,373 207,281 148,058

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Australian Accounting Standards

General

The Housing Authority (the "parent entity") and controlled entities financial statements for the year ended 30 June
2014 have been prepared in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting
Standards' includes Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian Accounting Standard Board (AASB).

The Housing Authority has adopted any applicable, new and revised Australian Accounting Standards from their
operative dates.

Early adoption of standards

The Consolidated Entity cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. No Australian Accounting
Standards that have been issued or amended but not operative have been early adopted by the Housing Authority
for the annual reporting period ended 30 June 2014.

2. Summary of significant accounting policies

(a) General statement

The Housing Authority is a not-for-profit entity that prepares general purpose financial statements in
accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts
and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB as applied by the Treasurer’s instructions. Several of
these are modified by the Treasurer's Instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s instructions impose legislative provisions that govern
the preparation of financial statements and take precedence over Australian Accounting Standards, the
Framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the AASB.

Where modification is required and has had a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results,
details of that modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

(b) Basis of preparation

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost
convention, modified by the revaluation of land and buildings, and certain financial instruments which have
been measured at fair value. The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements
have been consistently applied throughout all periods presented unless otherwise stated. The financial
statements are presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars
($'000) or, in certain cases, to the nearest dollar.

(c) Basis of consolidation 

The reporting entity comprises the Authority and controlled entities included in note 2(d).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared by combining the financial statements of all entities
that comprise the Consolidated Entity, being The Housing Authority (the "parent entity") and its controlled
entities, in accordance with AASB 127 “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” and modified by
Treasurer's Instruction 1105. Consistent accounting policies have been applied and all inter-entity balances,
transactions and unrealised profits arising within the Consolidated Entity are eliminated in full.

Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the group and cease to be
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred out of the group.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(d) Legal form of controlled entities

(i) The Keystart Housing Scheme includes a trust and company structure set up to enable funds to be raised
through the Housing Authority at competitive rates and on lent to Keystart borrowers for the purchasing of
owner occupied homes.
The structure comprises of:
- The Keystart Housing Scheme Trust established by a Deed of Trust in the State of Western Australia,
dated 5 April 1989 with Keystart Loans Ltd (a special purpose nominal capital company) as trustee and
the Authority is the sole beneficiary of the trust. Keystart Scheme Management Pty Ltd has been
appointed as Manager.
- Keystart Support Trust - A special purpose trust used to provide financial support to the Scheme if
required. The Housing Authority is the sole beneficiary of this trust.
- Keystart Bonds Ltd - A special purpose nominal capital company being the Issuer with KPMG Financial
Advisory Services (Australia) Pty Ltd (replacing Oakvale Capital Ltd) as treasury advisor.
- Keystart Support Pty Ltd - A special purpose nominal capital company as trustee of the support trust.
The manager is Keystart Scheme Management Pty Ltd.
- Keystart Support (Subsidiary) Pty Ltd - A special purpose nominal capital company created to assist
Keystart Support Pty Ltd in its obligations.

Keystart Scheme Management Pty Ltd - A special purpose nominal capital company created to provide
management services to the Keystart Trustee and group of companies.
All of these Keystart trusts and companies have been established in the State of Western Australia. The
financial transactions for these entities have no effect on the net profit of the Housing Authority. The
Housing Authority provides a support arrangement to the structure through the Support Trust.

(ii) Homeswest Loan Scheme Trust - A special purpose Trust established by a Trust Deed in the State of
Western Australia dated 19 September 1995 to operate as an agent for the Housing Authority's home loan
schemes. In its capacity as agent, the Trust receives advances for the purpose of providing mortgages to
Western Australians. The Housing Authority is the sole beneficiary of the Trust, and Keystart Loans Ltd is
the trustee of the Trust.

(iii) Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd - A property development company to assist the Housing Authority
achieve its objectives. The Authority has equity interest of 54.5% and effective control via representation 
on the Board of this company, effective 30 September, 2013
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(e) Ownership interest

The Housing Authority is the instigator of the Keystart Housing Scheme and has effective control over the
whole structure either directly or indirectly through various agreements which constitute the structure and to
which it is a party.  The Board of Directors of the Keystart group of companies comprise one Director from the
Housing Authority and seven directors from the private sector. 

The Housing Authority is a shareholder in Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd and comprises two directors from
the Government of Western Australia and one from the private sector.

The ownership interest held by the Housing Authority in the companies is as follows:
Keystart Bonds Ltd : 100% of the total shareholding
Keystart Loans Ltd : 100% of the total shareholding
Keystart Support Pty Ltd : 100% of the total shareholding
Keystart Support (Subsidiary) Pty Ltd: 100% of the total shareholding
Keystart Scheme Management Pty Ltd: 100% owned by Keystart Loans Ltd
Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd: 54.5% owned by the Housing Authority.

Controlled entities and contribution to retained earnings.
Contribution to Investment

Percentage Consolidated Entity shares
Name owned result ($000) at cost ($000)

2014 2014 2013 2014 2013
Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd 54.5 18,000 18,000

Profit 7,783 -
Keystart Bonds Ltd 100 Nil Nil - -
Keystart Loans Ltd 100 Nil Nil - -
Keystart Support Pty Ltd 100 Nil Nil - -
Keystart Support (Subsidiary) Pty Ltd 100 Nil Nil - -
Keystart Housing Scheme Trust 

(Loss)/Profits (6,211) 8,368
Transfer from Reserve 7 9

Keystart Support Trust Nil Nil
Homeswest Loan Scheme Trust Nil Nil

The Housing Authority is obligated to the Scheme in that it has given various representations and obligations
to investors or other creditors to the extent that it will meet cash shortfalls and losses from the Scheme.
Funding for Keystart is through the Housing Authority with no borrowings outstanding through Keystart Bonds
Ltd. The Housing Authority's obligations to the various participants are contained in a Support Agreement of
the Scheme. No subsidies were required from the Housing Authority for the 2013-14 financial year.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(f) Property, plant and equipment

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of
utilising assets is expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives.  Items of property, plant and equipment
costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (other
than where they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total).

Initial recognition and measurement

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at
the date of acquisition.

Subsequent measurement

Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation model is used for the measurement of land,
buildings and historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land and buildings are carried at fair
value less accumulated depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses. All other items of
property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.
Where market-based evidence is available, the fair value of land and buildings is determined on the basis of
current market values determined by reference to recent market transactions. When buildings are revalued by
reference to recent market transactions, accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying
amount of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

Additions to non-current physical assets are measured at cost and are considered to represent fair value.
less than one year old are measured at construction cost, which is considered to represent fair value, 
plus land at fair value.

Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the Western Australian Land Information Authority
(Valuation Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying amount does not differ materially from 
the asset's fair value at the end of the reporting period.

When buildings are revalued, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount
of the asset and the net amount restated to the revalued amount.

Rental properties represent the properties acquired or constructed for public housing. They also include State 
owned properties leased to State Government departments for Government employees housing.

Community Housing properties include properties acquired under the Commonwealth and State programs of
Crisis Accommodation and Community Housing and Joint Charity Properties.

Shared Equity properties represent the equity in dwellings constructed or purchased under the Shared Equity
Scheme. Under the scheme the Housing Authority and the purchaser are co-owners of the properties
constructed or purchased as Tenants in Common with the purchaser having total occupation of the dwelling. 
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

Other Properties includes offices and commercial properties which are owned or are leased from various 
organisations and individuals. 

Derecognition

Upon disposal or derecognition of an item of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure, any revaluation 
surplus relating to that asset is transferred to retained earnings.

Asset revaluation reserve

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current
assets.

Depreciation and amortisation

All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful
lives in a manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits. Land is not depreciated. 
Depreciation for the Consolidated Entity's assets is calculated on a straight line basis, using rates which are
reviewed annually.

Major depreciation rates are: 2014 2013

Rental properties 2% 2%
Community Housing properties 2% 2%
Shared Equity properties 3% 3%
Other properties
    - Commercial properties 2% 2%
    - Office properties 5% 5%
Plant & equipment 10% - 50% 10% - 50%
Intangible assets 20% - 50% 20% - 50%

Works of art controlled by the Authority are classified as property, plant and equipment.  These are anticipated
to have indefinite useful lives.  Their service potential has not, in any material sense, been consumed during
the reporting period and consequently no depreciation has been recognised

Land is not depreciated.

(g) Buildings under construction

Buildings under construction are recorded at cost which includes all costs directly related to specific
constructions plus capitalised administration charges incurred in connection with these activities.

(h) Inventories

Current Inventories are measured at the lower of cost or net realisable value. Costs includes the cost of
acquisition/development and other capitalised costs.  After development is completed, other holding charges
are expensed as incurred.

Non-current inventories consists of both broad hectare land and lots under development, excluding lots
available for external sale (current inventory), which are valued at acquisition cost plus capitalised costs. 
Developed lots on which dwellings are subsequently constructed by the Housing Authority are transferred to
the stock of Rental properties at fair value as determined by the Valuer General at the date of practical
completion. The difference between this valuation and the cost of the land transferred to Rental properties
represents a revaluation increment which is brought to account as an increase in the asset revaluation reserve.

Work in progress for house and land packages are classified as non - current whilst they are being
 constructed and reclassified as current when they are available for sale.

111

STATEM
EN

T O
F 

CO
M

PLIA
N

CE
O

VERVIEW
A

PPEN
D

ICES
AG

EN
C

Y 
PERFO

RM
A

N
CE

SIG
N

IFIC
A

N
T 

ISSU
ES IM

PAC
TIN

G
 

TH
E AU

TH
O

RITY

D
ISCLO

SU
RES 

A
N

D
 LEG

A
L 

CO
M

PLIA
N

CE
CO

N
TEN

TS



THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(h) Inventories (continued)

Joint venture land

Joint venture land represents the Housing Authority's equity in joint venture land development projects.
Development costs represent the agreed  proportion of development costs incurred plus capitalised costs.
Land owned by the Housing Authority is shown at cost plus capitalised costs.
Interests in joint venture operations have been incorporated in the financial statements by including the Housing
Authority's share of assets employed in the joint ventures, the share of liabilities incurred in relation to the joint
ventures and the share of any revenue and expenses incurred in relation to the joint ventures in their respective
classification categories. Details of the Housing Authority's interests are set out in note 21.

(i) Loans and receivables 

Receivables are recognised at original invoice amount less an allowance for  any uncollectible amounts (i.e.
impairment). The collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as
uncollectable are written-off against the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectable amounts is raised
when there is objective evidence that the Consolidated Entity will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying
amount is equivalent to fair value.  These debts are due for settlement within 30 days with the exception of the
following receivable categories.

Receivables land - are carried at nominal amounts.  Sales and receivables are recognised once the debtor
has obtained financing and the sale has become unconditional.  Land sales are on a 30 day term once the
sale has become unconditional.
Receivables rent from tenants - are carried at nominal amounts due less any provision for impairment.
Rent receivable is due weekly in advance.
Receivables rental bonds - are carried at nominal amounts due less any provision for impairment.  Rental
bond assistance receivables represent advances made to qualifying persons for the purpose of renting
properties external to the Housing Authority. Each advance is repayable in minimum fortnightly payments
of $15 for loans granted prior to 1 July 2009 and $25 per fortnight for loans granted from 1 July 2009 with
remaining balance being collectable on vacation of property unless an arrangement is entered into to repay
over time.

Loans

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not
quoted in an active market. The collateral held for these loans is by a registered mortgage held over the
property.

Recognition and derecognition
Financial assets that are carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value and
transaction costs are expensed in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.  Loans and receivables are
initially recognised at fair value.  Transaction costs, including loan origination expenses, are included in the
measurement of all loans and advances.  The loan origination fees are being amortised in equal instalments
over the average life of the loans.  Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on
trade date, which is the date on which the Consolidated Entity commits to purchase or sell the assets.

Financial assets are derecognised when the right to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired
or have been transferred and the Consolidated Entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership.

Subsequent measurement
Loans and receivables are carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss are subsequently carried at fair value.  Gains or losses
arising from changes in fair value of the 'financial assets at fair value through profit or loss' category are
presented in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise.

Fair value
The fair value of the financial assets traded in active markets is based on quoted market prices at the
Statement of Financial Position date. If the market for a financial asset is not active (and for unlisted
securities), the Consolidated Entity establishes fair value by using valuation techniques. These include the use
of recent arm’s length transactions, reference to other instruments that are substantially the same, discounted
cash flow analysis, and option pricing models making maximum use of market inputs and relying as little as
possible on entity-specific inputs.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(i) Loans and receivables (continued)

Impairment of loans
The Consolidated Entity assesses at the end of the reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. In case of loans and receivables, an allowance for
impairment is made when there is objective evidence that the loan will not be collectable. When a receivable is
impaired, the Consolidated Entity reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount, being the estimated
future cash flow discounted at the original effective interest rate of the instrument and continues unwinding the
discount as interest income.

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of the
loss is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income within 'Doubtful Debts expense’. When a loan or
advance is uncollectable, it is written off against the allowance account for loans and advances. Subsequent
recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against 'Doubtful Debts expense' in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

(j)  Derivative financial instruments and hedging

There were no derivative financial instruments related to the Consolidated Entity in the current financial year.

(k) Intangible assets

Computing software and development

Capitalisation/expensing of assets

Acquisition of intangible assets costing less than $5,000 are expensed in the year of acquisition. Where
software is an integral part of the related hardware, it is treated as property, plant and equipment. Where the
software is not an integral part of the related hardware, it is treated as an intangible asset.

Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost
is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

Costs associated with the acquisition and development of computer systems and software are amortised from
the commencement of live production of the system. Development costs are deferred to future periods to the
extent that future economic benefits, are expected beyond any reasonable doubt, to be equal to or exceed
those costs. Deferred costs are amortised, from the commencement of live production of the system, on a
straight line basis over the period of their expected benefit. 

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit
(estimated useful life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All intangible assets controlled by
the consolidated entity have a finite useful life and zero residual value. The expected useful lives for each class
of intangible asset are:

2014 2013
Computing software 20% - 50% 20% - 50%
Computing development 20% 20% 

(l) Other financial assets

(a) Deposits at call

The fair values of the Bank bills are determined using generally accepted pricing models based on discounted
cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions.

(b) Investments in associate and subsidiaries.

Associates are all entities over which the Housing Authority has significant influence but not control or joint
control. During the 2012/13 financial year, the investment in Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd was classified
as an associate within AASB 128 ''Investment in Associates".  During the year, the underlying nature of this
investment changed and this investment is now classified as a subsidiary within AASB 127 “Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements”. The principal place of business is Success, Perth, Western Australia.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(l) Other financial assets (continued)

(c) Parent Financial Statements
The investments in subsidiaries and associate are accounted for in the parent financial statements at cost.  The
Housing Authority recognises dividends from the subsidiaries and associate when its right to receive the
dividend is established.

Investments in associate are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of the reporting period.  Where
there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated.  Where the recoverable amount is
less than the carrying amount, the investment is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable
amount and an impairment loss is recognised.

(d) Consolidated Financial Statements

(i) The investment in associates is accounted for in the consolidated view of the financial statements using the
 "Equity" method of accounting after initially being recognised at cost. Any goodwill is included in the carrying 
amount of the investment. 

The Housing Authority's share of its associate's post-acquisition profits or losses is recognised in profit or
loss, and its share of post-acquisition other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive
income.  The cumulative post- acquisition movements are adjusted against the carrying amount of the
investment.  Dividends receivable from the associate are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of
 the investment.

When the Housing Authority's share of losses in the associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate,
including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Housing Authority does not recognise further losses,
unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Housing Authority and its associates are eliminated to the
extent of the Housing Authority's interest in the associate.  Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred.  Accounting policies of the associate
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Consolidated
Entity.

(ii) The investment in subsidiary is accounted for in the consolidated financial statements in accordance with
AASB 127. In preparing consolidated financial statements, the financial statements of the parent and the 
subsidiaries have been combined line by line by adding together like items of assets, liabilities, equity, income 
and expenses. In order that the consolidated financial statements present financial information about the 
Consolidated Entity as that of a single economic entity:

(a) the carrying amount of the parent’s investment in each subsidiary and the parent’s portion of equity of
each subsidiary are eliminated.

(b) minority interests in the profit or loss of consolidated subsidiaries for the reporting period are identified; and

(c) minority interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are identified separately from the parent
shareholders’ equity in them. Minority interests in the net assets consist of:

(i) the amount of those minority interests at the date of the original combination calculated in accordance
 with AASB 3 - Business Combinations and
(ii) the minority’s share of changes in equity since the date of the combination.

(m) Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets held for sale are recognised at the lower of carrying amount or fair value less costs to sell
and are disclosed separately in the Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised. 
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(n)  Impairment of assets

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at the end of
each reporting period. Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. Where
the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down
to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is recognised.  Where an asset measured at cost is written
down to recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  Where a previously revalued
asset is written down to recoverable amount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrement in other
comprehensive income.  As the Consolidated Entity is a not-for-profit entity, unless a specialised asset has
been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to
sell and depreciated replacement cost.

The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially
understated, where the replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. Each
relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects
the level of consumption or expiration of the asset's future economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment
risk from falling replacement costs.

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for 
impairment at the end of each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment

The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and
the present value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset.  Surplus assets carried at fair
value have no risk of material impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at
risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured.  Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications
of impairment at the end of each reporting period.

(o) Payables 

Payables are recognised when the Consolidated Entity becomes obliged to make future payments as a result
of a purchase of assets or services at the amounts payable. The carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as
they are generally settled within 30 days with the exception of the following classes of payables.

Payables land deposits - are recognised on receipt of cash.
When the sale becomes unconditional the Housing Authority retains the deposit as part of the sale process. 
Payables construction retention monies - are repaid upon 100% completion of the contract with 2.5%
withheld to satisfactory completion of maintenance agreement.
Payables rental bonds - tenant bonds are payable on the tenant vacating the premises.  The ultimate
amount to be  paid is dependent upon the condition of the property upon the tenant vacating, but is not more 
than the carrying  amount of the liability. 
Payables water consumption - liabilities are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for water usage.
Liabilities are settled on 90 day terms. 

(p) Borrowings

All borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, being the net proceeds received. Subsequent measurement
is at amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Interest is charged as an expense as it accrues. 
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(q) Income

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is
recognised for the major business activities as follows:

(i) Rental property revenue
The Housing Authority charges rents in accordance with section 30 of the Housing Act. The basis for the
amount of rent to be charged is determined from market rent information received from the Valuer General
and due consideration to regional rental markets. Rental property revenue represents the net rental
revenue which consists of market rents less vacancies, concessions and rental subsidies granted
throughout the year. Rental income is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

(ii) Sales
Revenue from land sales is recognised when the contract for sale becomes unconditional.

(iii) Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions.
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Consolidated Entity obtains control over the assets
comprising the contributions, usually when cash is received.
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. 
Contributions of services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services
would be purchased if not donated.

Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair value in the period in which the Housing
Authority obtains control over the funds.  The Housing Authority obtains control of the funds at the time the
funds are deposited into the Housing Authority's bank account.

(iv) Interest
Interest income is recognised as interest accrues using the effective interest rate method.

Gains

Realised and unrealised gains are usually recognised on a net basis. These include gains arising on the
disposal of non-current assets.

(r) Insurance

In accordance with Treasurer's Instruction 812 the Housing Authority maintains an appropriate level of
insurance cover for insurable risks.

Effective from 1 July 2004 the Housing Authority has adopted a policy of not insuring its residential property
assets as it is considered uneconomical. As part of the Housing Authority's ongoing risk management
process a comprehensive analysis of the Housing Authority's risk exposure to its residential property assets
was completed during 2012.  The Housing Authority's residential property assets continue to remain not
insured as it is considered uneconomical. The Housing Authority's other insurance programs continue to be a
combination of insurance policies provided by commercial insurance providers and the Western Australian
Government's RiskCover Fund.
As per Treasurer’s Instruction 825, Insurance is complemented by a comprehensive approach to Risk 
Management and prudent management policies and practices.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(s) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing or amount. The Housing Authority only recognises a provision
where there is a present legal, equitable or constructive obligation as a result of a past event and when the
outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at the end of each reporting period and adjusted to reflect the
current best estimate.

(i) Employee benefits

All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of employees' services up to the end of the
reporting period.

Annual leave 

Annual leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of reporting period and is
therefore considered to be other long term employee benefits’. The annual leave liability is recognised and
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled using the
remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows

The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as the Housing Authority does not have an
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.

Long service leave

Long service leave is not expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the reporting
period is recognised and measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid when the
liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate expected to apply at the time of settlement.

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary
levels including non-salary components such as employer superannuation contributions, as well as the
experience of employee departures and periods of service.  The expected future payments are discounted
using market yields at the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity
that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash outflows.

Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as the Housing Authority
does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end
of reporting period. Pre-conditional and Conditional long service leave provisions are classified as
non-current liabilities because the Housing Authority has an unconditional right to defer the settlement of
the liabilities until the employee has completed the requisite years of service.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(s) Provisions (continued)

Superannuation

The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB)  and other fund providers administer public
sector superannuation arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative requirements. 
Eligibility criteria for membership in particular schemes for public sector employees vary according to
commencement and implementation dates.

Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme closed to new
members since 1987, or the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit lump sum
scheme closed to new members since 1995.

Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension 
Scheme or the GSS became non-contributory members of the West State Superannuation Scheme
(WSS). Employees commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the GESB
Super Scheme (GESBS).  From 30 March 2012, existing members of the WSS or GESBS and new
employees  have been able to choose their preferred superannuation fund provider. The Authority makes
contributions to  GESB or other fund providers on behalf of employees in compliance with the
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation Guarantee (Administration) Act 1992. Contributions to
these accumulation schemes extinguish the Authority’s liability for superannuation charges in respect of
employees who are not members of the Pension Scheme or GSS.

The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for employees who transferred to the GSS are defined
benefit schemes. These benefits are wholly unfunded and the liabilities for future payments are provided at
the end of the reporting period. The liabilities under these schemes have been calculated separately for
each scheme annually by external actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

The expected future payments are discounted to present value using market yields at the end of the
reporting period on national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible,
the estimated future cash outflows.

The GSS, the WSS and the GESBS Scheme, where the current service superannuation charge is paid by
the Authority to the GESB, are defined contribution schemes. The liabilities for current service
superannuation charges under the GSS Scheme, the WSS Scheme, and the GESBS Scheme are
extinguished by the concurrent  payment of employer contributions to the GESB.

The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. 
However, from an agency perspective, apart from the transfer benefits, it is a defined contribution plan 
under AASB 119.

(ii) Other

Employment on-costs

Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax, are not employee
benefits and are recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they
relate has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of the Authority’s ‘Other expenses' and the
related liability is included in Employment on-costs provision. 

Development levies

Is a provision calculated on lots sold and community projects representing fencing and landscaping
incentives for first home buyers to purchase Housing Authority land. The provision represents the
estimated liability at balance sheet date for future claims by the purchasers against the Housing Authority.

(t) Accrued salaries

Accrued salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued
salaries are settled within a fortnight of the financial year end.  The Authority considers the carrying amount of
accrued salaries to be equivalent to its fair value.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(u) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are expensed when incurred and represents the total finance costs in the Statement of
Comprehensive Income.

(v) Superannuation expense

Superannuation expense is recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income in profit or loss for defined 
contribution plans, including the concurrent payment of employer contributions to the GSS scheme, as and
when the contributions fall due.

For defined benefit plans (the Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer component of the GSS), changes in the
defined benefit obligation are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income either in profit or loss, 
or other comprehensive income as follows:
(i) profit or loss:

current service cost;
past service cost; and
interest cost.

(i) other comprehensive income:
actuarial gains and losses.

(w) Leases

The Housing Authority has entered into a number of operating lease arrangements for buildings and vehicles
where the lessors effectively retain the majority of the risks and benefits incidental to ownership of the items
held under the operating leases. Equal instalments of the lease payments are charged to the Statement of
Comprehensive Income over the lease term, as this is representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived
from the leased property.

(x) Rental expenses

Expenses incurred relating to the Housing Authority's owned or leased rental properties are accounted for in
the Rental expenses line of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. These expenses which directly relate to
the Rental Program include maintenance, rates, insurance expenses and renovations and improvements.

(y) New Living expenses

Expenses incurred relating to the Housing Authority's owned rental properties involved in the New Living
program are accounted for in the New Living expenses line of the Statement of Comprehensive Income. These
expenses include renovations and minor improvements.

(z) Comparative figures

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the 
current financial year.

(aa) Segment Information

The Consolidated Entity's operations are divided into four specific services. 
These are:
Rental Public Housing -  providing access to affordable rental accommodation for low to moderate income 
Western Australians;
Rental Government Employees - providing access to rental accommodation for government employees in
regional areas;
Loans - providing realistic home ownership opportunities for low to moderate income Western Australians
provided by the Housing Authority and through its Keystart Housing Scheme;
Land operations - provision of low to medium priced subdivided land for sale.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(ab) Financial Instruments

In addition to cash, the Consolidated Entity has three categories of financial instruments:

Loans and receivables
Financial liabilities
Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss

These have been disaggregated into the following classes:

Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Loans and receivables
Short term deposits

Financial Liabilities
Payables
WATC borrowings
Commonwealth borrowings

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at fair value which normally equates to the
transaction cost or the face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest
rate method. The Consolidated Entity does not enter into financial instruments for speculative purposes.

The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is
no interest rate applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not
material.

Keystart

The entity's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks; market risk (including interest rate risk), credit
risk and liquidity risk. The overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the financial performance of the entity.   The entity
uses different methods to measure different types of risk to which it is exposed. These methods include
sensitivity analysis (specifically VaR - Value at Risk model) in the case of interest rate risk and ageing
analysis for credit risk and beta analysis in respect of investment portfolios to determine market risk.

Risk management is carried out by the Treasury Committee under policies approved by the Keystart Board of
Directors. The Treasury Committee identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with
the entity’s operating units. The Keystart Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well
as policies covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk, credit risk, use of non-derivative financial
instruments and investment of excess liquidity.

Market Risk 

Keystart
(i) Interest rate risk

Borrowings issued at short term rates expose the entity to interest rate risk if changes to rates are not passed
on to customers.  Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the entity to fair value interest rate risk. The entity’s
policy is to hedge (i.e. fix) a portion of its borrowings portfolio within the following hedge ratio limits of total
liabilities:

HEDGE RATIO LIMITS
BM Min Max    BM = Benchmark

0-1 Year 55% 0% 70%
1-2 Years 20% 0% 30%
2-3 Years 10% 0% 20%
3+ Years 0% 0% 15%

The ratio of hedging applied is calculated with reference to the borrowings only, and does not factor the loan
assets held by the entity.

During the financial year ending 30 June 2014 and the prior financial year, there were no hedges used by the
Trust. Borrowings were denominated in Australian Dollars.

120

STATEM
EN

T O
F 

CO
M

PLIA
N

CE
O

VERVIEW
A

PPEN
D

ICES
AG

EN
C

Y 
PERFO

RM
A

N
CE

SIG
N

IFIC
A

N
T 

ISSU
ES IM

PAC
TIN

G
 

TH
E AU

TH
O

RITY

D
ISCLO

SU
RES 

A
N

D
 LEG

A
L 

CO
M

PLIA
N

CE
CO

N
TEN

TS



THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(ab) Financial Instruments (continued)
(ii) Summarised sensitivity analysis

The Consolidated Entity uses VaR Analysis to measure its sensitivity to movements in interest rates.  VaR
models are designed to measure market risk in a normal market environment.  The VaR risk measure
estimates the potential loss in profit over a given holding period for a specific confidence level.  The VaR
methodology is a statistically defined, probability - based approach that takes into account market volatilities
as well as risk diversification by recognising offsetting positions and correlations between products.  The main
risk arises where the Consolidated Entity cannot pass on changes in borrowing interest rates to its loan
receivables.   The VaR for the Consolidated Entity is traditionally low because the Consolidated Entity is able
to pass on changes in its borrowing interest rates.
Based on a 99% confidence level and a 250 day observation period, the VaR for Keystart was favourable at
0.22% of its capital at 30 June 2014 (2013: 0.19%) 

The limitation of the VaR model is that historical data may not provide the best estimates of the risk factor
changes in the future and may fail to capture the risk of possible extreme adverse market movements which
have not occurred in past calculations.

2014
Historical VaR (99%, 20 day) By risk type Average Minimum Maximum Year End

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Total VaR Exposure 612 221 1,056 582
2013
Historical VaR (99%, 20 day) By risk type Average Minimum Maximum Year End

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Total VaR Exposure 1,081 381 2,562 534

Credit Risk Exposure
The Consolidated Entity's maximum exposures to credit risk at reporting date in relation to each class of
recognised financial asset is the carrying amount of those assets as indicated in the Statement of Financial
Position.  The Consolidated Entity's credit risk is spread over a significant number of parties and is
concentrated only to the extent of the WA residential market. The Consolidated Entity is therefore not
materially exposed to any particular individual party or group of parties. 

The Consolidated Entity's maximum credit risk exposure in relation to these is as follows:

The Consolidated Entity minimises concentrations of credit risk in relation to loans and advances by
undertaking transactions with a number of borrowers, within specified maximum limits based upon the
assessment of each borrower's ability to service a mortgage.  The Consolidated Entity concentrates 100% of
its lending to purchase of residential real estate within Western Australia.  Security is provided to the
Consolidated Entity through a mortgage over the property.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at reporting date is the higher of the carrying value and fair value of each
class of receivables.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
(ab) Financial Instruments (continued)

Keystart
Credit risk arises from transactions that give rise to actual, contingent or potential claims against any borrower
or counterparty.

Credit risk is managed on a group basis through having prudential lending policies to mitigate borrower risk.
This includes having maximum Debt Servicing Ratios and strict income verification procedures.  In addition to
these credit policies, Keystart maintains adequate provisions for bad and doubtful debts and capital adequacy
ratios to manage the effects of any losses. Counterparty credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents,
loans and receivables and deposits with banks and financial institutions including outstanding receivables and
committed transactions. For banks and financial institutions, only independently rated parties with a minimum
rating of ‘A’ are accepted. Individual risk limits are set based on internal or external ratings in accordance with
limits set by the Board. Counterparties must have Standard and Poor’s long term rating of at least “A+” for any
derivative transaction executed and “A” (or better) for authorised investments.

Housing Authority
In relation to other receivables (including rental and bond debtors), the Housing Authority has a minimal credit
risk due to the receivables debt being spread  across a number of debtors exceeding 45,000. The collectability
of rental receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis in accordance with the Housing Authority's policy and
procedure manuals. These policy and procedure manuals are reviewed by Management on a regular basis.

Liquidity Risk
The Consolidated Entity is exposed to liquidity risk in respect of its payable, accrued employee expenses and
government borrowings, in that the Consolidated Entity needs to be able to pay these amounts when they fall
due. The Consolidated Entity has implemented and maintains robust cash management practices, including
day-to-day monitoring and regular liquidity reporting to the Accountable Officer.  These practices ensure cash
resources are adequate to meet future commitments.

Keystart
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the
availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out
market positions. Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying businesses, the Treasury Committee aims at
maintaining flexibility in funding by keeping committed credit lines available.
Management monitors rolling forecasts of the entity’s liquidity reserve on the basis of expected cash flow.

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents assets comprise cash on hand
and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(ac) Capitalisation policy

The cost of non-current assets constructed by the Housing Authority includes the cost of all materials used in
construction, direct labour costs incurred on the project during construction and an appropriate proportion of
overheads.

(ad) Income tax

The parent entity and its subsidiary, Keystart Housing Scheme Trust, are income tax exempt bodies. 
Goldmaster Pty Ltd is a tax paying entity.
Current income tax is the tax on the current period's taxable income based on the applicable income tax rate
adjusted for changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the applicable tax rates when the
assets are expected to be recovered or liabilities settled. No deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in
relation to temporary differences if they arose in a transaction , other than a business combination, that at the
time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised
directly in equity.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

2. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

(ae) Contributed equity

AASB Interpretation 1038 ‘Contributions by Owners Made to Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities’ requires
transfers in the nature of equity contributions to be designated by the Government (the owner) as contributions
by owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be recognised as equity contributions.
Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955
‘Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector Entities’ and have been credited directly to
Contributed Equity.
Transfer of net assets to/from other agencies are designated as contributions by owners where the transfers
are non-discretionary and non-reciprocal.

(af) Assets and services received free of charge or for nominal cost

Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost, that the Authority would otherwise purchase if
not donated, are recognised as income at the fair value of the assets services where they can be reliably
measured. A corresponding expense is recognised for services received. Receipts of assets are recognised in
the Statement of Financial Position

Assets or services received from other State Government agencies are separately disclosed under Income
from State Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

3. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates.

Initial application of an Australian Accounting Standard

The Housing Authority has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 July 2013 that impacted the Housing Authority.

AASB 13 Fair Value Measurement. This Standard defines fair value, sets out a framework for measuring
fair value and requires disclosures about fair value measurements.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 119 Employee Benefits. This Standard supersedes AASB 119 (October 2010).  As the
Authority does not operate a define benefit plan the impact of the change is limited to measuring
annual leave as a long-term employee benefit.  The effect of discounting annual leave and long service
leave liabilities that were previously measured at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 1048 Interpretation of Standards.  This Standard supersedes AASB 1048 (June 2012), enabling
references to the Interpretations in all other Standards to be updated by reissuing the service Standard. 
There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB13 [AASB 1, 2, 3,
4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 120, 121, 128, 131, 132, 133, 134, 136, 138,
138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 1023 7 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 131 & 132].  This Standard
replaces the existing definition and fair value guidance in other Australian Accounting  Standards and
Interpretations as the results of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2011-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 119 (September
2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 1049, & 2011-8 and Int 14] This Standard make amendments to
other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 in
in September 2011. The resultant discounting of annual leave liabilities that were previously measured
at the undiscounted amounts is not material.

AASB 2012-2 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Disclosures – Offsetting Financial
Assets and Financial Liabilities [AASB 7 & 132].  This Standard amends the required disclosures in
AASB 7 to include information that will enable users of an entity's financial statements to evaluate the
effect or potential effect of netting arrangements, including right of set-off associated with the entity's
recognised financial assets and recognised financial liabilities, on the entity's financial position.  There
is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-5 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from Annual Improvements
2009-11 Cycle [AASB 1, 101, 116, 132 & 134 and Int 2].  This Standard makes amendments to the
Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a consequence of the annual improvements
process.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-6 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Mandatory Effective Date of AASB
9 and Transition Disclosures [AASB 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 2011-7 & 2011-8]. This Standard amends the
mandatory effective date of AASB 9 Financial Instruments to 1 January 2015.  Further amendments
are also made to numerous consequential amendments arising from AASB 9 that will now apply from
1 January 2015.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2012-10  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Transitional Guidance and Other 
Amendments  [AASB 1, 5, 7, 8, 10, 11, 12, 13, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 119, 127, 128, 132, 133, 134,
137, 1023, 1038, 1039, 1049 & 2011-7 and Int 12].  This Standard introduces a number of editorial 
alterations and amends the mandatory application date of Standards for not-for-profit entities accounting 
for interests in other entities.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-9.  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, Materiality
and Financial Instruments. Part A of this omnibus Standard makes amendments to other Standards
arising from revisions to the Australian Accounting Conceptual Framework for periods ending on or after 
20 December 2013.  Other Parts of this Standard become operative in later periods.  There is no financial 
impact for Part A of the Standard.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

3. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates. (continued)

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative

The Housing Authority cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard unless specifically permitted by TI
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements’. Consequently, the Housing
Authority has not applied early any of the following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued that may
impact the Housing Authority.  Where applicable, the Housing Authority plans to apply these Standards from their
application date.

1 Jan 2014
Int 21 Levies. - This Interpretation clarifies the circumstances under which a liability to pay a 
government levy imposed should be recognised. There is no financial impact.
AASB 9 Financial Instruments - This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial Instruments: 1 Jan 2017
Recognition and Measurement, introducing a number of changes to accounting treatments.
The mandatory application date of this Standard was amended to 1 January 2017.

AASB 10 Consolidated Financial Statements - This Standard, issued in August 2011, 1 Jan 2014
supersedes AASB127 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements and Int 112
Consolidation - Special Purpose Entities, introducing a number of changes to accounting
treatments.  Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred for not-for-profit entities by
AASB 2012-10 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Transition Guidance and Other
Amendments. The adoption of the new Standard has no financial impact for the Authority as it
doesn’t impact accounting for related bodies and the Authority has no interests in other entities.

AASB 11 Joint Arrangements - This Standard, issued in August 2011, supersedes AASB 131 1 Jan 2014
Interests in Joint Ventures, introduces new principles for determining the type of joint arrangement
that exists, which are more aligned to the actual rights and obligations of the parties to the
arrangement. Mandatory application of this Standard was deferred  for not-for-profit entities by
AASB 2012-10 There is no financial impact for the Authority as the new standard  continues to
require the recognition of the Authority’s share of assets and share of liabilities for the
unincorporated joint operation.

AASB 12 Disclosure of Interest in Other Entities - This Standard,  issued in August 2011, 1 Jan 2014
supersedes disclosure requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial
Statements,
AASB 128 Investments in Associates and AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures.  Mandatory
application was deferred for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts. The Authority has not yet determined the application or 1 Jan 2014
the potential impact of the Standard.

AASB 127 Separate Financial Statements - This Standard, issued in August 2011,  supersedes 1 Jan 2014
AASB 127 Consolidation and Separate Financial Statements, removing the consolidation
requirements of the earlier standard whilst retaining accounting and disclosure requirements for
the preparation of separate financial statements.  Mandatory application was deferred for
not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. There is no financial impact.

AASB 128 Investments In Associates and Joint Ventures. - This Standard issued in August 2011, 1 Jan 2014
supersedes AASB 128 Investments in Associates, introducing a number of clarifications  for the
accounting treatments of changed ownership interest. Mandatory application was deferred for
not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The adoption of the new  Standard has no financial impact
for the Authority as it does not hold  investments in associates or and the accounting treatments
for joint operations is consistent  with current practice

AASB 1031 Materiality - This Standard supersedes AASB 1031 (February 2010) removing 1 Jan 2014
Australian guidance on materiality that is not available in IFRSs and refers to other Australian 
pronouncements. There is no financial impact

AASB 1055 Budgetary Reporting - This Standard requires specific budgetary disclosures in the 1 Jan 2014
financial statements of not-for-profit entities within the General Government Sector.  The Authority
will be required to disclose additional budgetary information and explanations of major variances
between actual and budgeted amounts, though there is no financial impact

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

3. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates. (continued)

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet operative (continued)

AASB 2009-11 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9  [AASB 1, 1 Jan 2015
3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 &
12]

AASB 2010-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 1 Jan 2015
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 139,
1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 127] This Standard makes consequential amendments to
other Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 9 in
December 2010 The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
the Standard.

AASB 2011-7 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from the Consolidation 1 Jan 2014
and Joint Venture Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118,
121, 124, 132, 133, 136 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 5, 9, 16 & 17]  This Standard gives effect
to consequential changes arising from the issue of AASB 10, AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate
Financial Statements and AASB 128 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures. Mandatory
application was deferred  for not-for-profit entities by AASB 2012-10. The Authority has analysed
the suite of Consolidation and Joint Arrangements Standards and determined that no financial
impact arises from adopting various Standards.

AASB 2012-3 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards - Offsetting Financial Assets and 1 Jan 2014
Financial Liabilities [AASB132].  This Standard adds application guidance to AASB 132 to
address inconsistencies identified in applying some of the offsetting criteria, including clarifying
the meanings of currently has a legally enforceable right of set-of' and that some gross settlement
systems may be considered equivalent to net settlement.  The Authority does not routinely hold
financial assets and financial liabilities that it intends to settle on a net basis, therefore there is no
financial impact.

AASB 2013-3 Amendments to AASB136 - Recoverable Amount Disclosures for Non-Financial 1 Jan 2014
Assets.  This Standard introduces editorial and disclosure changes.  There is no financial impact.

AASB 2013-4  Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Novation of Derivatives and 1 Jan 2014
Continuation of Hedge Accounting [AASB 139]. This Standard permits the continuation of hedge
accounting in circumstances where a derivative, which has been designated as a hedging
instrument, is novated from one counterparty to a central counterparty as a consequence of laws
or regulations. The Authority does not routinely enter into derivatives or hedges, therefore there is
no financial impact.

AASB 2013-8 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Australian Implementation 1 Jan 2014
Guidance for Not-for-Profit Entities – Control and Structured Entities [AASB 10, 12 & 1049]. The
amendments, issued in October 2013, provide significant guidance in determining whether a
not-for-profit entity controls another entity when financial returns are not key attributes of the
investor’s relationship.  The Standard has no financial impact in its own right, rather the impact
results from the adoption of the amended AASB 10.

AASB 2013-9 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards – Conceptual Framework, 1 Jan 2014
Materiality and Financial Instruments. This omnibus Standard makes amendments to other 1 Jan 2017
Standards arising from the deletion of references to AASB 1031 in other Standards for periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2014 (Part B), and, defers the application of AASB 9 to 1 January
2017 (Part C).  The Authority has not yet determined the application or the potential impact of
AASB 9, otherwise there is no financial impact for Part B.

AASB 2014-1 Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards. The Authority has Part A,B,C 1 July 2014
not yet determined the application or the potential impact of the Standard. Part E 1 Jan 2015

Part D 1 Jan 2016
Misc. 1 Jan 2018

Operative for
reporting periods
beginning on/after
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

3. Disclosure of changes in accounting policy and estimates. (continued)

Correction of Prior Year Error

During the year ended 30 June 2013, the accrued sales and related cost of sales on 88 properties which were
unconditionally sold as at 30 June, were not brought to account. The error had the effect of understating sales, 
cost of sales and retained earnings and overstating inventories and payables in the prior period.

The details of the sales in prior periods is reflected as follows -
Cost of Proceeds of Trading

sales sales profit
Year $000 $000 $000
2013 18,470 21,074 2,604

The error impacts on financial year 2012-13. Accordingly, the Statement of Financial Position and
Statement of Comprehensive Income for 2012-13 have been restated as follows - 

Actual Correction Restated 
2013 of error 2013

Consolidated Note $000 $000 $000
Changes to Statement of Financial Position 2013

Inventories 21 296,782 (18,470) 278,312
Payables 36 122,735 (21,074) 101,661
Retained Earnings 42 2,849,821 2,604 2,852,425

Changes to Statement of Comprehensive Income 2013
Sales 6 315,734 21,074 336,808
Cost of Sales 6 203,450 18,470 221,920

Parent
Changes to Statement of Financial Position 2013

Inventories 21 296,580 (18,470) 278,110
Payables 36 122,735 (21,074) 101,661
Retained Earnings 42 2,580,178 2,604 2,582,782

Changes to Statement of Comprehensive Income 2013
Sales 6 315,734 21,074 336,808
Cost of Sales 6 203,450 18,470 221,920

4. Key sources of estimation uncertainty

Defined benefit superannuation plans
In determining the Housing Authority’s ultimate cost of its defined benefit superannuation plans, actuarial
assumptions are required to be made. The principal actuarial assumptions used are disclosed in note 38
‘Provisions’.

Long service leave liability
Several estimations and assumptions used in calculating the Authority’s long service leave provision include
expected future salary rates, discount rates, employee retention rates and expected future payments. Changes
in these estimations and assumptions may impact on the carrying amount of the long service leave provision.
The principal actuarial assumptions used are disclosed in note 38 ‘Provisions’.

Depreciation and amortisation
The depreciation and amortisation rates for the Consolidated Entity have been reviewed. The estimation of the
useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience with the retention and disposal of assets. Refer to
note 2 (f) for depreciation rates. 

Revaluation
The revaluation of the Housing Authority's assets is undertaken by the Western Australian Land Information
Authority annually. Valuation estimates for financial reporting purposes are determined under the accounting
concept of fair value. Fair value is defined as 'the amount for which the asset could be exchanged or a liability
settled, between knowledgeable, willing parties at an arms length transaction'.  It is based on the assumption that
the Housing Authority is a going concern without the need or intention to liquidate or wind up its operations or
undertake a transaction on adverse terms.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

5.  Schedule of income and expenses by service

 2014 CONSOLIDATED  2013
Rental Government Home Land Elimination Total Rental Government Home Land Elimination Total

Housing Regional Officers' Loans Housing Regional Officers' Loans
Housing Housing

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 INCOME Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Revenue

100,699 77 - 363,104 - 463,880 Sales 6 123,395 59 - 208,676 - 332,130
- - - - (12,877) (12,877) Intersegment sales - - - - 4,678 4,678

210,786 236,801 2 195 - 447,784 Rental revenue 7 204,573 225,359 2 187 - 430,121
313,059 - - - - 313,059 Commonwealth grants and contributions 8 198,737 - - 5,955 - 204,692

(1,201) 2,177 193,464 800 - 195,240 Interest revenue 9 569 2,174 196,390 894 - 200,027
9,514 - - - - 9,514 Developers contributions 5,536 - - - - 5,536
6,837 3 3,796 1,058 - 11,694 Other revenues 10 5,183 17 2,489 8,983 - 16,672

639,694 239,058 197,262 365,157 (12,877) 1,428,294 Total revenue 537,993 227,609 198,881 224,695 4,678 1,193,856
Gains

- - 5,032 - - 5,032 Gain on the disposal of non-current assets 11 - - 164 - - 164
- - 5,032 - - 5,032 Total gains - - 164 - - 164

639,694 239,058 202,294 365,157 (12,877) 1,433,326 Total income 537,993 227,609 199,045 224,695 4,678 1,194,020

EXPENSES
101,935 90 - 144,273 - 246,298 Cost of sales 6 124,108 71 - 97,741 - 221,920
239,131 145,679 - 158 - 384,968 Rental expenses 12 219,271 141,381 - 148 - 360,800
191,520 - 1 - - 191,521 Community support expense 13 250,712 - 9 - - 250,721
103,428 11,614 3,373 10,203 - 128,618 Employee benefits expense 14 80,032 10,867 2,494 8,431 - 101,824
31,108 367 4,476 5,418 - 41,369 Supplies and services 15 30,839 735 4,746 7,121 - 43,441

112,555 16,504 7,918 399 - 137,376 Depreciation & amortisation expense 16 108,387 15,469 7,668 479 - 132,003
21,432 10,094 109,276 8,305 - 149,107 Finance costs 17 21,586 10,778 122,540 8,076 - 162,980
18,043 - - - - 18,043 Share of net losses of associate 27 2,245 - - - - 2,245
12,273 84 959 797 - 14,113 Accommodation expenses 18 10,921 93 938 608 - 12,560
18,348 4,548 - 83 - 22,979 Loss on the disposal of non-current assets 11 7,594 892 - 1 - 8,487
95,818 1,093 18,854 19,762 - 135,527 Other expenses 19 110,729 441 19,313 21,025 - 151,508

945,591 190,073 144,857 189,398 - 1,469,919 Total expenses 966,424 180,727 157,708 143,630 - 1,448,489
Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies 

(305,897) 48,985 57,437 175,759 (12,877) (36,593) from government (428,431) 46,882 41,337 81,065 4,678 (254,469)
87,923 - - - - 87,923 Grants and subsidies from government 8 48,933 - 2,811 - - 51,744

Profit/(loss) after grants and subsidies
(217,974) 48,985 57,437 175,759 (12,877) 51,330 from government (379,498) 46,882 44,148 81,065 4,678 (202,725)

(3,541) - - - - (3,541) Non-controlling interest - - - - - -
(221,515) 48,985 57,437 175,759 (12,877) 47,789 Profit/(loss) for the period (379,498) 46,882 44,148 81,065 4,678 (202,725)
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

5.   Schedule of income and expenses by service ( continued )

2014 THE HOUSING AUTHORITY 2013
Rental Government Home Land Elimination Total Rental Government Home Land Elimination Total

Housing Regional Officers' Loans Housing Regional Officers' Loans
Housing Housing

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 INCOME Note $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
Revenue

82,453 77 - 363,104 - 445,634 Sales 6 123,395 59 - 208,676 - 332,130
- - - - (12,877) (12,877) Intersegment sales - - - - 4,678 4,678

210,786 236,801 2 195 - 447,784 Rental revenue 7 204,573 225,359 2 187 - 430,121
313,059 - - - - 313,059 Commonwealth grants and contributions 8 198,737 - - 5,955 - 204,692

4,767 2,177 101,327 800 - 109,071 Interest revenue 9 569 2,174 111,762 894 - 115,399
9,514 - - - - 9,514 Developers contributions 5,536 - - - - 5,536
5,187 3 80,109 1,058 - 86,357 Other revenues 10 5,183 17 56,153 8,983 - 70,336

625,766 239,058 181,438 365,157 (12,877) 1,398,542 Total revenue 537,993 227,609 167,917 224,695 4,678 1,162,892
Gains

5,032 - 5,032 Gain on the disposal of non-current assets 11 - - 164 - - 164
- - 5,032 - - 5,032 Total gains - - 164 - - 164

625,766 239,058 186,470 365,157 (12,877) 1,403,574 Total income 537,993 227,609 168,081 224,695 4,678 1,163,056

EXPENSES
96,216 90 - 144,273 - 240,579 Cost of sales 6 124,108 71 - 97,741 - 221,920

239,131 145,679 - 158 - 384,968 Rental expenses 12 219,271 141,381 - 148 - 360,800
191,520 - 1 - - 191,521 Community support expense 13 250,712 - 9 - - 250,721
103,428 11,614 2,953 10,203 - 128,198 Employee benefits expense 14 80,032 10,867 2,182 8,431 - 101,512
31,108 367 824 5,418 - 37,717 Supplies and services 15 30,839 735 1,042 7,121 - 39,737

112,553 16,504 6,799 399 - 136,255 Depreciation & amortisation expense 16 108,387 15,469 6,820 479 - 131,155
21,432 10,094 109,301 8,305 - 149,132 Finance costs 17 21,586 10,778 122,357 8,076 - 162,797
12,273 84 31 797 - 13,185 Accommodation expenses 18 10,921 93 21 608 - 11,643
18,348 4,548 - 83 - 22,979 Loss on the disposal of non-current assets 11 7,594 892 - 1 - 8,487
95,388 1,093 2,920 19,762 - 119,163 Other expenses 19 110,729 441 2,682 21,025 - 134,877

921,397 190,073 122,829 189,398 - 1,423,697 Total expenses 964,179 180,727 135,113 143,630 - 1,423,649
Profit/(loss) before grants and subsidies 

(295,631) 48,985 63,641 175,759 (12,877) (20,123) from government (426,186) 46,882 32,968 81,065 4,678 (260,593)
87,923 - - - 87,923 Grants and subsidies from government 8 48,933 - 2,811 - - 51,744

(207,708) 48,985 63,641 175,759 (12,877) 67,800 Gain/(loss) for the period (377,253) 46,882 35,779 81,065 4,678 (208,849)
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
6. Trading profit 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
Sales

Joint venture land 193,159 159,255 193,159 159,255
Land 131,611 35,868 131,611 35,868
House and land packages 126,233 141,685 107,987 141,685

451,003 336,808 432,757 336,808
Less cost of land sold

Joint venture land 81,639 70,479 81,639 70,479
Land 62,217 27,286 62,217 27,286
House and land packages 102,442 124,155 96,723 124,155

246,298 221,920 240,579 221,920
Trading Profit 204,705 114,888 192,178 114,888

7. Rental revenue

Rental properties 440,742 424,175 440,742 424,175
Rental amenities 3,580 4,004 3,580 4,004
Commercial properties 3,444 1,930 3,444 1,930
Community Housing properties 18 12 18 12
Total rental revenue 447,784 430,121 447,784 430,121

8. Commonwealth and State grants

Commonwealth grants and contributions
Aboriginal housing 191,712 78,819 191,712 78,819
Commonwealth rental grants 102,778 107,599 102,778 107,599
Crisis accommodation & Community Housing 14,463 12,418 14,463 12,418
Commonwealth FAHCSIA 4,106 - 4,106 -
Homelessness - 5,856 - 5,856
Total Commonwealth grants 313,059 204,692 313,059 204,692

State grants and subsidies
Department of Treasury 25,377 32,660 25,377 32,660
Department of Planning/WA Planning Commission 200 45 200 45
Department of Premier and Cabinet 1,413 - 1,413 -
Department of Child Protection and Family Support 250 - 250 -
Royalties for Regions-Regional Infrastructure and Headworks
Account 40,678 1,636 40,678 1,636
Disability Services Commission 9,787 - 9,787 -
Mental Health Commission 2,200 2,790 2,200 2,790
Shire of Halls Creek 5,437 - 5,437 -
Kimberley Development Commission 2,250 - 2,250 -
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority 331 - 331 -
Department of Fire & Emergency Services - 14,613 - 14,613
Total State grants 87,923 51,744 87,923 51,744

9. Interest revenue

Loan interest
Keystart secured mortgage advances 179,734 182,170 - -

179,734 182,170 - -
The Housing Authority loan schemes - 1 - 1

- 1 - 1
Total Loan Interest 179,734 182,171 - 1

Other interest
Interest on cash at bank 4,455 7,203 4,432 7,203
Interest on investments 6,583 8,191 94,180 105,733
Interest other 4,468 2,462 10,459 2,462
Total other interest 15,506 17,856 109,071 115,398
Total interest revenue 195,240 200,027 109,071 115,399
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
10. Other gains 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000

Bad debts recovered 724 573 724 573
Conveyancing fees 2,428 1,968 2,428 1,968
Dividends - - 78,200 56,000
Income tax (note 23) 1,650 - - -
Other revenue 6,892 14,131 5,005 11,795
Total other revenues 11,694 16,672 86,357 70,336

11.  Net gain/(loss) on disposal of non-current assets 

Proceeds from the disposal of non-current assets
Rental properties                  67,197 96,898 67,197 96,898
Community Housing properties 2,008 1,361 2,008 1,361
Shared Equity properties 57,206 39,527 57,206 39,527
Plant & equipment (204) 1 (204) 1

126,207 137,787 126,207 137,787
Costs on disposal of non-current assets

Rental properties                  89,857 104,420 89,857 104,420
Community Housing properties 1,743 2,320 1,743 2,320
Shared Equity properties 52,162 39,363 52,162 39,363
Plant & equipment 392 7 392 7

144,154 146,110 144,154 146,110
Net loss (17,947) (8,323) (17,947) (8,323)

The cost on disposal of rental properties includes the value of properties demolished of $25.325 million 
(2013: $17.287 million).

12. Rental expenses

Maintenance expenses 95,176 80,817 95,176 80,817
Debt collection expenses 1,256 1,227 1,256 1,227
Estate management expenses 10,645 9,253 10,645 9,253
General expenses 26,404 15,576 26,404 15,576
Insurance expenses 11,749 13,197 11,749 13,197
Rates expenses 75,882 76,068 75,882 76,068
Renovations & improvements 52,295 56,860 52,295 56,860
Demolition costs 234 491 234 491
Non cancellable operating leases:
-  Rental properties 111,327 107,311 111,327 107,311
Total rental expenses 384,968 360,800 384,968 360,800

13. Community support expense

Aboriginal Housing (a) 184,545 242,093 184,545 242,093
Community Housing (b) 6,975 8,619 6,975 8,619
Mortgage and rental assistance program - 
  cash assistance 1 9 1 9
Total community support expense 191,521 250,721 191,521 250,721

(a) Aboriginal housing community support consists of expenses incurred in the provision of remote indigenous
community housing and support programmes including capitalised administration of $28.29 million (2013:
$25.64 million).

(b) Community Housing support consists of expenses incurred in the provision of housing undertaken by
community groups.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013

14. Employee benefits expense $000 $000 $000 $000

Salaries & wages (a) 142,557 121,851 142,137 121,666
Superannuation - defined contribution plans (b) 12,826 9,612 12,826 9,612
Superannuation - defined benefit plans (Note 38) 231 (1,830) 231 (1,830)

155,614 129,633 155,194 129,448
Less Credits:
Administration capitalised 25,521 24,270 25,521 24,270
Recoups 1,475 3,539 1,475 3,666
Total credits 26,996 27,809 26,996 27,936
Total employee benefits expenses 128,618 101,824 128,198 101,512

(a) Included in Salaries & Wages are voluntary severances of $2.227 million which were offered to employees during
the financial year.

(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State, GESB and other eligible funds. Employment
on-costs expenses, such as workers’ compensation insurance, are included in note 19 ‘Other expenses’.
Employment on-costs liability is included at note 38 ‘Provisions’.

15. Supplies and services

Other personnel costs 8,804 8,774 8,804 8,774
Travel 3,342 2,921 3,342 2,921
Stationery & supplies 1,145 1,234 859 903
Communication 4,851 4,437 4,712 4,300
Other costs & expenses 20,146 22,964 17,288 20,112
External and Internal Audit fees 791 805 422 421
Motor vehicles 1,317 1,551 1,317 1,551

40,396 42,686 36,744 38,982
Lease expenses
Non cancellable operating leases:
-  Motor vehicles 973 755 973 755

973 755 973 755
Total supplies and services 41,369 43,441 37,717 39,737

16. Depreciation and amortisation expense

Depreciation
Rental properties 114,270 111,617 114,270 111,617
Community Housing properties 10,286 8,007 10,286 8,007
Shared Equity properties 6,742 6,751 6,742 6,751
Other properties 1,387 888 1,387 888
Plant & equipment 2,528 2,959 1,843 2,409

Amortisation
Intangible assets 1,727 1,483 1,727 1,483
Other assets 436 298 - -

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 137,376 132,003 136,255 131,155

17. Finance costs

Interest expense 149,132 162,945 149,132 162,797
Finance charges (25) 35 - -
Total finance costs 149,107 162,980 149,132 162,797

18. Accommodation expenses

Office rental & accommodation 8,548 8,513 8,520 8,482
Lease expenses
Non cancellable operating Office properties leases 5,565 4,047 4,665 3,161
Total accommodation expenses 14,113 12,560 13,185 11,643
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated
19. Other expenses 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000

Doubtful debts expense 12,211 13,529 8,308 8,158
Fees - Keystart 12,057 11,170 - -
Grants & subsidies 661 1,041 661 1,041
Land expenses 17,554 19,555 17,554 19,555
Loan scheme expenses 1,070 1,195 1,070 1,195
Write down of assets classified as held for sale 536 1,031 536 1,031
Employee on costs 10,202 8,721 10,202 8,721
Other expenses 29,092 23,897 28,688 23,807
Assets transferred to Community Housing (a) 52,144 71,369 52,144 71,369
Total other expenses 135,527 151,508 119,163 134,877

(a) As at 30 June 2014, the Housing Authority transferred 224 property assets valued at $52.14 million (2013: 218
property assets valued at $71.37 million) to Community Housing Organisations in accordance with Commonwealth
Stimulus funding requirements.

20. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash at bank - operational 145,769 50,615 109,391 12,250
Cash advances 10 15 10 15

145,779 50,630 109,401 12,265
Restricted cash:
Rental tenants bonds 15,349 15,451 15,349 15,451
Joint venture cash 31,752 33,945 31,752 33,945
Remote indigenous housing 6,105 4,666 6,105 4,666
Royalties for Regions Fund 44,684 81,746 44,684 81,746

97,890 135,808 97,890 135,808
Total cash and cash equivalents 243,669 186,438 207,291 148,073

Rental Tenants Bonds represents bond monies received by the Housing Authority from rental clients. These funds
are held in trust in accordance with the Residential Tenancies Act.  Joint Venture Cash is restricted for the use of
joint venture operations and is controlled by the respective management groups. Unspent funds for Royalties for
Regions are committed to projects and programs in WA regional areas. The Housing Authority is a property
manager for remote indigenous communities and does not have ownership of these properties.  The cash held
represents unspent funds for these properties.

21. Inventories

Current
Land held for sale at cost (note 2(h)) current
Cost of acquisition and development 168,439 185,358 168,439 185,358
Capitalised rates, taxes, administration and interest 1,584 1,894 1,584 1,894

170,023 187,252 170,023 187,252
Joint venture land at cost (note 2 (h)) 65,132 52,005 65,132 52,005
House and land packages for sale 72,019 39,055 32,024 38,853
Total current inventories 307,174 278,312 267,179 278,110

Non-current
Land held for sale at cost (note 2(h)) non - current
Cost of acquisition and development 432,314 400,457 432,314 400,457
Capitalised rates, taxes, administration and interest 7,077 7,090 7,077 7,090

439,391 407,547 439,391 407,547
House and land packages construction in progress 54,020 23,334 40,891 23,334
Joint venture land at cost (a) 79,705 94,890 79,705 94,890
Total non-current inventories 573,116 525,771 559,987 525,771

Parent
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

21. Inventories (Continued)

(a) The Housing Authority enters into joint venture operations for the development of land holdings. 
Listed below are current joint ventures

Butler
The Housing Authority holds a 46.8% interest in an incorporated joint venture (partnership) named Ocean Springs
Pty Ltd  for the development of land at the Brighton estate. The Housing Authority contributes development costs
and receives revenues on the basis of the interest held in the joint venture.

Dalyellup Beach
The Housing Authority holds a 50% interest in an incorporated joint venture (partnership) named Dalyellup Beach
Pty Ltd for the development of land at Dalyellup Beach, Bunbury. The Housing Authority contributes development
costs and receives revenues on the basis of the interest held in the joint venture.

Ellenbrook
The Housing Authority holds a 47.1% interest in an incorporated joint venture (partnership) named Ellenbrook for
the development of land at Ellenbrook. The Housing Authority contributes development costs and receives revenues
on the basis of the interest held in the joint venture.

Seacrest
The Housing Authority holds a 50% interest in an incorporated joint venture (partnership) named Seacrest
Corporation Pty Ltd for the development of land at Wandina, Geraldton. The Housing Authority contributes
development costs and receives revenues on the basis of the interest held in the joint venture.

Oyster Harbour
The Housing Authority holds a 50% interest in an unincorporated joint venture (partnership) for the development of
land at the Oyster Harbour Estate, Bayonet Head, Albany. The Housing Authority contributes development costs
and receives revenues on the basis of the interest held in the joint venture.

Wellard
The Housing Authority holds an interest in an unincorporated joint venture (Farm in) named Wellard for the
development of Housing Authority land in Wellard. The Housing Authority contributes the land and the participant
contributes the funds for the development of the land. The Housing Authority receives a 10% land payment on the
sale of each lot and 80% share in the profits.

Banksia Grove
The Housing Authority holds an interest in an unincorporated joint venture (Farm in) named Banksia Grove for the
development of its land at Banksia Grove. The Housing Authority contributes the land and the participant contributes
the funds for the development of the land. The Housing Authority receives a 35% land payment on the sale of each
lot and 40% share in the profits.

Brookdale
The Housing Authority holds a 50% interest in an unincorporated joint venture (partnership) named Brookdale for
the development of land at Brookdale. The Housing Authority contributes development costs and receives revenues 
on the basis of interest held in the joint venture.

Harrisdale
The Housing Authority holds an interest in an unincorporated joint venture (Farm in) named Harrisdale Green for the 
development of its land at Harrisdale. The Housing Authority contributes the land and the participant contributes the 
funds for the development of the land. The Housing Authority receives a 30% land payment on the sale of the lots,
a 10% land payment on the sale of built form products and a 66.6% share in the profits.

Beeliar
The Housing Authority holds an interest in an unincorporated joint venture (Farm in) named Beeliar Joint Venture for
the development of its land at Beeliar. The Housing Authority contributes the land and the participant contributes the
funds for the development of the land. The Housing Authority receives a 33% land payment on the sale of each lot
and 50% share in the profits.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

21.  Inventories (Continued)
JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS

Butler Dalyellup Ellenbrook Seacrest Oyster Brookdale Beeliar Harrisdale Wellard Banksia Total
Beach Harbour Grove

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 20 12,780 2,531 9,707 672 24 6,038 - - - - 31,752

Receivables 22 5,461 2,045 8,905 19 15 3 - - - - 16,448
Inventories 21 17,737 6,738 35,767 29 3,596 1,265 - - - - 65,132
Other current assets 24 - - 335 250 - - - - - 585

35,978 11,314 54,714 720 3,885 7,306 - - - - 113,917
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 22 530 - - 60 - - - - - - 590
Office Equipment 32 4 - 28 - - - - - - 32
Buildings 31 329 223 231 - - - - - - 783
Development costs (1) 21 11,307 12,524 5,909 3,468 3,020 14,517 - - - 50,745

12,170 12,747 6,168 3,528 3,020 14,517 - - - - 52,150
Total assets 48,148 24,061 60,882 4,248 6,905 21,823 - - - - 166,067

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 36 6,990 1,118 4,787 33 272 254 - - - - 13,454
Other Liabilities 39 - - - 142 - 2,090 - - - - 2,232
Provisions 38 2,481 427 2,800 153 - 558 - - - - 6,419

9,471 1,545 7,587 328 272 2,902 - - - - 22,105
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables and Interest-bearing liabilities 36 530 - 24 - - - - - - - 554

530 - 24 - - - - - - - 554
Total liabilities 10,001 1,545 7,611 328 272 2,902 - - - - 22,659
NET ASSETS 38,147 22,516 53,271 3,920 6,633 18,921 - - - - 143,408

 Land (1) 21 2,171 - 2,304 245 7,908 4,313 - 1,026 4,561 6,432 28,960

1. The total of development costs ($50.745 million) and Authority land ($28.960 million) represents the total ($79.705 million) joint venture land.

2014
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

21.  Inventories (Continued)
JOINT VENTURE OPERATIONS

2013
Butler Dalyellup Ellenbrook Seacrest Oyster Brookdale Beeliar Harrisdale Wellard Banksia Total

Beach Harbour Grove

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 20 9,396 5,000 10,402 672 42 8,433 - - - - 33,945
Receivables 22 2,135 1,946 7,423 40 70 2,283 - - - - 13,897
Inventories 21 15,416 6,031 26,321 - 1,957 2,280 - - - - 52,005
Other current assets 24 - - 2,897 151 1 - - - - 3,049

26,947 12,977 47,043 863 2,069 12,997 - - - - 102,896
NON-CURRENT ASSETS
Receivables 22 530 - - 81 - - - - - - 611
Office Equipment 32 - - 47 - - - - - - 47
Buildings 31 211 113 266 - - - - - - 590
Development costs (1) 21 14,437 14,656 8,164 5,112 4,641 14,741 - - - 61,751

15,178 14,769 8,477 5,193 4,641 14,741 - - - - 62,999
Total assets 42,125 27,746 55,520 6,056 6,710 27,738 - - - - 165,895

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables 36 3,720 3,297 3,069 174 495 1,101 - - - - 11,856
Other Liabilities - - - - - - - - - - -
Provisions 38 2,345 310 1,736 202 - 324 - - - - 4,917

6,065 3,607 4,805 376 495 1,425 - - - - 16,773
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
Payables and Interest-bearing liabilities 36 530 - 24 - - - - - - - 554

530 - 24 - - - - - - - 554
Total liabilities 6,595 3,607 4,829 376 495 1,425 - - - - 17,327
NET ASSETS 35,530 24,139 50,691 5,680 6,215 26,313 - - - - 148,568

 Land (1) 21 2,681 - 2,918 315 8,412 4,246 - 1,030 5,468 8,069 33,139

1. The total of development costs ($61.751 million) and Authority land ($33.139 million) represents the total ($94.890 million) joint venture land.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated
2014 2013 2014 2013

22. Loans and receivables $000 $000 $000 $000

Current
General 24,407 41,656 24,277 41,014
Loans to homebuyers 792,619 734,755 - -
Joint venture receivables 16,448 13,897 16,448 13,897
Rental and Lease bonds 20,302 18,938 20,302 18,938
Rents from tenants and other rents 33,549 31,690 33,549 31,690
Commercial organisations (a) 2,966 3,967 25,727 3,967

890,291 844,903 120,303 109,506
Less provision for impairment 7,208 6,005 7,208 6,005
Total receivables current 883,083 838,898 113,095 103,501

A provision for impairment loss is recognised when there is objective evidence that an individual receivable is
impaired.

Reconciliation of changes in the allowances for impairment of receivables

Carrying amount at start of period 6,005 5,005 6,005 5,005
Charge for the period 8,308 8,157 8,308 8,157
Amounts written off during the period (7,105) (7,157) (7,105) (7,157)
Impairment losses reversed during the period - - - -
Carrying amount at end of period 7,208 6,005 7,208 6,005

An impairment loss of $8.30 million (2013: $8.16 million) has been recognised by the Housing Authority.

Current receivables individually determined as impaired at the end of the reporting period:
Carrying amount before deducting any impairment loss 370 399 370 399
Impairment loss (370) (399) (370) (399)

- - - -

(a) The loans to Commercial Organisations includes loan facilities provided to Goldmaster Enterprises of
$26.4 million and $21.7 million.  As at 30 June 2014 the $26.4 million loan has been fully drawn. The interest
rate is 4.48% and was payable in June 2014. At balance date $10.769 million has been repaid and post
balance date the remaining was paid in the first week of July 2014. The $21.7 million facility has been partially
drawn to the value of $6.786 million with an interest rate of 4.48%. Repayment of the total loan facility is March
2015.

Non current
Non-current loans and advances
Keystart preferential shares (a) - - 3,675,000 3,275,000
Loans to homebuyers (b) 2,938,573 2,594,872 3 18
Loans other
Commercial organisations - 125 - 125
Local & statutory authorities - 3 - 3
Less provision for impairment 9,045 7,297 - -

2,929,528 2,587,703 3,675,003 3,275,146
Joint venture receivables 590 611 590 611

Total receivables non current 2,930,118 2,588,314 3,675,593 3,275,757

Provision for impairment loss
As at 30 June 2014, loans to homebuyers with a nominal value of $2.25 million (2013: $3.22 million) were
impaired and written off against provision for impairment following disposal of mortgaged property. The amount
of the provision was $9.0 million (2013: $7.30 million).  The individually impaired receivables are mainly due to property
abandonment and voluntary property surrender. 

The creation and release of the provision for impaired receivables has been included in doubtful debts
expenses in the Statement of Comprehensive Income.   Amounts charged to the allowance account are
generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.

Parent
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

22. Loans and receivables (Continued) Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Movement in Provisions for Impairment

Carrying amount at start of period 7,297 5,034 - -
Charge for the year 3,903 5,371 - -
Amounts written off (2,155) (3,108) - -
Carrying amount at end of period 9,045 7,297 - -

Ageing analysis of receivables past due but not impaired at the end of the reporting period

Not more than 3 months 16,948 23,998 8,301 10,616
More than 3 months but less than 6 months 7,666 9,085 4,815 4,403
More than 6 months but less than 1 year 7,882 21,461 7,882 21,461
More than 1 year 13,566 12,710 13,566 12,710

46,062 67,254 34,564 49,190

All loans and advances are reviewed and graded according to the anticipated level of credit risk.  The
classification adopted is described below:

Outstanding balance on loans for which collateral will be repossessed

Balance 8,151 12,191 - -
Provision for impairment (1,559) (2,753) - -

6,592 9,438 - -

Interest foregone on non-accrual and restructured loans 557 856 - -

Restructured loans
Balance without provisions 5,190 5,528 - -

A Safety Net Scheme is offered to clients who require assistance because of changes in their financial
situation. In most cases, Phase 1 assistance is sufficient and is granted for short terms of up to six (6)
months. Those who require longer periods are assigned to Phase 2. These 2 stages provide assistance in the
form of an interest rate reduction to lower repayments. The table shows the position as at the end of the
financial period.

Number 2014 Number 2013

Phase 1 126 30,460 99 21,027
Phase 2 - - - -

126 30,460 99 21,027

“Non-accrual loans” are loans and advances where the recovery of all interest and principal is considered to be
reasonably doubtful, and hence allowances for impairment are recognised.

“Assets acquired through the enforcement of security” are assets acquired in full or partial settlement of a loan
or similar facility through the enforcement of security arrangements.

“Restructured loans” arise when the borrower is granted a concession due to continuing difficulties in meeting
the original terms, and the revised terms are not comparable to new facilities.  Loans with revised terms are
included in non-accrual loans when impairment provisions are required.

“Past-due loans” are loans where payments of principal and/or interest are in arrears.  Allowances for
impairment are recognised for all such loans. Full recovery of both principal and interest is expected. 
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

22. Loans and receivables (continued)

(a) Keystart preferential shares
The Western Australian Treasury Corporation has provided the Housing Authority with a $5,000 million loan
facility to fund Keystart Loans Ltd. The Housing Authority has purchased redeemable preference shares in
Keystart Loans Ltd to the same value as the drawn down loan facility as security over the funds. The terms
and conditions of the shares reflect the terms and conditions of the loan facility. Keystart Loans Ltd. meets all
principal, interest and other costs associated with the facility. To date $3,675 million  (June 2013 $3,275 million)
of this facility has been drawn down.

(b) Loans to Homebuyers
(a) Interest rate risk

Refer to note 2 (ab) for an analysis of the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk in relation to loan
and other receivables. Summarised analysis of the sensitivity of loan and other receivables to interest rate is
illustrated in note 2 (ab).

(b) Fair value and credit risk

Current loan and other receivable
Due to the short term nature of these receivables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair
value
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivables
mentioned above. (Refer to note 2 (ab) for more information on the risk management policy of the Consolidated
Entity.)

Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

The fair values and carrying values of non-current 
receivables are as follows:
Loan and receivables - fair value 3,726,668 3,327,238 3 146

Credit Risk

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the higher of the carrying value and fair value of
each class of receivables mentioned above. (Refer to note 2 (ab) for more information on the risk management
policy of the Consolidated Entity).

(c) Collateral held

Collateral is in the form of registered first mortgages over residential properties in Western Australia purchased
with the proceeds of loans from Keystart. The parties granting the mortgage must be the same as the Keystart
borrowers.

Terms and conditions associated with the use of collateral are such that should a borrower breach the terms and
conditions of their mortgage, Keystart has the facility to recover all or part of the outstanding exposure by;

(a) exercising its rights under the mortgage, including the power of sale and 
(b) exercising any rights available under law.

The collateral held as security for loans that are past due or impaired is in the form of mortgaged residential
property.

Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$’000 $’000 $’000 $’000

Fair value of collateral obtained in terms of
the exercising of rights under the mortgages 6,592 9,438 - -

Mortgagee sales are considered as the last resort in relation to continually defaulting borrowers. The execution
of the mortgagee sales must comply with the National Consumer Protection Credit Act 2009 and National Credit
Code, where appropriate.

Repossessed collateral is sold at best possible market price, with any surpluses being returned to the borrowers
concerned. Any shortfalls are written-off against allowance.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013

23.  Deferred Income Tax asset $’000 $’000 $’000 $’000
For Goldmaster Pty Ltd

(a) Components of tax benefit comprises:
Deferred tax 1,450 - - -
Under provided in previous years 200 - - -

1,650 - - -
(b) Deferred tax

Deferred tax relates to the following:
Deferred tax assets 

Prior year tax losses provided in current year 200 - - -
Current year tax losses 989 - - -
Provison for impairment of land 500 - - -
Accrued expenses 58 - - -

1,747 - - -
Deferred tax liabilities

Interest expense capitailised in inventories 97 - - -
97 - - -

Net deferred tax assets 1,650 - - -

(c) Numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to the prima facie tax payable: 

Accounting loss before income tax (3,168) - - -

Prima facie tax payable on loss at 30% (950) - - -

Add/(less) tax effect of: 
Temporary differences

Land revaluation adjustment (1,089) - - -
Provisions for accrued interest 116 - - -
Provisions for pre paid sales commission (90) - - -
Other temporary differences (39) - - -

(2,051) - - -
Income tax benefit 1,650 - - -
Tax losses not brought to account (401) - - -

The Goldmaster directors have considered the probability of taxable profits arising in the near future as remote 
and therefore have determined not to recognise any deferred tax assets relating to unused tax losses.

The company estimates it has accumulated income tax losses of $6.5 million (2013 $6.09 million). The benefit 
of these losses and timing difference will only be obtainable if:

The company derives future assessable income of a nature and an amount sufficient to enable the benefit
from the deductions for the losses to be realised;

The company continues to comply with the conditions for deductibility imposed by law; and

No changes to tax legislation adversely affect the company in realising the benefit from the deduction for the
loss.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013

24. Other current assets $000 $000 $000 $000
Accrued revenue
Interest on cash at bank 907 1,713 907 1,713
Debenture sinking fund interest - 1,361 10,430 1,361
Accrued housing sales 7,674 - 7,674 -
Interest Keystart investments - - 8,740 11,076

8,581 3,074 27,751 14,150
Prepayments
Insurance premiums 22 - 22 -
Lease rentals 8,569 9,203 8,569 9,203
Development proposals 22,391 34,199 22,391 34,199
Joint venture 585 3,049 585 3,049
Sales commission 561 - - -

32,128 46,451 31,567 46,451
Total other current assets 40,709 49,525 59,318 60,601

25. Non-current assets classified as held for sale

Opening Balance
Rental properties 4,227 7,131 4,227 7,131

Assets reclassified as held for sale
Rental properties 25,345 48,527 25,345 48,527
Less impairment 536 1,031 536 1,031

24,809 47,496 24,809 47,496
Total assets classified as held for sale

Rental properties 29,036 54,627 29,036 54,627
Less assets sold

Rental properties 28,803 50,400 28,803 50,400
Closing balance

Rental properties 233 4,227 233 4,227

These properties are the Housing Authority's New Living and Redevelopment programs properties that form part of the
rental property class that are marketed and available for immediate sale in accordance with AASB 5. Assets held for
sale are held at fair value less selling costs. Information on fair value measurements are provided in Note 34.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

26. Other financial assets

Current
Deposits at call (a) 200,026 199,950 - -
Debentures (b) - 19,350 19,350 19,350
Total current other financial assets 200,026 219,300 19,350 19,350

Non - current investments
Ellenbrook Management Pty Ltd Shares (c) 24 24 24 24
Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd Shares (c) - - 18,000 -
Total non - current other financial assets 24 24 18,024 24

(a)  The fair values of the short term deposits are determined using generally accepted pricing models based on
      discounted cash flow analysis using prices from observable current market transactions.

(i)  Risk exposure - Information about the Consolidated Entity's exposure to market risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk is provided in note 2 (ab) 

(ii) Impairment - Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment regularly.  Financial assets are
impaired where there is objective evidence that as a result of one or more events that occurred after initial
recognition of the financial asset the recoverability of the investment has been impacted.

(b) Debentures classified as held-to-maturity investments with a carrying amount of $19.35 million (2013: $19.35
million) have an interest rate of 20% bi -annually and mature at the end of Stage 3 of the development. In
accordance with the Convertible Note Deed Poll, Goldmaster have the option of converting the Notes into
Shares on the terms set out in the Condition of Issue. 

(c) Interest is held in the following companies: 

Dividends Value of 
Principal Types of received shares at

Name activities shares $000 cost '$000
2014 2013

% %
Ellenbrook Management Pty Ltd Real estate Ord 47.14 47.14 Nil 24

development
Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd shares Property Ord 54.5 54.5 Nil 18,000

development

Percentage of each
share class held
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

27. Investment in associate 2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd shares - 12,690 - 18,000
Total investment in associate - 12,690 - 18,000

2014 2013
$000 $000

(a) Movements in carrying amount
Carrying amounts at the beginning of the financial year 12,690 14,935
Share of losses after income tax 30 September 2013 (5,069) (2,245)
Fair value loss on reclassification (12,974) -
Derecognition of associate on obtaining control 5,353
Carrying amount at the end of the financial year - 12,690

(b) During 2012-13, the Housing Authority had significant influence but did not exercise control or have joint control
over Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd. Accordingly, the financial statements of Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd
was not consolidated and the investment was accounted for using the “Equity” method in the consolidated
financial statements. On 30 September 2013 the Housing Authority obtained control of Goldmaster Enterprises
Pty Ltd and has consolidated the financial results of the company at 30 June 2014. (see note 50)

The Consolidated Entity's share of the results of it's principal associate and it's aggregated assets (including
goodwill) and liabilities are as follows:

Ownership Types of Assets Liabilities Revenues Loss
Name Interest shares $000 $000 $000 $000

2014 ( September 2013)
%

Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd 54.55 Ord 17,650 23,003 5 5,069

2013
%

Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd 54.55 Ord 18,001 18,287 18 2,245

(c) Unrecognised share of losses: current current cumulative
period period including current period
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd Ord 4,232 1,837 23,444 19,212

Consolidated    Parent 
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
28. Rental properties 2014 2013 2014 2013

Rental properties at fair value $000 $000 $000 $000
Improvements 6,038,997 5,653,563 6,038,997 5,653,563
Land 6,738,853 6,372,583 6,738,853 6,372,583

12,777,850 12,026,146 12,777,850 12,026,146
Less accumulated depreciation 3,529 3,802 3,529 3,802

12,774,321 12,022,344 12,774,321 12,022,344
Leasehold improvements at cost 4,482 176 4,482 176
Less accumulated depreciation 166 127 166 127

4,316 49 4,316 49
Vacant land at fair value 104,531 94,349 104,531 94,349
Total Rental properties 12,883,168 12,116,742 12,883,168 12,116,742

29. Community Housing properties

Crisis accommodation properties at fair value
Improvements 80,817 74,699 80,817 74,699
Land 125,874 117,754 125,874 117,754

206,691 192,453 206,691 192,453
Community Housing properties at fair value

Improvements 266,404 268,930 266,404 268,930
Land 229,587 217,489 229,587 217,489

495,991 486,419 495,991 486,419
Joint charity projects at fair value

Improvements 245,801 114,762 245,801 114,762
Land 18,738 39,610 18,738 39,610

264,539 154,372 264,539 154,372
Indigenous urban housing at fair value

Improvements 4,417 4,573 4,417 4,573
Land 5,854 5,676 5,854 5,676

10,271 10,249 10,271 10,249
977,492 843,493 977,492 843,493

Less accumulated depreciation:
Crisis accommodation 69 119 69 119
Community Housing 242 305 242 305
Joint charity projects 591 247 591 247
Indigenous urban housing - - - -

902 671 902 671
Total Community Housing properties 976,590 842,822 976,590 842,822

30. Shared Equity properties

Shared Equity properties at fair value
Improvements 240,528 226,820 240,528 226,820
Land 344,201 332,730 344,201 332,730

584,729 559,550 584,729 559,550
Less accumulated depreciation: 662 351 662 351
Total Shared Equity properties 584,067 559,199 584,067 559,199
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
31. Other properties 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
Other properties at fair value
Offices

Improvements 10,335 10,113 10,335 10,113
Land 42,984 43,638 42,984 43,638

53,319 53,751 53,319 53,751
Commercial

Improvements 6,724 5,237 6,724 5,237
Land 7,183 7,318 7,183 7,318

13,907 12,555 13,907 12,555
Indigenous assets

Improvements 17,046 9,408 17,046 9,408
Land 1,595 1,815 1,595 1,815

18,641 11,223 18,641 11,223
Joint venture buildings 1,387 1,329 1,387 1,329

87,254 78,858 87,254 78,858
Less accumulated depreciation:
Offices (14) - (14) -
Commercial 57 5 57 5
Indigenous assets 29 38 29 38
Joint venture buildings 604 739 604 739

676 782 676 782
86,578 78,076 86,578 78,076

Leasehold improvements at cost 4,218 3,225 4,218 3,225
Less accumulated depreciation: 2,153 1,661 2,153 1,661

2,065 1,564 2,065 1,564
Vacant land at fair value 45,300 63,365 45,300 63,365
Total other properties 133,943 143,005 133,943 143,005

32. Plant and equipment

Plant & equipment at cost
Air conditioning 2,383 1,171 2,383 1,171
Commercial vehicles 113 141 113 141
Computing facilities & equipment 17,806 17,457 13,704 13,707
Furniture & fittings 2,454 2,320 371 339
Office machines & equipment 3,225 3,314 3,053 3,142
Joint venture office equipment 140 172 140 172
Works of art 38 - 38 -
Transportable buildings 1,415 - 1,415 -
Plant & equipment 125 106 106 106

27,699 24,681 21,323 18,778
Less accumulated depreciation:
Air conditioning 1,205 997 1,205 997
Commercial vehicles 113 141 113 141
Computing facilities & equipment 14,307 13,740 11,719 11,605
Furniture & fittings 988 760 301 292
Office machines & equipment 2,640 2,610 2,487 2,468
Joint venture office equipment 108 125 108 125
Plant & equipment 120 106 106 106

19,481 18,479 16,039 15,734
Total plant and equipment 8,218 6,202 5,284 3,044
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33.  Property, plant and equipm
ent reconciliation

R
ental

C
om

m
unity

S
hared

O
ther

P
lant &

B
uildings

Total
R

ental
C

om
m

unity
S

hared
O

ther
P

lant &
B

uildings
Total

P
roperties

H
ousing 

E
quity

P
roperties

E
quipm

ent
under 

P
roperties

H
ousing 

E
quity

P
roperties

E
quipm

ent
under 

P
roperties

P
roperties

C
onstruction

P
roperties

P
roperties

C
onstruction

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

12,116,742
842,822

559,199
143,005

6,202
189,167

13,857,137
C

arrying am
ount at start of period

11,967,939
804,037

555,618
109,266

7,580
246,222

13,690,662
246,848

5,780
36,170

31,416
4,438

197,126
521,778

A
dditions

83,548
28,300

44,406
46,924

1,406
176,642

381,226
187,486

45,450
5,750

(17,803)
-

(220,883)
Transfers

164,525
81,452

2,351
(14,631)

-
(233,697)

-
(87,556)

(53,188)
(52,881)

(10,371)
(1,431)

-
(205,427)D

isposals
(63,395)

(73,448)
(39,947)

(653)
(181)

-
(177,624)

(25,345)
-

-
-

-
-

(25,345)C
lassified as held for sale

(49,068)
-

-
-

-
-

(49,068)
(12,104)

-
-

-
-

-
(12,104)Im

pairm
ent of property ( c)

(22,323)
-

-
-

-
-

(22,323)
570,972

145,961
42,234

(11,053)
-

-
748,114

R
evaluation increm

ents(decrem
ents) (a)

146,586
10,414

3,299
3,062

-
-

163,361
(113,875)

(10,235)
(6,405)

(1,251)
(991)

-
(132,757)D

epreciation
(111,070)

(7,933)
(6,528)

(963)
(2,603)

-
(129,097)

12,883,168
976,590

584,067
133,943

8,218
165,410

14,751,396
C

arrying am
ount at end of period

12,116,742
842,822

559,199
143,005

6,202
189,167

13,857,137

R
ental

C
om

m
unity

S
hared

O
ther

P
lant &

B
uildings

Total
R

ental
C

om
m

unity
S

hared
O

ther
P

lant &
B

uildings
Total

P
roperties

H
ousing 

E
quity

P
roperties

E
quipm

ent
under 

P
roperties

H
ousing 

E
quity

P
roperties

E
quipm

ent
under 

P
roperties (b)

P
roperties

C
onstruction

P
roperties

P
roperties

C
onstruction

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

12,116,742
842,822

559,199
143,005

3,044
189,167

13,853,979
C

arrying am
ount at start of period

11,967,939
804,037

555,618
109,266

4,566
246,222

13,687,648
246,848

5,780
36,170

31,416
3,976

197,126
521,316

A
dditions

83,548
28,300

44,406
46,924

913
176,642

380,733
187,486

45,450
5,750

(17,803)
-

(220,883)
-

Transfers
164,525

81,452
2,351

(14,631)
-

(233,697)
-

(87,556)
(53,188)

(52,881)
(10,371)

(1,431)
(205,427)D

isposals
(63,395)

(73,448)
(39,947)

(653)
(181)

-
(177,624)

(25,345)
-

-
-

-
-

(25,345)C
lassified as held for sale

(49,068)
-

-
-

-
-

(49,068)
(12,104)

-
-

-
-

-
(12,104)Im

pairm
ent of property ( c)

(22,323)
-

-
-

-
-

(22,323)
570,972

145,961
42,234

(11,053)
-

-
748,114

R
evaluation increm

ents(decrem
ents) (a)

146,586
10,414

3,299
3,062

-
-

163,361
(113,875)

(10,235)
(6,405)

(1,251)
(305)

-
(132,071)D

epreciation
(111,070)

(7,933)
(6,528)

(963)
(2,254)

-
(128,748)

12,883,168
976,590

584,067
133,943

5,284
165,410

14,748,462
C

arrying am
ount at end of period

12,116,742
842,822

559,199
143,005

3,044
189,167

13,853,979

              D
epreciation includes adjustm

ents on disposal of assets in addition to the depreciation expense for the year.

(a)
Independent valuations of land and buildings are provided annually by the W

estern A
ustralian Land Inform

ation A
uthority (V

aluation S
ervices) and recognised w

ith sufficient regularity to ensure that
the carrying am

ount does not differ m
aterially from

 the asset's fair value at the end of the reporting period.
Inform

ation on fair value m
easurem

ents is provided in N
ote 34

(b)
C

om
m

unity H
ousing P

roperties disposals include the transfer of properties to com
m

unity housing organisations. totalling $52.144 m
illion ( 2013 $71.369 m

illion), see note 19.

(c)
R

ecognised in the S
tatem

ent of C
om

prehensive Incom
e. W

here an asset m
easured at cost is w

ritten-dow
n to recoverable am

ount, an im
pairm

ent loss is recognised in profit or loss. W
here a

previously revalued asset is w
ritten dow

n to recoverable am
ount, the loss is recognised as a revaluation decrem

ent in other com
prehensive incom

e.

2014
2013

PA
R

EN
T

2014
2013

C
O

N
SO

LID
A

TED
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

34. Fair value measurements

Assets measured at fair value: Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Fair value
at the end
of period

2014 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000
Non-current assets classified as held for sale (Note 25) - 233 - 233
Land (Note 28, 29, 30 and 31) - 7,664,700 - 7,664,700
Buildings and improvements (Note 28, 29, 30 and 31) - 6,906,687 - 6,906,687

- 14,571,620 - 14,571,620
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the period.

Valuation techniques to derive Level 2 fair values
Level 2 fair values of non-current assets held for sale, Land and Buildings are derived using the market approach. 
Market evidence of sales prices of comparable land and buildings in close proximity is used to determine price per
square metre.
Non-current assets held for sale have been written down to fair value less costs to sell.  Fair value has been
determined by reference to market evidence of sales prices of comparable assets.

Valuation processes

There were no changes in valuation techniques during the period.

Fair value for restricted use land is based on market value, by either using market evidence of sales of comparable
land that is unrestricted less restoration costs to return the site to a vacant and marketable condition (low
restricted use land) or, comparison with market evidence for land with low level utility (high restricted use land).

Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013

35. Intangible assets $000 $000 $000 $000

Computing software at cost 7,051 10,225 4,686 8,063
Less accumulated amortisation 2,858 5,618 1,622 4,818

4,193 4,607 3,064 3,245
Computing development at cost 20,006 21,327 20,006 21,327
Less accumulated amortisation 874 12,286 874 12,286

19,132 9,041 19,132 9,041
Borrowing costs 777 - - -
Less accumulated amortisation 718 - - -

59 - - -
Total intangible assets 23,384 13,648 22,196 12,286

Intangible assets reconciliation
Carrying amount at start of period 13,648 7,207 12,286 6,448
Additions 13,219 8,223 12,239 7,322
Disposals 602 - 602 -
Amortisation expense (2,881) (1,782) (1,727) (1,484)
Carrying amount at end of period 23,384 13,648 22,196 12,286

Assets with a value of $15.9 million (2013: $8.80 million) relating to the development of the Northgate project are not yet
available for use. Once development is finalised and the system is in production, these assets will begin to be
amortised.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
36 Payables 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
Current
Contractors retention monies 12,472 12,918 12,472 12,918
Joint venture creditors 13,454 11,856 13,454 11,856
Rental properties water consumption 4,515 3,138 4,515 3,138
Rental tenants bonds 15,349 15,451 15,349 15,451
Trade creditors 103,555 58,298 94,683 58,298
Total current payables 149,345 101,661 140,473 101,661

Included in trade creditors is a $69.056 million liability payable to Fleetwood Pty Ltd. The liabilty is for outstanding
construction costs for the Osprey Key Workers Village project. These costs are to be considered in a formal
agreement for the management of this project. 
Also included in trade creditors are the unspent funds associated with the Indian Ocean Territories (IOT)
service delivery arrangements as per the following:

2014 2013
$ $

Amounts carried forward from previous financial year. 41,717 23,496
Payments made by the Commonwealth for IOT services. 44,500 44,000
Cost of services. 24,836 25,779
Construction paid - -
Amounts carried forward to following financial year. 61,381 41,717

Due to the short term nature of these payables, their carrying value is assumed to approximate their fair value.

Non - current
Joint venture creditors 554 554 554 554
Total non-current payables 554 554 554 554

37 Borrowings

Current
WA Treasury Corporation 306,009 99,534 306,009 99,534
Commonwealth advances 15,141 14,765 15,141 14,765
St George Bank 1,300 - - -

Total current borrowings 322,450 114,299 321,150 114,299
Non - current

WA Treasury Corporation 4,135,496 3,971,698 4,135,496 3,971,698
Commonwealth advances 407,500 422,644 407,500 422,644

Total non-current borrowings 4,542,996 4,394,342 4,542,996 4,394,342
Total borrowings 4,865,446 4,508,641 4,864,146 4,508,641

The fair values for WATC borrowings have been calculated by Western Australian Treasury Corporation, based on
market valuations.  The State Nominated and Commonwealth advances have been calculated using a discount rate
of 3.54% which is the Commonwealth bond rate. (June 2013 3.81%).  St George Bank is at face value as it will be
paid out within 12 months.

Consolidated Total carrying amount Aggregate Net Fair
Value

2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Borrowings - WATC 4,441,505 4,071,232 4,469,314 4,086,656
Borrowings - Commonwealth advances 422,641 437,409 461,667 466,614
St George Bank 1,300 - 1,300 -

4,865,446 4,508,641 4,932,281 4,553,270

Parent Total carrying amount Aggregate Net Fair
Value

2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Borrowings - WATC 4,441,505 4,071,232 4,469,314 4,086,656
Borrowings - Commonwealth advances 422,641 437,409 461,667 466,614

4,864,146 4,508,641 4,930,981 4,553,270

Borrowings - WATC are variable rate borrowings and repayable when due. Fixed rate borrowings are subject to
interest payments only with the full loan being due on maturity.
Borrowings - Commonwealth Advances are fixed rate borrowings and repayable on an annual basis with
final instalments being due between July 2014 and June 2042.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
38 Provisions 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
Current
Employee benefits provision
Annual leave (a) 13,500 9,830 13,500 9,830
Long service leave (b) 12,238 10,453 12,238 10,453
Superannuation (d) 22,543 24,388 22,543 24,388

48,281 44,671 48,281 44,671
Other provisions
Employment on-costs (c ) 1,290 1,319 1,290 1,319
Joint venture provisions 6,419 4,917 6,419 4,917
Total current provisions 55,990 50,907 55,990 50,907

Non - Current
Employee benefits provision
Long service leave (b) 9,597 9,126 9,597 9,126

9,597 9,126 9,597 9,126
Other provisions
Employment on-costs  (c ) 1,096 593 1,096 593
Development levies (note 2s(ii)) 3,283 2,155 3,283 2,155
Total non-current provisions 13,976 11,874 13,976 11,874

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for
at least 12 months after the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlements of the liabilities is
expected to occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 7,963 5,884 7,963 5,884
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 5,537 3,946 5,537 3,946

13,500 9,830 13,500 9,830

(b) Long service liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement
for at least 12 months after the end of the reporting period.  Assessments indicate that actual settlements of
the liabilities is occur as follows:

Within 12 months of the end of the reporting period 6,181 5,537 6,181 5,537
More than 12 months after the end of the reporting period 15,654 14,042 15,654 14,042

21,835 19,579 21,835 19,579

(c ) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs
including workers’ compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of expected future payments.
The associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount(finance cost), is included at note 19 ‘Other
expenses’.

(d ) Defined benefit superannuation plans
The superannuation liability has been established from data supplied by the Government Employees
Superannuation Board.

Movements in the present value of the defined benefit obligations in the reporting period were as
follows:

   Pension Scheme Pre-transfer benefit -
Gold State scheme

2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Liability at start of period 19,525 22,733 4,863 5,619
Included in surplus/(deficit)
Current service cost 
Past service cost - - - -
Interest cost 625 612 156 152

625 612 156 152
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

38 Provisions (continued)     Pension Scheme Pre-transfer benefit -
Gold State scheme

2014 2013 2014 2013
Included in Other Comprehensive Income: $000 $000 $000 $000
Remeasurement loss/(gain) recognised:
-Actuarial (gains)/loss arising from:
  demographic assumptions - 634 - (33)
  financial assumptions (432) (873) (70) (139)
  experience adjustments 111 (1,395) 5 (37)

(321) (1,634) (65) (209)

  Benefits paid (2,031) (2,186) (209) (699)
(2,031) (2,186) (209) (699)

Liability at end of period 17,798 19,525 4,745 4,863

Fair value of Scheme assets
The Authority holds no assets in Gold State Super for current employees to support the transferred benefits. Hence
there are no fair value and no asset allocation of scheme assets, no financial instruments issued by the employer,
no assets used by the employer and no asset-liability matching strategies

Significant actuarial assumptions at the reporting date;

Assumptions to determine start of the year defined benefit obligation and 2014 2013
defined benefit cost for the current year.
Discount rate 3.38% 2.84%
Future salary increases 5.00% 5.00%
Future pension increases 2.50% 2.50%

Assumptions to determine defined benefit obligation at the valuation date.
Discount rate 3.69% 3.38%
Future salary increases 5.00% 5.00%
Future pension increases 2.50% 2.50%

At 30 June 2014, the weighted-average duration of the defined benefit obligation was 7.5 years

The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for the GSS expose the Authority to actuarial risks, such as
salary risk and interest rate risk. The sensitivity analyses below have been determined based on
reasonably possible changes of the respective assumptions occurring at the end of the reporting period,
holding all other assumptions constant

Sensitivity analysis
Defined benefit obligation

Base case -0.5% +0.5%
Gold State scheme $000 $000 $000
Discount rate (0.5% movement) 4,745 4,859 4,636
Future salary growth (0.5% movement) 4,745 4,635 4,859

Pension scheme
Discount rate (0.5% movement) 17,798 18,505 17,142
Future pension growth (0.5% movement) 17,798 17,130 18,511
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

38 Provisions (continued)

Employer funding arrangements for the defined benefit plans
(i) The Pension Scheme and the pre-transfer benefit for the GSS in respect of individual plan participants are settled
by the Authority on their retirement. Funding requirements are based on invoices provided to the Authority by  GESB
that represent the cost of benefits paid to members during the reporting period.
(ii) Employer contributions of $2,000,000 (2014: $2,086,000) are expected to be paid to the Pension Scheme in the
subsequent annual reporting period.
(iii) Employer contributions of $710,000 (2014: $503,000) are expected to be paid to the Gold State Superannuation
Scheme in the subsequent annual reporting period.

Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Movements in other provisions
Employment on-costs 2,386 1,912 2,386 1,912

Carrying amount at start of period 1,912 1,387 1,912 1,387
Additional provisions recognised 9,300 6,968 9,300 6,968
Payments (7,681) (6,443) (7,681) (6,443)
Carrying amount at end of period 3,531 1,912 3,531 1,912

Development levies 3,283 2,155 3,283 2,155
Carrying amount at start of period 2,155 1,256 2,155 1,256
Additional provisions recognised 2,237 3,039 2,237 3,039
Payments (1,109) (2,140) (1,109) (2,140)
Carrying amount at end of period 3,283 2,155 3,283 2,155

Joint venture provisions 6,419 4,917 6,419 4,917
Carrying amount at start of period 4,917 8,417 4,917 8,417
Additional provisions recognised 4,968 3,439 4,968 3,439
Payments (3,466) (6,939) (3,466) (6,939)
Carrying amount at end of period 6,419 4,917 6,419 4,917

39 Other liabilities

Current
Accrued expenses:
Administrative & general expenses 26,631 11,190 22,854 7,576

26,631 11,190 22,854 7,576
Joint venture liabilities 2,232 - 2,232 -
Unearned income 9,106 8,783 8,652 8,182
Total current other liabilities 37,969 19,973 33,738 15,758

40 Contributed equity

The Western Australian Government holds the equity interest in the Authority on behalf of the community. Equity
represents the residual interest in the net assets of the Authority. The asset revaluation surplus represents that
portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of non-current assets.

Balance at start of period 2,059,354 1,836,711 2,059,354 1,836,711

Contributions by owners
Capital contributions 113,183 106,303 113,183 106,303

Other contributions by owner
Royalties for Regions Fund - Regional Infrastructure and 12,964 110,400 12,964 110,400
Headworks Account

Transfer of net assets from other agencies
Department of Lands 9,400 - 9,400 -
Department of Training & Workforce Development - 5,940 5,940

Total contributions by owners 135,547 222,643 135,547 222,643

Transfer of net assets to other agencies
WA Health (160) - (160) -
Department of Training & Workforce Development (540) - (540) -

Total distributions to owners (700) - (700) -

Balance at end of period 2,194,201 2,059,354 2,194,201 2,059,354
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
2014 2013 2014 2013

41 Reserves $000 $000 $000 $000

(i) Asset revaluation reserve
Balance brought forward from prior period 8,968,148 8,935,239 8,968,148 8,935,239
Transferred to retained earnings (85,906) (118,390) (85,906) (118,390)
Revaluations during the period 781,410 173,531 781,410 173,531
Impairment loss on Rental Properties (12,104) (22,232) (12,104) (22,232)
Closing balance 9,651,548 8,968,148 9,651,548 8,968,148

 Revaluations recognised during the year were in respect of:
Rental properties - current 563,465 146,496 563,465 146,496
Community Housing properties - current 145,961 10,414 145,961 10,414
Shared Equity properties - current 42,228 3,342 42,228 3,342
Other properties - current (282) 3,062 (282) 3,062
Land transferred to Rental properties 30,038 10,217 30,038 10,217

781,410 173,531 781,410 173,531
 Transferred to retained earnings

Revaluation amount of rental properties - sold (42,011) (78,610) (42,011) (78,610)
Revaluation amount of rental properties - demolished (29,237) (23,741) (29,237) (23,741)
Revaluation amount of Community Housing properties - sold (3,486) (5,778) (3,486) (5,778)
Revaluation amount of other properties - sold (230) - (230) -
Revaluation amount of Shared Equity properties - sold (10,942) (10,261) (10,942) (10,261)

(85,906) (118,390) (85,906) (118,390)

The asset revaluation reserve is used to record increments and decrements on the revaluation of non-current 
assets, as described in accounting policy note 2(f). 

(ii) Interest Assistance Lowstart reserve
Balance brought forward from prior year 747 756 - -
Transfer to retained profits (7) (9) - -
Closing balance 740 747 - -

Total reserves 9,652,288 8,968,895 9,651,548 8,968,148

42 Retained earnings

Opening balance 2,852,425 2,938,594 2,582,782 2,675,084
2,852,425 2,938,594 2,582,782 2,675,084

Transfer from asset revaluation reserve upon disposal 85,906 118,390 85,906 118,390
Transfer from Interest Assistance Lowstart reserve 7 9 - -
Net profit/(loss) for the year 47,403 (204,568) 67,414 (210,692)
Total retained earnings 2,985,741 2,852,425 2,736,102 2,582,782
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
43 Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
Reconciliation of cash

Cash at the end of the year is shown in the Statement of Cash Flow as:

Cash at bank - operational 145,769 50,615 109,391 12,250
Deposits at call 200,026 199,950 0 0
Rental tenants bonds 15,349 15,451 15,349 15,451
Joint venture cash 31,752 33,945 31,752 33,945
Remote indigenous communities 6,105 4,666 6,105 4,666
Royalties for Regions Fund 44,684 81,746 44,684 81,746

443,685 386,373 207,281 148,058

Reconciliation of cash flows from operations with profit for the period

Net Profit 51,330 (204,568) 67,800 (210,692)
Non - cash items:
Depreciation & amortisation expense 137,376 132,003 136,255 131,156
Doubtful debts expense 12,211 13,529 8,308 8,158
Loss on disposal of non-current assets 17,947 8,323 17,947 8,323
Cash items:
Grants & subsidies from government (87,923) (51,744) (87,923) (51,744)
(Increase)/decrease in assets:
Receivables 60,408 10,106 65,737 29,479
Inventories (139,175) (179,841) (111,789) (179,841)
Other assets (15,219) 8,475 (9,840) 9,841
Decrease in Investments in associates 18,034 2,245 - -
Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:
Provisions (20,731) (13,417) (20,731) (13,417)
Payables 47,688 76,960 35,011 86,928
Net GST payments (21,230) 1,357 (22,768) 1,357
Net cash flows (used in) provided by operating activities 60,716 (196,572) 78,007 (180,452)

44 Purchase of non-current physical assets

Buildings under construction 196,317 172,458 196,317 172,458
Computing facilities & equipment 13,729 9,641 13,174 8,045
Office machines & equipment 995 204 892 192
Transportable building 1,572 - 1,572 -
Properties 90,658 123,448 90,658 123,448
Total purchase of non-current physical assets 303,271 305,751 302,613 304,143

45 Remuneration of the accountable authority and senior officers

Remuneration of members of the accountable authority
The number of members of the accountable authority whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary
benefits and other benefits for the financial year, falls within the following bands:

2014 2013
$470,001 - $480,000 - 1
$490,001 - $500,000 1 -

$000 $000

Base remuneration and superannuation 525 511
Annual leave & long service leave accruals (56) (48)
Other benefits 22 13
Total remuneration of the member of the accountable authority 491 476

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Housing Authority in respect of 
members of the accountable authority. 
There are no members of the accountable authority who are currently members of the Pension Scheme.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

45 Remuneration of the accountable authority and senior officers (Continued)

Remuneration of senior officers
The number of senior officers other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, whose
total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year fall within the
following bands:

2014 2013
$  20,001  -  $30,000 - 1
$160,001  -  $170,000 - -
$180,001  -  $190,000 1 1
$190,001  -  $200,000 3 1
$200,001  -  $210,000 - 1
$210,001  -  $220,000 - 1

$000 $000

Base remuneration and superannuation 734 823
Annual leave & long service leave accruals 14 (23)
Other benefits 29 32
The total remuneration of senior officers 777 832

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by the Authority in respect of senior officers
reported as members of the accountable authority. The decrease is due to leave payments to senior officers relating
 to previous years.
There are no senior officers presently employed who are currently members of the Pension Scheme.

Consolidated Parent
46 Remuneration of auditor 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
Remuneration paid or payable to the Auditor General in respect of
the audit for the current financial year is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and key 411 433 304 292
performance indicators.

411 433 304 292
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

Consolidated Parent
47 Commitments for expenditure 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
At June 30 2014 the expenditure commitments being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts
reported in the financial statements, are payable as follows:

(a) Capital expenditure commitments
Capital expenditure commitments, being contracted capital expenditure additional to the amounts reported in the 
financial statements, are payable as follows:
Within 1 year 229,444 340,612 213,601 340,612
Later than 1 year & not later than 5 years 1,853 2,576 1,853 2,576
Later than 5 years - 37 - 37

231,297 343,225 215,454 343,225
The capital commitments include amounts for the following:
Dwelling construction & upgrades 96,733 222,609 96,733 222,609
Land development and redevelopment 16,999 19,333 16,999 19,333
Crisis accommodation program 8,959 2,196 8,959 2,196
Joint venture land development 10,894 14,627 10,894 14,627
New living 226 30,793 226 30,793
Local Government & Community Housing programs 314 1,681 314 1,681
Commitments in Goldmaster 15,843 - - -
Affordable Housing 81,329 51,986 81,329 51,986

231,297 343,225 215,454 343,225
(b) Loan advance commitment

Approved loans not yet fully disbursed 503,795 243,486 -
503,795 243,486 - -

Loan advance commitment includes the following:
 Loans to Home Buyers 503,795 243,486 - -

503,795 243,486 - -

Expenditure commitments decreased by $127.77 million from the previous year.

Committed carryover for Construction of Houses decreased from the previous year due to funded projects from
2012-13 being completed or nearing completion in 2013-14. Also there were fewer units commenced in 2013-14.

There was a reduction in the committed carryover for GROH and Key Service Workers due to a lower number of 
commencements in 2013-14 compared to 2012-13. 

Capital commitments for Remote Village Construction decreased due to delays in negotiations surrounding the
2014-15 capital works bid between Aboriginal Housing Services (AHS) and Department of Premier and Cabinet.
This has prevented the following year's program to commence early as was the case in previous years. 

Committed carryover for Land Development and Redevelopment decreased slightly from the previous year mainly
due to delays in planning activities in Keralup as a result of environmental issues. Also contributing to the decrease
is the completion of a number of civil works contracts entered into in 2012-13 with regards to Golden Bay, Bentley
Brownlie Towers and Gosnell's Verna Street development activities. 

There was an increase in the committed carryover for Crisis Accommodation due to a majority of units
commencing in the last quarter of the financial year and several projects that commenced earlier, requiring
extension of construction periods

The decrease in Joint Venture development expenditure commitment is a result of reduction in buyer activity during
the course of the year, which resulted in project works being deferred. This was partially offset by a number of Joint
Ventures who have increased their commitments to fund further developments within their respective projects in
Ellenbrook, Butler and Wandina. 

New Living Development commitments have decreased in comparison to the prior year due to the majority of land
developments being completed in 2013-14 and new development projects in Hedland being delayed to 2014-15.
Also, contributing to the decrease is the tapering off of capital commitments associated with the project "Cottier
Apartments" complex as it nears completion

Committed carryover for Community Housing has decreased due in fewer commencements in 2013-14. The
Housing Authority, in collaboration with the Community Housing sector will continue to provide and sustain social
housing in the State. 
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

47 Commitments for expenditure (continued)

The high carryover commitments of $81.33 million for the Affordable Housing Construction Program was due to an
overall increase in the construction time frames for many properties in 2013-14 coupled with a large number of
commencements in early 2014 not reaching completion by 30th June 2014.

Committed carryover for Loans to Homebuyers increased by $260.31 million. Underlying demand has led to a
higher volume of loans being formally approved in 2013-14 than in 2012-13, and together with a high proportion of
construction loans, has resulted in an increased carryover of loan amounts available for borrowers to draw down. 

Consolidated Parent
(c) Non cancellable operating  lease commitments 2014 2013 2014 2013

$000 $000 $000 $000
Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial
statements as liabilities are payable as follows:
Rental property leases:
Lease commitments on non cancellable operating leases are:
Within 1 year 69,581 66,960 69,581 66,960
Later than 1 year & not later than 5 years 62,560 67,080 62,560 67,080
Later than 5 years 687 516 687 516

132,828 134,556 132,828 134,556
Motor vehicle leases:
Lease commitments on non cancellable operating leases are:
Within 1 year 782 759 782 759
Later than 1 year & not later than 5 years 642 493 642 493

1,424 1,252 1,424 1,252
Office property leases:
Lease commitments on non cancellable operating leases are:
Within 1 year 4,826 4,025 4,074 3,309
Later than 1 year & not later than 5 years 7,586 7,656 6,020 5,449
Later than 5 years 158 - 158 -

12,570 11,681 10,252 8,758
48 Contingent liabilities

Contaminated sites
Under the Contaminated Sites Act 2003, the Housing Authority is required to report known and suspected 
contaminated sites to the Department of Environment Regulationn (DER). In accordance with the Act, DER classifies
these sites on the basis of the risk to human health, the environment and environmental values. Where sites are 
classified as contaminated - remediation required or possibly contaminated – investigation required, the Housing 
Authority may have a liability in respect of investigation or remediation expenses. There are three sites that have
been identified as 'Contaminated - Remediation Required'.

The Housing Authority have identified seven other suspected contaminated sites of which four sites had been listed
as required further investigations and three other sites awaiting classification. Of the four sites identified as
investigations required, two of these are subject to further verifications as to whether the owner or the occupier will be
responsible for any future potential liability. Consequently the Housing Authority is unable to assess the likely
outcome and accordingly, it is not practicable to estimate the potential financial effect or to identify the uncertainties
relating to the amount or timing of any outflows.

Whilst there is no possibility of reimbursement of any future expenses that may be incurred in the remediation of
these sites, the Housing Authority may apply for funding from the Contaminated Sites Management Account to
undertake further investigative work or to meet remediation costs that may be required.

Litigation in progress
The Housing Authority has been joined in legal actions involving asbestos related illness. The estimated value of
these claims against the Housing Authority is $320,000 (2013: $420,000). Liability is being denied and any legal
claim will be defended.

Development management agreements

Under a small number of Development Management Agreements, the Authority has agreed to provide land as
security against the external financing obtained by the developer. The Authority’s obligation to the financier is limited
to the value of land that it contributes to the contractual arrangement and in the event that the guarantee is
exercised, it will be facilitated through the transfer of legal title over the land to the financier with no cash settlement
required. The value of the land is $10.0 million.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

49 Supplementary financial information

(a) Write offs.
Bad Debts written off by the Accountable Authority in the year ended 30 June 2014 totalled $7,105,545
(2013: $7,157,836)
Bad Debts recovered during the year ended 30 June 2014 totalled $724,042 (2013: $572,924)

(b) Losses to the Housing Authority through thefts, defaults or other causes:
Cashier shortage incurred for the year ended 30 June 2014 was nil. (2013: nil).
Reportable thefts in the year ended 30 June 2014 was nil (2013: nil).
Amounts recovered during the year ended 30 June 2014 was nil (2013: nil)

(c) Gifts of public property
In the year ended 30 June 2014 the Housing Authority made no gifts of public property.

50. Business combinations

On 30 September 2013 the Housing Authority obtained control over Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd. Due to
obtaining control the Housing Authority has treated this event as a business combination achieved in
stages. As required by Accounting Standards, the Associate has been remeasured to fair value on the date
control was obtained, with a remeasurement loss of $12.793 million recognised in the Income Statement (note 27).
From this date the results of Goldmaster have been consolidated in full as part of these financial
statements. Refer to note 2(l,d,ii) for the accounting policy for subsidiaries consolidated as part of the
Group

The fair value of assets and liabilities of Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd on the date of obtaining control were 
as follows:

September 30, 2013
$000

Current Assets
Cash 6,197
Receivables 1
Prepayments 645
Land held for sale 13,600
Intagibles 20,443

Non-current Assets
Land held for sale 11,935
Plant & Equipment 7
Total non-current Assets 11,942
Total Assets 32,385

 Current Liabilities
Trade and other payables 2,120
Financial liabilities 40,087

Total Liabilities 42,207
Net Assets (9,822)

There was no goodwill arising from this business combination.

2014 2013 2014 2013
$000 $000 $000 $000

Opening Equity for non-controlling interest (4,469) - - -
Non-controlling profit for 9 months ending 30 June 2014 3,541 - - -
Total non-controlling interest (928) - - -

Consolidated Parent
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

51 Related parties
Keystart, a fully owned subsidiary is financed by the Housing Authority. The Housing Authority purchases
preferential shares from Keystart at rates and conditions that mirror the loans that the Housing Authority obtains from
the Western Australian Treasury Corporation. 
The following transactions/balances are eliminated on the consolidation of Keystart:

Note 2014 2013
$000 $000

Preferential shares 22 3,675,000 3,275,000
Interest revenue 9 94,181 105,733
Dividend 10 72,800 56,000
Other current assets 24 8,740 11,076
Recovery of salaries 135 127

Goldmaster, a controlled subsidiary entity is financed by the Housing Authority.  The Housing Authority has provided
three loans to Goldmaster for the development of property in Cockburn. The Housing Authority has also invested in
Convertible Debentures with Goldmaster. 
The following transactions/balances are eliminated on the consolidation of Goldmaster:

Note 2014
$000

Interest revenue 9 5,991
Other financial assets 26 19,350
Loans and receivables 22 27,798
Other current assets 24 10,430

52. Events occurring after the end of the reporting period

The Housing Authority had no adjusting or non-adjusting events after the end of the reporting period.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

53. Financial instrument disclosures (continued )

Interest Rate Risk
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate sensitivity of the Consolidated Entity's financial
assets and liabilities at the end of the reporting period on the profit for the period and equity for a 1% change in
interest rates.  It is assumed that the change in interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period.
The Consolidated Entity's exposure to market interest rates relates primarily to the Consolidated Entity's long term
debt obligations. 

CONSOLIDATED
-1% +1%

Carrying
amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2014 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
(i) Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 145,769 (1,458) (1,458) 1,458 1,458

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 97,890 (979) (979) 979 979
Deposits at call 200,026 (2,000) (2,000) 2,000 2,000
Loans to homebuyers 3,722,147 (37,221) (37,221) 37,221 37,221

 Loans to commercial organisations 2,966 (30) (30) 30 30

(ii) Financial Liabilities
Borrowings
 - WATC floating 3,445,000   34,450 34,450 (34,450) (34,450)
 - WATC fixed * 980,455      -                  -                  -                  -                  
 - Commonwealth advances * 422,641      -                  -                  -                  -                  
Total Increase/(Decrease) (7,238) (7,238) 7,238 7,238

-1% +1%
Carrying
amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2013 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
(i) Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 50,615 (506) (506) 506 506

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 135,808 (1,358) (1,358) 1,358 1,358
Deposits at call 199,950 (2,000) (2,000) 2,000 2,000
Debentures 19,350 (194) (194) 194 194

 Loans to homebuyers 3,322,330 (33,223) (33,223) 33,223 33,223
 Loans to commercial organisations 3,967 (40) (40) 40 40

(ii) Financial Liabilities
Borrowings
 - WATC floating 2,430,000   24,300 24,300 (24,300) (24,300)
 - WATC fixed * 1,612,564   -                  -                  -                  -                  
 - Commonwealth advances * 437,409      -                  -                  -                  -                  
Total Increase/(Decrease) (13,021) (13,021) 13,021 13,021

* Commonwealth Advances and WATC (fixed) are fixed interest loans that are not affected by interest rates.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

53. Financial instrument disclosures (continued )

PARENT
-1% +1%

Carrying
amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2014 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
(i) Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 109,391 (1,094) (1,094) 1,094 1,094

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 97,890 (979) (979) 979 979
Debentures 19,350 (194) (194) 194 194
Keystart preference shares 3,675,000 (36,750) (36,750) 36,750 36,750

 Loans to commercial organisations 25,727 (257) (257) 257 257

(ii) Financial Liabilities
Borrowings
 - WATC floating 3,445,000   34,450 34,450 (34,450) (34,450)
 - WATC fixed * 980,455      -                  -                  - -
 - Commonwealth advances * 422,641      -                  -                  - -
Total Increase/(Decrease) (4,824) (4,824) 4,824 4,824

-1% +1%
Carrying
amount Profit Equity Profit Equity

2013 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000
(i) Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12,250        (123) (123) 123 123

 Restricted cash and cash equivalents 135,808      (1,358) (1,358) 1,358 1,358
Debentures 19,350        (194) (194) 194 194
Keystart preference shares 3,275,000   (32,750) (32,750) 32,750 32,750

 Loans to commercial organisations 3,967          (40) (40) 40 40

(ii) Financial Liabilities
Borrowings
 - WATC floating 2,430,000   24,300 24,300 (24,300) (24,300)
 - WATC fixed * 1,612,564   -                  -                  - -
 - Commonwealth advances * 437,409      -                  -                  - -
Total Increase/(Decrease) (10,165) (10,165) 10,165 10,165

* Commonwealth Advances and WATC (fixed) are fixed interest loans that are not affected by interest rates.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

53. Financial instrument disclosures (continued)

Credit Risk

CONSOLIDATED

More than More than
Not past due 3 months 6 months Impaired

Carrying and not Not more less than less than More than financial
Amount impaired than 3 months 6 months 1 year 1 year assets

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2014

Cash and cash equivalents 145,769 145,769 - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 97,890 97,890 - - - - -
Other financial assets
 - deposits at call 200,026 200,026 - - - - -
 - other assets 24 24 - - - - -
Receivables *
 - general 11,380 10,542 191 68 542 37 -
 - land debtors 29,832 28,899 1 63 - 869 -
 - rent from tenants and other 28,274 4,834 7,442 4,090 6,455 5,453 -
 - rental lease bonds 18,602 16,456 667 594 885 - -
 - loans to homebuyers 3,722,147 3,710,649 8,647 2,851 - - -
 - loans to commercial organisations 2,966 2,966 - - - - -
Other current assets 8,581 8,581
Total financial assets 4,265,491 4,226,636 16,948 7,666 7,882 6,359 -

2013

Cash and cash equivalents 50,615 50,615 - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 135,808 135,808 - - - - -
Other financial assets
 - debentures 19,350 19,350 - - - - -
 - deposits at call 199,950 199,950 - - - - -
 - other assets 24 24 - - - - -
Receivables *
 - general 22,792 20,669 324 81 167 1,551 -
 - land debtors 33,312 17,161 939 - 15,212 - -
 - rent from tenants and other 27,765 3,762 8,737 3,698 5,022 6,546 -
 - rental lease bonds 16,918 15,610 616 624 68 - -
 - loans to homebuyers 3,322,330 3,304,266 13,382 4,682 - - -
 - loans to commercial organisations 4,092 4,092 - - - - -
 - loans to local and statutory organisations 3 3 - - - - -
Other current assets 3,074 3,074 - - - - -
Investment in associate 12,690 12,690 - - - - -
Total financial assets 3,848,723 3,787,074 23,998 9,085 20,469 8,097 -

* Ageing of past due but not impaired values are inclusive of allowance for impairment. These provisions are netted against past
   due items greater than 1 year.

Ageing analysis of financial assets

Past due but not impaired
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

53. Financial instrument disclosures (continued)

Credit Risk

PARENT

More than More than 
Not past due 3 months 6 months Impaired

Carrying and not Not more less than 6 less than More than financial
Amount impaired than 3 months months 1 year 1 year assets

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

2014

Cash and cash equivalents 109,391 109,391 - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 97,890 97,890 - - - - -
Other financial assets
 - debentures 19,350 19,350 - - - - -
 - shares in Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd 18,000 18,000 - - - - -
 - other assets 24 24 - - - - -
Receivables *
 - general 11,250 10,412 191 68 542 37 -
 - land debtors 29,832 28,899 1 63 - 869 -
 - rent from tenants and other 28,274 4,834 7,442 4,090 6,455 5,453 -
 - rental lease bonds 18,602 16,456 667 594 885 - -
 - loans to homebuyers 3 3 - - - - -
 - loans to commercial organisations 25,727 25,727 - - - - -
 - Keystart preference shares 3,675,000 3,675,000 - - - - -
Other current assets 27,751 27,751 - - - - -
Total financial assets 4,061,094 4,033,737 8,301 4,815 7,882 6,359 -

2013

Cash and cash equivalents 12,250 12,250 - - - - -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 135,808 135,808 - - - - -
Other financial assets
 - debentures 19,350 19,350 - - - - -
 - other assets 24 24 - - - - -
Receivables *
 - general 22,150 20,027 324 81 167 1,551 -
 - land debtors 33,312 17,161 939 - 15,212 - -
 - rent from tenants and other 27,765 3,762 8,737 3,698 5,022 6,546 -
 - rental lease bonds 16,918 15,610 616 624 68 - -
 - loans to homebuyers 18 18 - - - - -
 - loans to commercial organisations 4,092 4,092 - - - - -
 - loans to local and statutory organisations 3 3 - - - - -
 - Keystart preference shares 3,275,000 3,275,000 - - - - -
Other current assets 14,150 14,150 - - - - -
Investment in associate 18,000 18,000 - - - - -
Total financial assets 3,578,840 3,535,255 10,616 4,403 20,469 8,097 -

* Ageing of past due but not impaired values are inclusive of allowance for impairment. These provisions are netted against past
   due items greater than 1 year.

Past due but not impaired

Ageing analysis of financial assets
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53. Financial instrum
ent disclosures (continued )

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

C
O

N
SO

LID
A

TED
W

eighted
Total

A
verage

Fixed
V

ariable
N

on-
W

ithin
1 - 2

2 - 3
3 - 4

4 - 5
M

ore than
A

djustm
ent for

carrying
E

ffective
Interest 

Interest
Interest

1 year
years

years
years

years
5 years

discounting
am

ount 
Interest R

ate
R

ate
R

ate
B

earing
2014

%
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

$000
$000

(i) Financial A
ssets

C
ash and cash equivalents

3.09%
-

145,769
-

145,769
-

-
-

-
-

-
145,769

R
estricted cash and cash equivalents

2.82%
-

97,890
-

97,890
-

-
-

-
-

-
97,890

O
ther financial assets

 - deposits at call
3.46%

-
200,026

-
200,026

-
-

-
-

-
-

200,026
 - other assets

-
-

24
-

-
-

-
-

24
-

24
R

eceivables
 - general

***
-

-
11,380

11,380
-

-
-

-
-

-
11,380

 - land debtors
***

-
-

29,832
29,832

-
-

-
-

-
-

29,832
 - rent from

 tenants and other
-

-
28,274

28,274
-

-
-

-
-

-
28,274

 - rental and lease bonds
***

-
-

18,602
18,602

-
-

-
-

-
-

18,602
 - loans to hom

ebuyers
5.51%

3
3,722,144

-
-

-
-

-
-

3,722,147
-

3,722,147
 - loans to com

m
ercial organisations

4.48%
2,966

-
-

2,966
-

-
-

-
-

-
2,966

O
ther current assets

***
-

-
8,581

8,581
-

-
-

-
-

-
8,581

Total financial assets
2,969

4,165,829
96,693

543,320
-

-
-

-
3,722,171

-
4,265,491

(ii) Financial Liabilities
B

orrow
ings

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
 - W

A
TC

3.23%
980,455

3,445,000
-

1,434,549
1,626,014

537,897
1,236,873

292,968
6,343,386

7,046,232
4,425,455

 - C
om

m
onw

ealth advances
4.57%

422,641
-

-
34,088

33,777
33,421

33,129
32,797

501,943
246,514

422,641
P

ayables
- general *

***
-

-
130,035

130,035
-

-
-

-
-

-
130,035

- rental deposits and tenant bonds **
***

-
-

15,349
15,349

-
-

-
-

-
-

15,349
- rental property w

ater consum
ption

***
-

-
4,515

4,515
-

-
-

-
-

-
4,515

O
ther current liabilities

***
-

-
26,631

26,631
-

-
-

-
-

-
26,631

Total financial liabilities
1,403,096

3,445,000
176,530

1,645,167
1,659,791

571,318
1,270,002

325,765
6,845,329

7,292,746
5,024,626

*    P
ayables general includes an am

ount of $ 851,903 (2013 $799,221) for estate im
provem

ents.  These funds are com
m

itted for various groups across the S
tate.

     The repaym
ents of these funds is based on the property m

arket activity w
ithin each area.  The m

aturity is not date based and cannot be forecast.
**  R

ental deposits and tenant bonds are repayable only w
hen the tenant vacates the rental property.  The full am

ount ow
ing is not necessarily the am

ount
     that w

ill be paid on vacation as this m
oney can be offset against any outstanding rental paym

ents or other paym
ents that are outstanding.

*** N
ot applicable for non-interest bearing financial assets and  liabilities

Interest rate exposure
C

ontractual M
aturity D

ates

Interest rate exposure and m
aturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

53. Financial instrument disclosures (continued )

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

CONSOLIDATED
Weighted Total
Average Fixed Variable Non- Within 1 - 2 2 - 3 3 - 4 4 - 5 More than Adjustment for carrying
Effective Interest Interest Interest 1 year years years years years 5 years discounting amount 

Interest Rate Rate Rate Bearing
2013 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

(i) Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3.09% - 50,615 - 50,615 - - - - - - 50,615
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3.40% - 135,808 - 135,808 - - - - - - 135,808
Other financial assets
 - deposits at call 3.46% - 199,950 - 199,950 - - - - - - 199,950
 - debentures 40.00% 19,350 - - 19,350 - - - - - - 19,350
 - other assets - - 24 - - - - - 24 - 24
Receivables
 - general *** - - 22,792 22,792 - - - - - - 22,792
 - land debtors *** - - 33,312 33,312 - - - - - - 33,312
 - rent from tenants and other - - 27,765 27,765 - - - - - - 27,765
 - rental and lease bonds *** - - 16,918 16,918 - - - - - - 16,918
 - loans to homebuyers 5.51% 18 3,322,312 - - - - - - 3,322,330 - 3,322,330
 - loans to commercial organisations 7.00% 3,967 - 125 3,967 - - - - 125 - 4,092
 - loans to local and statutory parties *** - - 3 - - - - - 3 - 3
Other current assets *** - - 3,074 3,074 - - - - - - 3,074
Investment in associate *** - - 12,690 - - - - - 12,690 - 12,690
Total financial assets 23,335 3,708,685 116,703 513,551 - - - - 3,335,172 - 3,848,723

(ii) Financial Liabilities
Borrowings
 - WATC 3.32% 1,612,564 2,430,000 - 2,341,486 773,856 1,180,999 355,049 602,037 6,297,509 7,508,372 4,042,564
 - Commonwealth advances 4.56% 437,409 - - 34,366 34,084 33,773 33,418 33,125 534,817 266,174 437,409
Payables
- general * *** - - 83,626 83,626 - - - - - - 83,626
- rental deposits and tenant bonds ** *** - - 15,451 15,451 - - - - - - 15,451
- rental property water consumption *** - - 3,138 3,138 - - - - - - 3,138
Other current liabilities *** - - 11,190 11,190 - - - - - - 11,190
Total financial liabilities 2,049,973 2,430,000 113,405 2,489,257 807,940 1,214,772 388,467 635,162 6,832,326 7,774,546 4,593,378

Contractual Maturity DatesInterest rate exposure

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

53. Financial instrument disclosures (continued )

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

PARENT
Weighted Total
Average Fixed Variable Non- Within 1 - 2 2 - 3 3 - 4 4 - 5 More than Adjustment for carrying
Effective Interest Interest Interest 1 year years years years years 5 years discounting amount 

Interest Rate Rate Rate Bearing
2014 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

(i) Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2.82% - 109,391 - 109,391 - - - - - - 109,391
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 2.82% - 97,890 - 97,890 - - - - - - 97,890
Other financial assets
 - debentures 40.00% 19,350 - - 19,350 - - - - - - 19,350
 - other assets - - 18,024 - - - - - 18,024 - 18,024
Receivables
 - general *** - - 11,250 11,250 - - - - - - 11,250
 - land debtors *** - - 29,832 29,832 - - - - - - 29,832
 - rent from tenants and other *** - - 28,274 28,274 - - - - - - 28,274
 - rental and lease bonds *** - - 18,602 18,602 - - - - - - 18,602
 - loans to homebuyers 5.38% 3 - - - - - - - 3 - 3
 - loans to commercial organisations 4.48% 25,727 - - 25,727 - - - - - - 25,727
 - Keystart preference shares 2.79% 230,000 3,445,000 - 1,015,000 1,075,000 275,000 960,000 - 350,000 - 3,675,000
Other current assets *** - - 27,751 27,751 - - - - - - 27,751
Total financial assets 275,080 3,652,281 133,733 1,383,067 1,075,000 275,000 960,000 - 368,027 - 4,061,094

(ii) Financial Liabilities
Borrowings
 - WATC 3.23% 980,455 3,445,000 - 1,434,549 1,626,014 537,897 1,236,873 292,968 6,343,386 7,046,232 4,425,455
 - Commonwealth advances 4.57% 422,641 - - 34,088 33,777 33,421 33,129 32,797 501,943 246,514 422,641
Payables
- general * *** - - 121,163 121,163 - - - - - - 121,163
- rental deposits and tenant bonds ** *** - - 15,349 15,349 - - - - - - 15,349
- rental property water consumption *** - - 4,515 4,515 - - - - - - 4,515
Other current liabilities *** - - 22,854 22,854 - - - - - - 22,854
Total financial liabilities 1,403,096 3,445,000 163,881 1,632,518 1,659,791 571,318 1,270,002 325,765 6,845,329 7,292,746 5,011,977

*    Payables general includes an amount of $ 851,903 (2013 $799,221) for estate improvements.  These funds are committed for various groups across the State.
     The repayments of these funds is based on the property market activity within each area.  The maturity is not date based and cannot be forecast.
**  Rental deposits and tenant bonds are repayable only when the tenant vacates the rental property.  The full amount owing is not necessarily the amount
     that will be paid on vacation as this money can be offset against any outstanding rental payments or other payments that are outstanding.
*** Not applicable for non-interest bearing financial assets and  liabilities

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities

Interest rate exposure Contractual Maturity Dates
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

53. Financial instrument disclosures (continued )

Liquidity risk and interest rate exposure

PARENT
Weighted Total
Average Fixed Variable Non- Within 1 - 2 2 - 3 3 - 4 4 - 5 More than Adjustment for carrying
Effective Interest Interest Interest 1 year years years years years 5 years discounting amount 

Interest Rate Rate Rate Bearing
2013 % $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000

(i) Financial Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 3.40% - 12,250 - 12,250 - - - - - - 12,250
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 3.40% - 135,808 - 135,808 - - - - - - 135,808
Other financial assets
 - debentures 40.00% 19,350 - - 19,350 - - - - - - 19,350
 - other assets - - 24 - - - - - 24 - 24
Receivables
 - general *** - - 22,150 22,150 - - - - - - 22,150
 - land debtors *** - - 33,312 33,312 - - - - - - 33,312
 - rent from tenants and other *** - - 27,765 27,765 - - - - - - 27,765
 - rental and lease bonds *** - - 16,918 16,918 - - - - - - 16,918
 - loans to homebuyers 5.38% 18 - - - - - - - 18 - 18
 - loans to commercial organisations 7.00% 3,967 - 125 3,967 - - - - 125 - 4,092
 - loans to local and statutory parties *** - - 3 - - - - - 3 - 3
 - Keystart preference shares 2.97% 845,000 2,430,000 - 1,850,000 500,000 575,000 50,000 300,000 - - 3,275,000
Other current assets *** - - 14,150 14,150 - - - - - - 14,150
Investment in associate *** - - 18,000 - - - - - 18,000 - 18,000
Total financial assets 868,335 2,578,058 132,447 2,135,670 500,000 575,000 50,000 300,000 18,170 - 3,578,840

(ii) Financial Liabilities
Borrowings
 - WATC 3.32% 1,612,564 2,430,000 - 2,341,486 773,856 1,180,999 355,049 602,037 6,297,509 7,508,372 4,042,564
 - Commonwealth advances 4.56% 437,409 - - 34,366 34,084 33,773 33,418 33,125 534,817 266,174 437,409
Payables
- general * *** - - 83,626 83,626 - - - - - - 83,626
- rental deposits and tenant bonds ** *** - - 15,451 15,451 - - - - - - 15,451
- rental property water consumption *** - - 3,138 3,138 - - - - - - 3,138
Other current liabilities *** - - 7,576 7,576 - - - - - - 7,576
Total financial liabilities 2,049,973 2,430,000 109,791 2,485,643 807,940 1,214,772 388,467 635,162 6,832,326 7,774,546 4,589,764

Interest rate exposure Contractual Maturity Dates

Interest rate exposure and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

54(a). COMPARISONS OF ESTIMATES 2013-14 AND ACTUAL OPERATING RESULTS FOR 2013-14 (continued)

Budget Actual Variation
$000 $000 $000

* Loss on disposal of non-current assets 8,355 (17,947)       (26,302)       
The Authority expected a small gain from the sale of properties under
the New Living program. Demolition costs of properties which have
reached the end of their useful life has resulted in a loss of $25.325m on disposal. 
Sale of other properties also incurred greater losses than budgeted.

* Community support expense 253,475 191,521 (61,954)       
Community support expense is lower than anticipated due to the
2014-2016 bid undergoing protracted negotiations. Early starts relating
to the 2014-2016 programs were not commenced. 

* Supplies and services 59,643 37,717 (21,926)       
The variance is mostly as a result of a reduction in staff training, travel
and professional consultant costs.

* Employee benefits 101,040 128,198 27,158        
Employee benefits expense is higher as a result of the 4.25% salary
increase effective 12 April 2013 under the Public Service and
Government Officers General Agreement and a progressive change in
the business activities. Furthermore, several voluntary redundancy
payments were made to eligible employees in 2013-14 based on
existing provisions within the Public Sector Management Act for
voluntary severance. 

* Accommodation expenses 11,699 13,185 1,486          
Expenses exceeded budget by 12.70% during the year due to increased
costs in leasing and maintenance of the Authority's offices.

* Finance costs 238,894 149,132 (89,762)       
Finance costs are below budget as a result of the budgeted Keystart
loan portfolio balance not being reached, due to higher discharges than
expected, and lower approvals for the Shared Start program.  Interest
rates to borrowers were also lower than budgeted due to an environment
of low interest rates.  Finance costs are fully offset against Interest
revenue.

* Depreciation and amortisation 123,867 136,255 12,388
During the year, the Authority acquired a number of properties under
three new asset classes, leading to an increase in depreciation.

* Other expenses 261,756 119,163 (142,593)
Other expenses are below budget predominantly due to $52.14 million of
properties transferred to the Community Housing sector under the
Commonwealth Stimulus program instead of the budgeted $184.06
million.

3. Grants and subsidies from State Government 69,845 87,923 18,078
In 2013-14 the Housing Authority received additional funding for the
provision of: additional housing stock for people with a disability;
Kimberley Aboriginal Community Housing project and mental health
dwellings, which were not part of the original budget. 
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

54(b). COMPARISONS OF ACTUAL OPERATING RESULTS FOR 2013-14 WITH THOSE OF THE PRECEDING
YEAR

Details and reasons for significant variations between actual operating results for 2013-14 and the preceding year are
detailed below.  Significant variations are considered to be those greater/less than $10 million or 10% greater/less
than the actual amount for the preceding year.

Actual Actual Variation
2014 2013

1.  Revenues have varied by the following: $000 $000 $000

* Sales 432,757 336,808 95,949        
Sales increased by $95.95 million. This is due to a significant increase
in the sale of vacant land of  $129.65 million and an decrease in the sale
of House and Land packages of $33.70 million to the public of
Western Australia.

* Rental revenue 447,784 430,121 17,663        
Rental revenue increased by $17.66 million primarily due to an increase
of $11.4 million in rent revenue from Government Regional Officers
Housing properties. There was a reduction in rebates granted in public
housing properties of $6.07 million providing a corresponding increase in
rent collected. 

* Commonwealth grants and contributions 313,059 204,692 108,367      
Commonwealth grants and contributions have increased by $108.36
million. Funding under the National Partnership Agreement for remote
indigenous communities increased by $112.89 million. There was a 
decrease of $4.5 million funding from the Commonwealth in relation
 to Homelessness.

* Developers' contributions 9,514 5,536 3,978          
Developers' contributions increased by $3.97 million due to Community
Housing contributions to current construction projects diminishing by
$1.10 million and BHP contributing $5.00 million to keyworker projects.

* Other gains 86,357 70,336 16,021        
Other gains increased by $16.02 million. This is due to an increase in
dividend received from Keystart of $22.30 million offset by a decrease 
of $5.40m relating to GST refunds on land.

2. Expenses have varied by the following:

* Cost of sales 240,579 221,920 18,659        
Cost of sales increased by $18.70 million due to an decrease of
$27.43 million in the cost of House and Land packages sold and
$46.09 million on cost of land sold.
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THE  HOUSING AUTHORITY AND CONTROLLED ENTITIES

54(b). COMPARISONS OF ACTUAL OPERATING RESULTS FOR 2013-14 WITH THOSE OF THE PRECEDING
YEAR  (continued)

Actual Actual Variation
2014 2013
$000 $000 $000

* Rental expenses 384,968 360,800 24,168        
Rental expenses increased by $24.16 million mainly due to an increase
of $14.35 million in rental property improvements to preserve assets of
the Authority, an increase of $4.01 million in properties leased by
Government Regional Officers Housing and an increase in the Hardship
Efficiency program of $4.96 million.

* Community support expenses 191,521 250,721 (59,200)       
Community support expense was lower due to the 2014-2016 funding
bid undergoing protracted negotiations. Starting less contracts relating
to the 2014-2016 programs compared to the previous year.

* Employee Benefits expense 128,198 101,512 26,686        
Employee benefits expense is higher as a result of the 4.25% salary
increase effective 12 April 2013 under the Public Service and
Government Officers General Agreement and a progressive change in the 
business activities. Furthermore, several voluntary redundancy payments 
were made to eligible employees in 2013-14 based on existing provisions 
within the Public Sector Management Act for voluntary severance.

* Finance costs 149,132 162,797 (13,665)       
Finance costs decreased by $13.66 million due to a decrease in
borrowings from Western Australian Treasury Corporation for Keystart
home loans due to higher than expected discharge of loans and lower
approvals for Shared Start program.

* Accommodation expenses 13,185 11,643 1,542          
Accommodation expenses increased by $1.54 million due to the
provision of accommodation for increased staffing levels for the
Northgate Project and other areas of the Authority.

* Loss on disposal of non-current assets 17,947 8,323 9,624          
Loss on sale of non-current assets increased by $9.62 million
predominantly due to an increase in the value of rental properties
demolished.

* Other expenses 119,163 134,877 (15,714)       
Other expenses decreased by $15.71 million predominantly due to a
decrease in the transfer of properties to the Community Housing sector
under the Commonwealth Stimulus program by $19.22 million, offset by 
an increase in the provision of  professional services of $3.37 million.

3. Grants and subsidies from State Government have varied by the following:

* Grants and subsidies from the State Government State increased by 87,923 51,744 36,179        
$36.17 million mainly due to the Authority receiving additional funding for     
the provision of: additional housing stock for people with a disability;
Kimberley Aboriginal Community Housing project; and mental health 
dwellings. In 2012-13 the State reduced the Authority's appropriation by
$25 million in line with the refund from the Australian Tax Office for prior
year's GST payments.
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Key Performance Indicators

Certification of Key  
Performance Indicators
I hereby certify that the key performance indicators are based on 
proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to 
assess the Housing Authority’s performance, and fairly represent 
the performance of the Housing Authority and its subsidiary for 
the financial year ended 30 June 2014.

Grahame Searle
Chief Executive Officer
Accountable Authority
10 September 2014
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Key Performance Indicators

Outcome: Housing eligible  
Western Australians
The Authority primarily contributes to the following  
government goal:

 Goal 3: Results-Based Service Delivery–greater focus on 
achieving results in key service delivery areas for the benefit of 
all Western Australians.

The Authority seeks to enhance the quality of life and wellbeing 
of all people throughout Western Australia by satisfying the 
basic need for shelter. In the wider context, affordable, available 
and appropriate housing assists in contributing to positive social 
outcomes in health, education and employment. The Authority 
contributes to Goal 3 by providing housing through its rental 
housing, home finance and land activities for eligible Western 
Australians who may not otherwise be able to obtain housing. 
Through the provision of Government Regional Officers’ Housing, 
the Authority also provides government employees with suitable 
and appropriate housing in regional and remote areas to support 
the delivery of public services such as education and policing.

Eligibility for public rental housing and home loans is determined 
by assessable income limits and other eligibility criteria. The 
opportunity to purchase the Authority’s land, priced in the low 

to moderate price bracket, is available to all Western Australians. 
In addition, the Authority makes available loans to cover the cost 
of security bonds so that income-eligible applicants can access 
housing in the private rental market.

It is a key strategy of the Authority to ease the pressure on the 
waiting list for public housing by expanding the range and 
diversity of housing products and services for people on low 
to moderate incomes. Varying alternatives will provide new 
entry points for clients as well as new and evolving options that 
support their transition along the housing continuum as their 
circumstances improve, either through the purchase of a low to 
moderate priced housing lot or through a home loan.
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Effectiveness indicator 1

The extent to which the Housing Authority is responsive  
to the housing needs of eligible Western Australians

This indicator measures the Authority’s capacity to respond to expressed unmet housing demand. It is calculated as the ratio of the total number of units of 
housing assistance provided each year, to the number on the waiting list at 30 June of the previous year. The higher the ratio, the greater the assistances provided 
in relation to expressed unmet demand.

Housing assistances comprise: people housed from the waiting list into public housing or community housing options; bond assistance loans; new home loans; 
and land sales (lower quartile). The Authority’s public rental housing waiting list is used to represent total expressed unmet housing demand, as the other forms of 
housing assistance do not have a waiting list.

COMMENT ON PERFORMANCE:

The ratio (0.80) of housing assistances provided to demand was lower 
than the Target (0.87). A lower number of bond assistances compared to 
Target contributed to this result. During 2013-14, the private rental market 
experienced lower weekly rents and increased vacancy rates which eased 
some constraints experienced by low income households. While this 
resulted in an increased use of the bond assistance loan scheme, the trend 
did not present to the extent anticipated when setting the 2013-14 Target.

#1  For 2013-14 the total units of housing assistance comprise (2012-13 result indicated within brackets): 
number of people (applications) allocated from the waiting list into community housing options: 404 (515); 
number of new home loans approved: 3,974 (2,774); number of Housing Authority (including Joint Venture 
partner) land sales below $175,000a: 598 (663); number of new public rental occupations: 2,920 (2,868); 
number of bond assistance loans approved: 8,928 (7,757). 
a The benchmark cut-off for the lower end of the market ($175,000) lower quartile is derived from the Real 
Estate Institute of Western Australia’s Market Update Report (March Quarter 2014), which contains the final 
December Quarter 2013 lower quartile. The report provides the lower quartile for Western Australia (State) 
residential land sales.(2009-10=$161,000; 2010-11=$172,000; 2011-12=$168,000; 2012 13=$175,000). Excluded 
from the lower quartile lot sales are multiple sales to the same person; lots over 1,000 square metres; sales 
to companies or other government departments; internal transfers.
#2  The total number of applications recorded on the public rental waiting list varies over time as applicants’ 
eligibility changes. Applications may be withdrawn from the waiting list if applicants fail to meet ongoing 
eligibility requirements or re-instated if they are later considered eligible. The number of applications to 
calculate this indicator is based on the waiting list as at 30 June in the previous financial year.

Actual Target

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2013-14

Total housing assistances #1 22,378 16,555 13,796 14,577 16,824

Public rental waiting list at 
June previous financial year #2 21,728 24,136 23,411 22,871 21,121

Ratio 1.03 0.69 0.59 0.64 0.80 0.87

0.0

0.25

0.50

0.75

1.00

1.25

Ratio
2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Target

Ra
tio

Ratio of the number of units of housing assistance per annum  
to the number on the waiting list at the start of the reporting period
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Effectiveness indicator 2

Waiting times for accommodation – applicants housed

This indicator measures the Authority’s capacity to provide public rental housing to eligible applicants who are on the waiting list. Waiting times for 
accommodation measures the time between an applicant being listed on the waiting list and when they are housed. The greater the capacity to meet demand, 
the shorter the waiting time. The waiting time indicator includes properties that are head leased to community housing providers.

The graph below shows the waiting times of all applicants housed during the year in terms of average and median.

COMMENT ON PERFORMANCE:

The average wait time for accommodation (146 weeks) was higher than the Target (130 weeks).
The average and median waiting times for applicants housed was higher due to the Authority allocating housing to a larger percentage of applicants 
who had waited longer. Factors influencing the time an applicant may wait to be housed include the area in which housing is being sought, turnover of 
properties in the region, the type of accommodation required, the applicant’s place on the waiting list and whether they have a priority housing need.

Average

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13
93 113 131 132

72 91 111 98

2013-14
146

114

130
92

Target Average

Target Median

Median

W
ee

ks

40

80

120

160

#1 An increase in the allocation of housing to community housing providers  
(head leases) where the wait times are negligible has impacted upon the 
category for within one month.

The table below illustrates the distribution of wait times  
for applicants housed.

2009-10 
(%)

2010-11 
(%)

2011-12 
(%)

2012-13 
(%)

2013-14 
(%)

< 1 month #121.38 14.08 12.19 14.47 11.88

1-12 months 20.90 22.07 21.18 21.90 21.03

1-3 years 35.14 34.34 30.17 27.44 28.12

3-5 years 15.52 19.11 20.73 18.24 18.08

5+ years 7.07 10.40 15.73 17.96 20.89

Waiting times for accommodation - applicants housed  
average and median in weeks
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Actual Target

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 2013-14

Supply 4,944 5,099 5,213 5,235 5,054

Demand 5,227 5,332 5,439 5,554 5,308

Percentage of 
demand met

95% 96% 96% 94% 95% 95%

Supply and DemandPercentage of demand met

Effectiveness indicator 3

The extent to which the Government Regional Officers’ Housing is responsive to the provision of housing to meet the needs of eligible  
Western Australian government employees

This indicator measures the capacity to provide accommodation in response to requests from government departments. This is calculated as supply divided 
by demand and is presented as a percentage. Supply is represented by the number of properties allocated to departments at the end of the financial year. 
Demand is calculated by adding the number of properties allocated to departments to the number of unmet accommodation requests from departments at 
the end of the financial year.

COMMENT ON PERFORMANCE:

The percentage of demand met was on Target (95 per cent). The Authority met 95 per cent of requests in 2013-14 to provide government employees with 
appropriate housing in regional and remote areas to support the delivery of public services. In 2013-14, overall demand and supply was lower across all 
regions, in particular regional centres throughout the Goldfields, Midwest/Gascoyne and Pilbara.
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Efficiency indicators
The Authority provides four major services: rental housing,  
home loans, residential land, and Government Regional  
Officers’ Housing.

Service 1: Rental Housing

This service contributes to the Authority’s outcome by providing 
eligible Western Australians with:

 public rental housing and State-owned  
Indigenous public housing

 community housing managed properties: rental properties 
managed by not-for-profit housing companies, community 
organisations, housing associations, and local governments 
through the Authority’s joint venture and community housing 
and crisis accommodation programs

 rental housing for key workers in regional Western Australia

 properties for remote Indigenous communities.
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Efficiency indicator 1

Operating cost per rental property

The operating cost per rental property measures the cost 
efficiency of rental housing, and is calculated by dividing the 
total cost of the service (total expenses) by the total number of 
rental properties.

The total operating cost of the rental service consists of: 

 administration costs (employee benefits, supplies and  
services, and accommodation)

 finance costs 

 refurbishment of public housing in high density areas  
(New Living program)

 depreciation and amortisation

 rental expenses

 other expenses

 community support (includes the repair and maintenance 
of infrastructure, as well as power, water and wastewater in 
Indigenous communities and town reserves, which cannot 
be directly attributed to a property).

Expenses relating to community housing managed properties 
are borne by both the Authority and the community housing 
organisations.

Operating 
cost per rental 
property

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
$15,202

$15,419$14,766$14,670$12,539$12,505

2013-14 Target

$ 
D
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la

rs

7,500

10,000

12,500

15,000
17,500

Operating cost per rental property

COMMENT ON PERFORMANCE:

The operating cost per rental property ($15,419) was consistent with the Target 
($15,202). The Authority continues to provide more than 40,000 rental properties to 
eligible Western Australians.
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Service 2: Home Loans

This service contributes to the Authority’s outcome by providing 
home ownership schemes for eligible applicants. 

Efficiency indicator 2

Operating cost per current loan account

The cost per current loan account measures the cost efficiency 
in home ownership products and services. It is calculated by 
dividing the total cost of the service (total expenses) by the total 
number of loans (Keystart and other loan products).

The total operating cost of the home loans service consists of:

 administration costs (employee benefits, supplies and  
services, and accommodation)

 community support

 depreciation and amortisation

 rental expenses

 other expenses.

Keystart finance costs for loan advances to clients are excluded,  
as borrowing costs are incurred and borne by clients and 
therefore do not relate to the resources in approving and 
processing loan applications and managing loan accounts.

COMMENT ON PERFORMANCE:

The operating cost per current loan account ($1,972) was consistent with the Target 
($1,904). An increase in the number of active loans in 2013-14 contributed to the slight 
reduction in operating cost compared to the prior year.

Operating 
cost per current
loan account

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
$1,904

$1,972$2,078$1,845$1,575$1,330

2013-14 Target
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Operating cost per current loan account
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Service 3: Land

This service contributes to the Authority’s outcome by  
providing housing lots.

Efficiency indicator 3

Operating cost per lot developed

This indicator measures the efficiency of the land service. It is 
calculated by dividing the total cost of the service (total expenses) 
by the number of lots and dwelling unit equivalents developed. 
The number of lots is used for the land development programs 
of joint venture, urban development, and New Living. Number of 
dwelling unit equivalents is used for the urban redevelopment 
program rather than lots, as the intent of the program is to 
produce group and higher density housing instead of lots.

The total operating cost of the land service consists of:

 administration costs (employee benefits, supplies and  
services, and accommodation)

 depreciation and amortisation

 finance costs

 rental expenses

 other expenses.

COMMENT ON PERFORMANCE:

The operating cost per lot developed ($18,552) was lower than the Target ($19,548)  
in 2013-14 primarily due to lower than expected operating costs incurred  
during the year.

The result peaked in 2012-13 due to a number of projects not meeting their lot 
development completion targets, principally due to not receiving statutory clearances.

Operating 
cost per lot
developed

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
$19,548

$18,552$24,367$19,841$18,389$18,571

2013-14 Target
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Operating cost per lot developed
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Service 4: Government Regional  
Officers’ Housing

This service contributes to the Authority’s outcome by providing 
government employees with suitable and appropriate housing 
in regional and remote areas to support the delivery of public 
services such as education and policing. 

Efficiency indicator 4

Operating cost per property

This indicator measures the cost efficiency of providing 
Government Regional Officers’ Housing. It is calculated by 
dividing the total cost of the service (total expenses) by the total 
number of properties at the end of the year.

Operating 
cost per 
property

2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14
$32,927

$32,703$31,151$29,520$26,522$26,899

2013-14 Target
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Operating cost per property

COMMENT ON PERFORMANCE:

The operating cost per property ($32,703) was consistent with the Target ($32,927).
This service is operated on a cost neutral basis with costs being fully recouped from 
client agencies.
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Ministerial directives
No ministerial directives were received during 2013-14.

Other financial disclosures

Act of grace payments
As at 30 June 2014, there were no act of grace payments recorded.

Pricing policies – Rent
Rent charged to tenants is determined by the Authority and approved by 
the Minister for Housing under section 30(1) of the Housing Act 1980.

Public housing rents are determined based on households’ capacity to pay. 
Tenants who remain eligible for public housing are required to pay either 
25 per cent of assessable household income in rent or the notional market 
rent of the property, whichever is the lower amount. Market rents were set 
according to locality based indices determined by the Valuer General’s Office 
in 2013-14.

Eligible tenants who were in occupation before 12 July 1997 paid 23 per cent 
of their assessable household income in rent in accordance with the policies 
in place at that time; those who took occupation after that date pay 25 per 
cent. Since 1 October 2010, the Authority has been incrementally moving 
towards harmonisation in the setting of rents, and by October 2013 all 
tenants were paying the 25 per cent rate.

Some additional payments, such as Family Tax Benefit and child 
maintenance payments are assessed at lower rates and various payments  
for specific purposes are not assessed for rent.

Capital projects
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 903(13)(ii), the Authority identifies 
the capital works projects that remain ongoing at the end of the financial 
year (Table 11) and the projects completed during the year (Table 12). 
Explanations have been provided for variations for actual expenditure 
that differ by more than $2 million and 10 per cent greater/less than the 
estimated cost.
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Table 11: Summary of capital works projects in progress in 2013-14

Program Expected year  
of completion

Estimated cost to 
complete ($’000)

Estimated total cost  
of project ($’000)

Variance from previous 
financial year ($’000) Explanation

Social Housing Boost 2014-15 22,971 132,900 2,900  

Disability Services 2015-16 12,359 36,096 8,000 A further $8 million was provided by the Disability 
Services Commission to further this initiative.

Stimulus Stage 3 2018-19 52,748 56,158 - This project commenced in 2013-14.

Kimberley Housing Project Halls Creek 2014-15 5,293 5,436 - This is a new project which commenced in 2013-14.

Country Rental Stock Improvement 2015-16 4,964 7,500 - This is a new initiative which commenced in 2013-14.

Domestic Violence Accommodation 2014-15 2,000 2,000 - This is a new initiative which commenced in 2013-14.

Kimberley Housing Project Indigenous 
Prosperity 2016-17 32,881 33,000 -

Royalties for Regions - Indigenous  
Visitor Hostels 2014-15 1,741 11,658 (976)

Royalties for Regions - Housing for 
Workers Program 2017-18 177,866 355,500 (13,880)

Social Housing - Disability Services 2014-15 16,244 95,651 -

Social Housing – Mental Health  
Care Units 2015-16 5,985 12,800 -

Social Housing - Mental Health 
Commission 2014-15 5,105 57,985 -

Royalties for Regions Trainee/
Apprentice Hostel Program -  
South Hedland

2014-15 15,139 22,250 -

Notes: 
(1) The table includes all programs with defined funding sources. 
(2) Table 11 does not include ongoing programs that contain multiple projects without one specific completion date, which are internally funded based on Corporate Executive approved allocation of funding. 
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Program Total cost of 
project ($’000)

Variance from 
previous financial 

year ($’000)
Explanation

A Place to Call Home – Commonwealth 
Election Commitment 32,702 4,396

Osprey 21,000 500 This project was commenced and completed in 2013-14.

Affordable Housing - Onslow Housing 4,830 - 

Affordable Housing - Capital Formation 
Framework Phase 2 Modelling 500 - 

Affordable Housing - Hedland 125 House 
Service Worker Intervention 93,370 - 

Affordable Housing - Pelago Stage 2 30,414 -

Osprey Development 33,608 608 

Table 12: Summary of capital works projects completed in 2013-14
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Employment and industrial relations
Industrial relations

The Authority has a Joint Consultative Committee in place with 
the Civil Service Association which meets bi-monthly to address 
employment and industrial relations matters.

There have been no matters involving the Industrial Magistrates 
Court in 2013-14. Three applications have been lodged with 
the Western Australian Industrial Relations Commission – one 
with the Public Service Arbitrator (Arbitrator) and two with the 
Public Service Appeals Board (Board) under the provisions of the 
Industrial Relations Act 1979. 

One matter lodged in 2012-13 with the Western Australian 
Industrial Relations Commission – Public Service Arbitrator 
(Arbitrator) remains active which the Department of Commerce, 
Labour Relations Division is now the respondent for. A notice 
of discontinuance by the claimant for the Authority is pending 
in relation to that matter. The matter before the Arbitrator has 
been discontinued. One matter before the Board was dismissed 
and one matter remains active and is scheduled for a hearing in 
August 2014.

One application has been lodged with the Equal Opportunity 
Commission under the provision of the Equal Opportunity Act 
1984. That matter has been conciliated and there is no further 
action in that jurisdiction.

Recruitment

The Authority has continued to develop strategies around more 
flexible and efficient recruitment processes as provided for in 
the Public Sector Commissioner’s Instructions for filling a public 
sector vacancy.

The Authority has continued to recruit key staff to support the 
implementation of the State Government’s Affordable Housing 
Strategy. There has been a focus on more flexible recruitment 
options in the Authority’s regional areas which has included the 
establishment of casual pools, open ended appointment pools 
and generic broad band recruitment processes.

The Authority is committed to Aboriginal recruitment which 
is managed as part of the Authority’s Aboriginal Employment 
Strategy and Aboriginal Traineeship Program which is run on an 
annual basis.
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2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Permanent full time 954.3 1,067.1 1,129.7

Permanent part time 75.3 116.2 87.7

Contract full time and part time 259.5 317.2 338.4

Seconded in 5.0 8.8 12.0

Seconded out 7.8 2.0 6.0

Total Full Time Equivalents 1,301.9 1,511.3 1,573.8

Table 13: Authority’s employment profile from 2011-12 to 2013-14

Governance disclosures 

Subsidiaries
The Housing Authority is the instigator of the Keystart Housing 
Scheme and has effective control over the whole structure either 
directly or indirectly through various agreements which constitute 
the structure and to which it is a party. The Board of Directors of 
the Keystart group of companies comprise one Director from the 
Authority and seven directors from the private sector. 

The Authority is a shareholder in Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd 
and comprises two directors from the Authority and one from the 
private sector. 

 
 
 

The ownership interest held by the Authority in the companies  
is as follows: 

 Keystart Bonds Ltd: 100 per cent of the total shareholding

 Keystart Loans Ltd: 100  per cent of the total shareholding

 Keystart Support Pty Ltd: 100  per cent of the total 
shareholding

 Keystart Support (Subsidiary) Pty Ltd: 100  per cent of the total 
shareholding

 Keystart Scheme Management Pty Ltd: 100  per cent owned 
by Keystart Loans Ltd

 Goldmaster Enterprises Pty Ltd: 54.5 per cent owned by the 
Housing Authority. 

Staffing levels
The Authority’s full time equivalent staffing levels are detailed in Table 13.
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Director’s indemnity insurance
In 2013-14, the Authority has paid insurance premiums in respect 
of the Housing Authority’s directors’ and officers’ liability and 
legal expenses for current and former directors and officers, 
including executive officers, of the Authority. 

The insurance contracts cover:

 costs and expenses incurred by the relevant officers in 
defending proceedings, whether civil or criminal and 
whatever their outcome; and

 other liabilities that may arise from their position, with the 
exception of conduct involving a wilful breach of duty or 
improper use of information or position to gain a personal 
advantage.

Litigation in progress
The value of legal actions and claims against the Authority 
involving asbestos related illnesses is estimated at $320,000. 
Liability is being denied in each matter and the proceedings 
defended. 

In addition, legal proceedings and claims against the Authority 
that do not involve asbestos related illnesses are valued at 
approximately $80,000. 

Insurance
In accordance with Treasurer’s Instruction 812, the Authority 
maintains an appropriate level of insurance cover for  
insurable risks. 

Effective from 1 July 2004, the Authority has adopted a 
policy of not insuring its residential property assets as it is 
considered uneconomical. As part of the Authority’s ongoing 
risk management processes, a comprehensive review of the 
Authority’s policy of not insuring its residential property was 
completed during 2012. The Authority’s residential property 
assets continue to remain not insured as it is considered 
uneconomical. The Authority monitors trends in the insurance 
market and reviews the economic viability of insuring its 
residential property assets.  

The Authority’s other insurance programs are a combination of 
insurance policies provided by commercial insurance providers 
and the State Government’s RiskCover fund.  

As per Treasurer’s Instruction 825, insurance is complemented 
by a comprehensive approach to risk management and prudent 
management policies and practices.

Contracts with senior officers
In accordance with the Treasurer’s Instruction 903 (14(iii)), senior 
officers of the Authority are required to disclose particulars, other 
than normal contracts of employment of service, of any interest 
in any existing or proposed contract which a senior officer; or a 
firm of which a senior officer is a member; or an entity in which 
a senior officer has a substantial financial interest, has made with 
the agency or any subsidiary body, related body or affiliated 
body of the agency.

At the date of reporting, no senior officers had declared any 
interests in existing or proposed contracts with the Authority 
other than normal contracts of employment of service.
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Other legal requirements 

Advertising
In accordance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the 
Authority incurred expenditure in advertising, direct mail and 
media advertising. Total expenditure for 2013-14 was $566,137. 
Expenditure incurred by, or on behalf of, the Authority is  
outlined in Table 14.

Disability access and inclusion  
plan outcomes
The Authority is committed to ensuring its functions, facilities, 
services and employment opportunities are accessible and 
inclusive for people with disability, their families and carers. 
The Disability Services Act 1993 requires that Public Authorities 
develop and implement a Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 
detailing the overarching strategies that will be undertaken by 
the Authority in support of the access and inclusion outcomes 
specified by the Disability Services Commission. 

In 2013-14, the Authority updated its Disability Access and 
Inclusion Plan 2013-2017 to include a new outcome committing 
to provide people with disability with the same opportunities 
as other people to obtain and maintain employment with the 
Authority. In developing strategies to address outcome seven, 
the Authority advertised for public consultation and feedback as 
required by the Disability Services Act 1993. The updated Disability 
Access and Inclusion Plan was lodged with the Disability Services 
Commission in January 2014 and deemed compliant with the 
requirements of the Act. 

Category Amount

Advertising Agencies $68,354

Vinten Browning $68,354

Market Research Organisations $0

Polling Organisations $0

Direct Mail Organisations $2,294

Fuji Xerox Business Force $2,294

Media Advertising Agencies $495,489

Adcorp $65,748

OMD – Optimum Media Decisions $429,741

Table 14: Advertising expenditure for 2013-14
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In 2013-14, the Authority undertook the following initiatives to 
deliver access and inclusion outcomes for its employees and 
customers:

Outcome 1:  
People with disability have the same opportunities as other 
people to access the services of, and any events organised 
by, the Authority.

 Established a Disability Access and Inclusion Internal  
Working Group;

 Trialled different types of disability awareness training for  
staff to determine the most effective method; and

 Developed a register of disability access and inclusion 
stakeholders.

Outcome 2:  
People with disability have the same opportunities as other 
people to access the buildings and other facilities of the 
Authority.

 Completed a review of office accommodation to identify 
disability access issues; and

 Completed a disability upgrade of the Carnarvon Office.

Outcome 3:  
People with disability receive information from the 
Authority in a format that will enable them to access the 
information as readily as other people are able to access it. 

 Uploaded the updated Disability Access and Inclusion Plan to 
the Authority’s website; and

 Provided “Better Hearing” desk cards to be displayed  
at all offices.

Outcome 4:  
People with disability receive the same level and  
quality of service from the staff of the Authority as  
other people receive. 

 Promoted National Relay Service information on service 
delivery brochures and sourced information for display in 
offices; 

 Provided information in alternative formats upon request to 
improve community awareness of products and services; and

 Raised awareness amongst employees of the Authority’s 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan and events such as 
Disability Awareness Week through internal promotion.

Outcome 5:  
People with disability have the same opportunity as other 
people to make a complaint to the Authority. 

 Maintained a feedback page on the Authority’s website; and

 Commenced a review of the complaints management and 
feedback process to identify accessibility issues.

Outcome 6:  
People with disability have the same opportunities  
as other people to participate in any public consultation  
by the Authority. 

 Reviewed the Community Disability Housing Program 
incorporating feedback from people with disability; and

 Sought feedback from people with disability through the 
National Social Housing Survey.
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Outcome 7:  
People with disability have the same opportunities as  
other people to obtain and maintain employment  
within the Authority. 

 Ensured that the Authority’s online training registration 
system has the ability to record special requirements for 
employees attending training programs. Adjustments, such as 
engaging AUSLAN interpreters, were made as appropriate;

 Disability Awareness training pilots were run with the intent to 
roll-out to all employees over the next twelve months;

 The Learning Management System was updated and 
confirmed as WCAG 2.0 (Level AA) compliant;

 Encouraged employees to celebrate Disability Awareness 
Week through internal news articles; and

 Included equity and diversity information in recruitment and 
selection training conducted for panel members involved in 
pilot recruitment programs.

Recordkeeping Plan
The Authority complies with the State Records Act 2000 and is 
committed to the principles and standards provided by the  
State Records Commission.

The Authority’s Recordkeeping Plan was reviewed during  
the 2013-14 year and the outcomes submitted to the State  
Records Office.
The Authority’s recordkeeping includes a focus on staff 
training of record keeping requirements. All new employees 
are enrolled for the training within a month of commencing. 
Existing employees are enrolled in all new modules as they are 
implemented. 

The outcomes of the Authority’s Recordkeeping and information 
management training suite for this period are detailed in Table 15.

Course Completions In progress Total

Recordkeeping awareness training 72 5 77

Recordkeeping awareness  
refresher training 39 8 47

TRIM Essentials 66 4 70

Housekeeping (Record keeping  
in the Housing Authority) 35 4 39

Table 15: Outcomes for Recordkeeping course completions
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Compliance with public sector  
standards and ethical codes
In accordance with section 31 (1) of the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994, the Authority complied with the Public Sector Standards 
and the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics. Policies 
and procedures designed to ensure such compliance (including the 
Authority’s Code of Conduct) were in place and appropriate internal 
assessments were conducted. 

Activities undertaken by the Authority relating to ensuring compliance 
with Public Sector Standards, the Western Australian Public Sector 
Code of Ethics and the Housing Authority’s Code of Conduct in  
2013-14 included:

 Reviewed and updated the Authority’s Code of Conduct to fully 
comply with and exceed the requirements of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994 and Commissioner’s Instruction No.8 –  
Codes of Conduct and integrity training.

 Provided information and training on the Authority’s Code of 
Conduct and the Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics to 
new employees as part of the induction program.

 Affirmed employees’ understanding of the Authority’s Code 
of Conduct and related legislation and policies through high 
participation in the online Accountable and Ethical Decision  
Making training, achieving a 97 per cent completion rate  
(as at 30 June 2014).

 Developed and implemented an Integrity Framework, a suite 
of policies and business practice guides to assist officers to act 
with integrity. The framework addresses conflicts of interest, gifts, 
benefits and hospitality offers, provision of hospitality, secondary 
employment, the employment of relatives, friends and close 
associates and reporting misconduct including via Public Interest 
Disclosures. The framework was communicated to employees 
via regional and metropolitan information sessions and through 
the publication of policies and business practice guides on the 
Authority’s intranet site.

Details of breaches lodged during 2013-14 are as follows:

 four breach claims related to the Employment Standard. One matter 
was withdrawn, one matter was resolved internally and two matters 
were progressed to the Public Sector Commission for review with 
no breach claims upheld; and

 one breach of claim against the grievance standard that was 
referred to the Public Sector Commission for review and the  
claim was not upheld. 
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Government policy requirements
Occupational safety, health and injury management 

The Authority recognises that the health and safety of its 
employees is of prime importance in all aspects of its planning 
and operations. Additionally management recognises the 
Authority’s duty to provide adequate information, training 
and supervision to assist in the provision of a safe working 
environment.

In the event of a workplace injury the Authority ensures that 
injury management is implemented in accordance with 
the requirements of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury 
Management Act 1981 and the Code of Practice: Occupational 
Safety and Health in the Western Australian Public Sector. The 
Authority has an Injury Management System which is compliant 
with the requirements of the Act and the Code of Practice.

The Authority’s Health and Safety Policies and Procedures are 
available to employees on the Health and Safety page of the 
Authority’s intranet site. This function continues to be a priority 
within the Authority. 

A Worksafe Plan audit of the Authority’s occupational safety 
and health management system was completed in 2011. An 
independent audit of the Authority’s systems is scheduled to 
commence during 2014-15. 

The Authority continues its commitment to occupational safety 
and health, which included progression of the Service Delivery 
frontline safety project during the year to review and develop risk 
management strategies to improve employees safety. 

Tailored occupational safety and health training for managers 
with end of line supervisory responsibility with emphasis on 
statutory requirements was also finalised during the year.

The Authority’s Health and Wellness Program continues to deliver 
positive outcomes for employees and all officers continue to 
have access to the Employee Assistance Program at no cost.

CONSULTATION MECHANISMS

Management and employees are committed to effective 
workplace consultation, with the opportunity for employees to 
fully participate in any decisions which impact on their working 
life and environment.

The Authority has elected occupational safety and health 
Representatives and Committees in all locations. The Authority’s 
well established Occupational Safety and Health Policy 
Committee consists of a senior management representative, 
management representatives and health and safety 
representatives. The committee meets on a quarterly basis and 
provides an appropriate forum for the discussion and resolution 
of high level policy issues and reviews occupational safety and 
health incidents, policy and business procedures. The committee 
is underpinned by an extensive network of local Occupational 
Safety and Health Committees, which represent each regional 
office location across the State. The Authority’s Corporate 
Executive, managers and employees are committed to an 
objective of continuous improvement in the quality of workplace 
occupational health and safety.
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WORKERS’ COMPENSATION AND INJURY MANAGEMENT

The Authority provides vocational rehabilitation support, including return to 
work plans for all injured employees, in accordance with the requirements 
of the Workers’ Compensation and Injury Management Act 1981. Twenty five 
claims were received in 2013-14. The Authority’s performance is presented  
in Table 16.

Table 16: Occupational safety, health and injury management performance.

Measure Actual results Results against target

2011-12 2012-13 2013-14 Target Comment on result

Number of fatalities 0 0 0 0 Target achieved

Lost time injury and/or disease 
incidence rate 0.48 0.92 0.89 0

The target was not achieved due to an increase 
in the number of verbal and physical assaults to 
frontline staff. It is noted that there is a marginal 
improvement on the previous reporting period.

Lost time injury and/or disease 
severity rate 0.16 0.07 0.21

Zero or 10% 
improvement on 
previous 3 years

The target was not achieved. The total number of 
lost time injuries has remained the same however 
there was an increase in lost time, due to an increase 
in work-related stress claims.

Percentage of injured workers 
return to work within 

Greater than 80% 
return to work 

within 26 weeks

The target was not achieved as there was 
an increase in the number of complex injury 
management cases which have resulted in 
absences in excess of 26 weeks from the workplace. 

13 weeks 100% 50% 50%

26 weeks 100% 78% 50%

Percentage of managers trained 
in occupational safety and health 
and injury management

78% 71% 90% Greater than or 
equal to 80%

The target was exceeded with the balance of 
training completed during the year.
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Substantive equality

The Authority is committed to ensuring that substantive equality 
principles are reflected appropriately in its policies, procedures 
and practices in accordance with the State Government’s Policy 
Framework for Substantive Equality. The Policy Framework 
aims to achieve substantive equality in the Western Australian 
public sector by eliminating systemic racial discrimination in the 
provision of public sector services and promoting sensitivity to 
the different needs of client groups. 

The Authority has established a Substantive Equality Committee 
to provide advice on the implementation of the Policy 
Framework for Substantive Equality and this year commenced 
development of an updated internal action plan to support the 
integration of substantive equality principles into all business 
practices. 

The Authority has implemented most of the recommendations 
contained within the final report of the Implementation and 
Monitoring Committee for the Equal Opportunity Commission 
Inquiry into the Existence of Discriminatory Practices in Relation 
to the Provision of Public Housing and Related Services to 
Aboriginal People in Western Australia and is on track to 
complete the remaining recommendations in the coming year.

Audit

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is a five member committee comprised 
of members of the Corporate Executive. The Committee was 
established to assist the Accountable Authority (the Chief 
Executive Officer) to discharge his responsibilities under section 
53 of the Financial Management Act 2006.

The Committee met five times during 2013-14.

INTERNAL AUDIT

In accordance with the requirements of the Financial 
Management Act 2006, the Management Review and Audit 
Branch operates as an independent appraisal unit within  
the Authority.

In addition to the internal audit services, there is also scope for 
the branch to undertake management reviews as permitted 
under this Act. This has broadened the focus of internal audit 
to include strategic and operational risks as well as business 
improvement.

Comprehensive audit plans that address core business activities 
and key strategic business risks are developed annually and 
contribute to the Authority’s control framework. The audit 
function helps the Authority promote mechanisms that 
encourage a culture that is conscious of risk, control and process; 
assists the Authority in its drive for business improvement and 
the achievement of its objectives; and assesses enabling systems 
and technology.
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The approved audit plan for the 2013-14 financial year 
encompassed 13 reviews addressing corporate governance, 
operational, compliance, financial, information systems, probity 
and risk assessments.

DELEGATION OF AUTHORITY

Authority to undertake transactions under the Housing Act 1980, 
is conferred on the Accountable Authority (the Chief Executive 
Officer) or the Minister for Housing in most circumstances.

Section 13 of the Act, however, allows the Accountable Authority 
to delegate any of its powers or functions under the Act. 
Through delegation, the Chief Executive Officer does not need 
to be approached for approval of many essentially administrative 
matters associated with day-to-day operations and activities.

A delegation framework and a comprehensive register exist to 
record formal delegations that empower officers to approve and 
negotiate matters on behalf of the Authority.

Risk management

The Chief Executive Officer is accountable for ensuring that the 
Authority appropriately identifies and manages its risk and is 
supported in this by the Corporate Executive group.  

The Authority has in place a risk management framework
consisting of a risk management policy, the risk management 
committee, the risk appetite in the form of risk reference tables, a risk 
management implementation plan and the corporate risk register.

The Risk Management Committee (Committee) consisting of 
senior management representatives provides oversight of the 
risk management process and works to ensure that appropriate 
risk identification and risk mitigation processes are in place across 

all Divisions. The Committee is also responsible for regularly 
reviewing, monitoring and where appropriate, providing  
advice to the Corporate Executive regarding significant risks  
to the Authority. 

In accordance with the Committee’s oversight role it reviewed 
quarterly corporate risk register reports. Risks that were 
considered to represent major risk exposures, along with the 
actions taken in relation to them, were submitted for information 
to the Corporate Executive. 

During 2013-14 the Authority implemented an updated 
risk management policy.  This update formalised the risk 
management process to be used in the Authority, a process that 
is in accordance with State Government guidelines and aligns 
with Australian and New Zealand Standard ISO 31,000:2009 and 
addresses risk management at the strategic, operational and 
project levels.

During 2013-14 the Authority’s Corporate Executive addressed 
identified strategic risks by assessing current controls, 
implementing treatment actions as required and carrying out 
regular reviews of progress to implement agreed action plans.  
Business unit managers carried out a comprehensive operational 
risk review, which identified current risks, controls and  
treatment actions and will provide the basis for improved 
ongoing risk monitoring.  

Risk assessments continue to be undertaken on a range of 
Corporate and business unit projects, in order to identify controls, 
future treatment actions and ensure project  
objectives/deliverables are achieved.
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Business continuity planning

In accordance with Public Sector Commissioner’s Circular 2009-
19, and the Authority’s Business Continuity Policy, business 
continuity plans for the network of agency regional and area 
offices were updated to reflect amended employees lists and 
current contact details. 

For the summer of 2013-14, the Authority undertook preparatory 
actions in accordance with its responsibilities as a support 
agency under the State Government WESTPLAN – Heatwave.  
These actions included a targeted mail out to over 9500 tenants 
of heatwave health information and relevant contact numbers, 
a heatwave awareness article in the December 2013 tenant 
newsletter and heatwave health information posted on the 
Authority’s external website. The heatwave plan was activated  
by the Department of Health to the ‘Standby phase’ during 
January 2014.

The Authority maintained participative representation on both 
the Recovery and Community Engagement sub committees of 
the State Emergency Management Committee.

The Authority’s Corporate Executive approved the internal 
cyclone response plan in preparation for responding to future 
cyclone events.

Crisis management resources remain in place for use as and 
when required at the Authority’s head office and the alternate 
metropolitan venue. 
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Appendices
This section contains the glossary, housing 
statistics and regional office contact details.
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Appendix 1: Glossary
CBD  Central Business District

NAIDOC  National Aborigines and Islanders Day Observance Committee

NPAH  National Partnership Agreement on Homelessness

NPARIH  National Partnership Agreement on Remote Indigenous Housing 

NRAS  National Rental Affordability Scheme

RAESP  Remote Area Essential Services Program
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Rental waiting list by customer type 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Family 12,176 11,710 11,359 10,198 9,174

Senior single 3,277 3,006 2,841 2,757 2,764

Senior couple 828 642 508 429 382

Singles 7,855 8,053 8,163 7,737 7,693

TOTAL 24,136 23,411 22,871 21,121 20,013

Rental waiting list by bedroom entitlement 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

2 Bedroom family 6,125 5,886 5,825 5,170 4,677

3 Bedroom family 4,270 4,048 3,821 3,405 3,123

4 Bedroom family 1,386 1,384 1,359 1,294 1,072

5+ Bedroom family 395 392 354 329 302

Senior single 3,277 3,006 2,841 2,757 2,764

Senior couple 828 642 508 429 382

Singles 7,855 8,053 8,163 7,737 7,693

TOTAL 24,136 23,411 22,871 21,121 20,013

Table 17: Public housing rental statistics 2009-10 to 2013-14(1)

Appendix 2: Housing statistics
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Table 17: Public housing rental statistics 2009-10 to 2013-14(1) cont.

New tenancies by customer type 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Family 1,861 1,960 1,748 1,518 1,656

Senior single 512 521 567 543 493

Senior couple 345 329 169 174 168

Single 407 507 675 633 603

TOTAL 3,125 3,317 3,159 2,868 2,920

Tenant income sources 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Age Pension 24.0% 23.9% 25.2% 25.2% 24.7%

Disability Support Pension 22.6% 23.2% 24.9% 24.8% 24.4%

Parenting Payment Single 11.4% 9.2% 11.8% 9.9% 9.3%

Newstart Allowance 7.9% 7.1% 8.6% 10.6% 12.0%

Veteran Services 1.3% 1.2% 1.2% 1.0% 1.0%

Low Wage Income 5.7% 6.4% 6.5% 6.1% 5.5%

Other 6.1% 9.8% 6.6% 6.3% 6.3%

Full Rent and Concessions 21.0% 19.2% 15.2% 16.1% 16.8%

200

STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE OVERVIEW APPENDICESAGENCY 

PERFORMANCE

SIGNIFICANT 
ISSUES IMPACTING 
THE AUTHORITY

DISCLOSURES 
AND LEGAL 
COMPLIANCE

CONTENTS APPENDICESOVERVIEW



Table 17: Public housing rental statistics 2009-10 to 2013-14(1) cont.

Notes: 
(1) All stock numbers relate to public housing dwellings only.  
(2) Medium/high density: Townhouses, flats and apartments. 

Rental stock by dwelling type 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

House 12,281 12,314 12,193 13,827 13,701

Duplex 4,562 4,629 4,639 4,592 4,581

Medium-high density(2) 19,107 19,596 19,917 18,295 18,386

TOTAL 35,950 36,539 36,749 36,714 36,668

Rental stock by bedroom number 2009-10 2010-11 2011-12 2012-13 2013-14

Bedsitter 175 130 119 82 78

1 bedroom 8,342 8,518 8,654 8,771 8,825

2 bedroom 10,823 11,198 11,304 11,332 11,361

3 bedroom 13,074 13,077 13,023 12,875 12,730

4 bedroom 2,927 2,966 2,979 2,975 2,976

5+ bedroom 609 650 670 679 698

TOTAL 35,950 36,539 36,749 36,714 36,668
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Commenced Completed Expenditure ($’000)

Construction and Spot Purchase

Public rental housing

General rental 198 284

Community Housing General 22 105

Community Disability Housing Program 66 97

Joint venture 0 108

House and land for sale 36 11

Total 322 605 $138,237

Aboriginal housing

Aboriginal housing – communities 91 125 $57,346

Total 91 125 $57,346

Community housing

Community Housing Program 3 8 $1,306

Crisis Accommodation Program 18 9 $4,842

State Community Housing Investment Program 0 0 -$1,134

Total 21 17 $5,014

Affordable housing

Affordable housing 512 339 $69,715

Total 512 339 $69,715

Workers housing

Government Regional Officers’ Housing 51 118 $68,306

Key Worker housing 38 434 $70,775

Total 89 552 $139,081

TOTAL 1,035 1,638 $409,393

Table 18: Construction, spot purchases and refurbishments
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Commenced Completed Expenditure ($’000)

Refurbishment

New Living (retained properties)

Refurbishments 207 183 $17,905

Total 207 183 $17,905

Aboriginal housing

Aboriginal housing - communities refurbishments 167 267 $34,543

Indigenous community housing organisations refurbishments 16 27 $3,708

Total 183 294 $38,251

Community housing

Community Housing Program 1 1 $80

Crisis Accommodation Program 1 0 $327

State Community Housing Investment Program 0 0 $173

Total 2 1 $579

TOTAL 392 478 $56,735

GRAND TOTAL 1,427 2,116 $466,128

Notes:  
1. Construction and Spot Purchase Expenditure includes capitalised administration costs for applicable programs. 
2. Community Housing General includes units transferred or earmarked for transfer to community housing organisations. Some units originally 
designated as General Rental in previous years’ Annual reports, can change to Community Housing General, as the specific use is finalised.  
The distribution between General Rental and Community Housing General is subject to possible further changes.
3. Aboriginal housing communities construction includes units in Aboriginal communities as well as units for Employment Related 
Accommodation and Visitors Centres (includes caretaker quarters for the Visitors Centre).
4. Aboriginal housing communities refurbishments includes units in Aboriginal communities as well as units for Visitors Centres. 
5. Expenditure on Aboriginal communities refurbishments includes other works.
6. Expenditure on Indigenous community housing organisations refurbishments includes other upgrade works.
7. Community Housing Program and Crisis Accommodation Program refurbishments include other upgrade and maintenance works.
8. Figures include activity from all funding sources including Commonwealth and State Stimulus packages.
9. Construction and spot purchase commencement and completion figures include units that have been transferred between programs.
10. Figures include capitalised and non-capitalised expenditure.
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Community housing accommodation options Total units

Crisis accommodation program 
Residential premises for people in housing crisis such as refuges, night shelters and emergency accommodation for transitional housing 629

State community housing investment program
Long term housing aimed at attracting equity contributions from community housing organisations to meet the housing  
needs of people on the Authority’s public rental waiting list

892

Joint venture housing investment program
Enables organisations that have resources to contribute to the development of rental accommodation  
with the Authority to provide options for people on low incomes

2,057

Lease for Life joint ventures
In a resident funded joint venture, organisations and the Authority pool their resources to provide low income housing to  
seniors in Western Australia. Eligible applicants are able to purchase a lease for life under this option

156

Community housing program (1)

Community managed rental housing for people on low to moderate incomes
1,235

Community disability housing program 
Community managed rental housing for people with disability and people with mental health issues

1,931

Public Housing Leasing Program 
Public housing stock managed through community housing growth providers 448

Asset transfer 
The transfers of property titles and grant funded units to community housing organisations for the purpose of building capacity within the community housing sector

1,721

Growth Program 
Growth is a new category of additional properties delivered into the social and affordable housing sector by community housing organisations  
leveraging loan and surplus funds from assets leased or transferred from the Authority.

151

TOTAL 9,220

Note: 
(1) Community housing program numbers comprises 1,103 Community disability housing program properties,  
34 community housing general properties and 98 lodging housing accommodation properties.

Table 19: Summary of community housing accommodation options for 2013-14
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Appendix 3: Our offices 
Head Office 
99 Plain Street 
East Perth 6004 
Tel: (08) 9222 4666 
Toll free: 1800 093 325

Metropolitan offices 
North Metropolitan 
Mirrabooka 
8 Sudbury Road 
Mirrabooka 6061 
Tel: (08) 9345 9655

City Office 
605 Wellington Street 
Perth 6000 
Tel: (08) 9476 2444

Joondalup 
Unit 4/7 Wise Street 
(Corner of Collier Pass and 
Wise Street) 
Joondalup 6027 
Tel: (08) 9404 3300

Midland 
21 Old Great Northern 
Highway 
Midland 6056 
Tel: (08) 9250 9191

 
 
 
 
 

South Metropolitan 
Fremantle 
42 Queen Street 
Fremantle 6160 
Tel: (08) 9432 5300

Kwinana 
Unit 1/2 Stidworthy Way 
Kwinana 6167 
Tel: (08) 9411 9500

Mandurah 
11 Pinjarra Road 
Mandurah 6210 
Tel: (08) 9583 6100

South East Metropolitan 
Cannington 
17 Manning Road 
Cannington 6107 
Tel: (08) 9350 3244

Armadale 
Shop 2a, Armadale Shopping 
Centre 
Jull Street (Cnr Third Road) 
Armadale 6112 
Tel: (08) 9391 1600

Victoria Park 
269 Albany Highway 
Victoria Park 6100 
Tel: (08) 9350 3700

 
 

Great Southern 
Albany 
131 Aberdeen Street 
Albany 6330 
Tel: (08) 9845 7144

Katanning 
6 Daping Street 
Katanning 6317 
Tel: (08) 9891 1800

South West 
Bunbury 
22 Forrest Avenue 
Bunbury 6230 
Tel: (08) 9792 2111

Busselton 
Suite 1A, 9 Harris Road 
Busselton 6280 
Tel: (08) 9781 1300

Manjimup 
Unit 10, 30-32 Rose Street 
Manjimup 6258 
Tel: (08) 9771 7800A

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Goldfields 
Kalgoorlie 
Unit 1-2, 84-96 Brookman 
Street 
Kalgoorlie 6430 
Tel: (08) 9093 5200

Esperance 
Balmoral Square 
The Esplanade 
Esperance 6450 
Tel: (08) 9072 3000

Mid West 
Geraldton 
Union Bank Building 
201 Marine Terrace 
Geraldton 6530 
Tel: (08) 9923 4444

Carnarvon 
30 Robinson Street 
Carnarvon 6701 
Tel: (08) 9941 6500

Meekatharra 
Main Street 
Meekatharra 6642 
Tel: (08) 9956 5000

 
 
 
 
 
 

Pilbara 
South Hedland 
Cnr Brand and Tonkin Streets 
South Hedland 6722 
Tel: (08) 9160 2800

Karratha 
3-5 Welcome Road 
Karratha 6714 
Tel: (08) 9159 1700

East Kimberley 
Kununurra 
16 Coolibah Drive 
Kununurra 6743 
Tel: (08) 9166 5100

Halls Creek 
Lot 72 and 73 
Great Northern Highway 
Halls Creek 6770 
Tel: (08) 9168 9300

West Kimberley 
Broome 
Frederick Street 
Broome 6725 
Tel: (08) 9158 3600

Derby 
16-22 Loch Street 
Derby 6728 
Tel: (08) 9158 4000
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Wheatbelt 
Northam 
McIver House 
297 Fitzgerald Street 
Northam 6401 
Tel: (08) 9690 1900

Merredin 
25 Mitchell Street 
Merredin 6415 
Tel: (08) 9081 3800

Narrogin 
Government Building 
11 Park Street 
Narrogin 6312 
Tel: (08) 9881 9400

Government Regional  
Officers’ Housing  
Central Office 
203 Nicholson Road 
Shenton Park 6008 
Tel: (08) 9286 6000 
Toll Free: 1800 644 708 
Kalgoorlie 
Units 1 & 2 Brookman Mews 80-94 
Brookman Street  
Kalgoorlie 6430 
Tel: (08) 9093 5200

Karratha 
3-5 Welcome Road 
Karratha 6714 
Tel: (08) 9144 4213

South Hedland 
Cnr Brand and Tonkin Streets 
South Hedland 6722 
Tel: (08) 9160 2800

Keystart/Country  
Housing Authority 
2 Brook Street 
East Perth 6892 
Toll Free (metro): 1300 578 278 
Toll Free (country): 1800 158 200 
Website:  www.keystart.com.au 
Email:  info@keystart.com.au
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www.keystart.com.au
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Housing Authority

HOUSING AUTHORITY 
ANNUAL REPORT 2013-14
Copies of this document are available in alternative  
formats upon request.
99 Plain Street, East Perth WA 6004 
T. 08 9222 4666 
TTY. 08 9476 2446 
E. ask@housing.wa.gov.au

www.housing.wa.gov.au
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